EFFECTIVENESS OF THE MULTIDIMENSIONAL ERGONOMIC INTERVENTION (MEI) MODEL TO REDUCE MUSCULOSKELETAL DISCOMFORT AMONG STREET SWEEPERS

Mrs. Kanjanar Pintakham

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุหาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy Program in Public Health College of Public Health Sciences Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2014 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

ประสิทธิผลของรูปแบบการยศาสตร์แบบพหุมิติเพื่อลดความปวดเมื่อยล้าของกล้ามเนื้อและกระดูก ในพนักงานกวาดถนน

นางกาญจนา ปินตาคำ

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาสาธารณสุขศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาสาธารณสุขศาสตร์ วิทยาลัยวิทยาศาสตร์สาธารณสุข จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2557 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	EFFECTIVENESS OF THE MULTIDIMENSIONAL
	ERGONOMIC INTERVENTION (MEI) MODEL TO
	REDUCE MUSCULOSKELETAL DISCOMFORT
	AMONG STREET SWEEPERS
Ву	Mrs. Kanjanar Pintakham
Field of Study	Public Health
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor Wattasit Siriwong, Ph.D.

Accepted by the College of Public Health Sciences, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Doctoral Degree

_____Dean of the College of Public Health Sciences

(Associate Professor Sathirakorn Pongpanich, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

Chairman

(Professor Surasak Taneepanichskul, M.D.)

(Associate Professor Wattasit Siriwong, Ph.D.)

Examiner

(Associate Professor Ratana Somrongthong, Ph.D.)

_____Examiner

(Assistant Professor Khemika Yamarat, Ph.D.)

External Examiner

(Wanpen Songkham, Ph.D.)

กาญจนา ปินตาคำ : ประสิทธิผลของรูปแบบการยศาสตร์แบบพหุมิติเพื่อลด ความปวดเมื่อยล้าของกล้ามเนื้อและกระดูกในพนักงานกวาดถนน (EFFECTIVENESS OF THE MULTIDIMENSIONAL ERGONOMIC INTERVENTION (MEI) MODEL TO REDUCE MUSCULOSKELETAL DISCOMFORT AMONG STREET SWEEPERS) อ.ที่ ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: รศ. ดร.วัฒน์สิทธิ์ ศิริวงศ์{, หน้า.

มีการรายงาน พบอัตราความชุกของความปวดเมื่อยล้าของกล้ามเนื้อและกระดูกค่อนข้าง สูงในพนักงานกวาดถนน ซึ่งปัจจัยเสี่ยงของการเกิดมีความสัมพันธ์กับท่าทางในการทำงาน จากการ กวาดที่เคลื่อนไหวแบบซ้ำซ้ำ และท่าทางการทำงานที่ไม่ถูกต้อง การศึกษานี้จึงมีวัตถุประสงค์ เพื่อ ้ประเมินประสิทธิผลของรูปแบบการยศาสตร์แบบพหุมิติ ในการลดความปวดเมื่อยล้าของกล้ามเนื้อ และกระดูก การเพิ่มสมรรถภาพทางกาย และการเพิ่มความตระหนักในความปลอดภัยจากการทำงาน การวิจัยนี้เป็นแบบกึ่งทดลองดำเนินการในพื้นที่จังหวัดเชียงราย โดยใช้รูปแบบการยศาสตร์แบบพหุ มิติ ซึ่งบูรณาการมาจากสื่องค์ประกอบคือ การบำบัดพฤติกรรมทางปัญญา การให้ความรู้ทางการย ศาสตร์ การยืดเหยียดกล้ามเนื้อ และการใส่ปลอกโฟมด้ามไม้กวาด กลุ่มตัวอย่างคือ พนักงานกวาด ถนนที่มีคะแนนความปวดเมื่อยล้าของกล้ามเนื้อตั้งแต่ 4 คะแนน ขึ้นไป โดยนักกายภาพบำบัดเป็น ผู้ตรวจคัดกรองให้กับพนักงานอาสาสมัคร จำนวนทั้งหมด 75 คน เครื่องมือที่ใช้ในการประเมินในครั้ง นี้คือ แบบสอบถามโดยใช้วิธีการสัมภาษณ์แบบตัวต่อตัวถึงความความปวดเมื่อยล้าของกล้ามเนื้อและ การตรวจคัดกรองและประเมินความปวดเมื่อยล้าของกล้ามเนื้อและกระดูกโดยนัก กระดูก กายภาพบำบัด การประเมินสมรรถภาพของกล้ามเนื้อโดยนักวิทยาศาสตร์การกีฬา และการประเมิน ส่วนของร่างกายทั้งหมดอย่างรวดเร็วจากการบันทึกวีดีโอ ผลการศึกษาพบว่า รูปแบบการยศาสตร์ แบบพหุมิติ มีประสิทธิผลในการลดความปวดเมื่อยล้าของกล้ามเนื้อและกระดูก เพิ่มสมรรถภาพทาง กาย และเพิ่มความตระหนักในความปลอดภัยจากการทำงานในกลุ่มทดลองเมื่อเทียบกับกลุ่มควบคุม ้อย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติ ที่ระดับ 0.01 ในช่วงหลัง 3 เดือนที่ได้รับรูปแบบกิจกรรม ข้อเสนอแนะจาก งานวิจัยนี้คือ รูปแบบการยศาสตร์แบบพหุมิติ มีความเหมาะสมในการลดความปวดเมื่อยล้าของ กล้ามเนื้อและกระดูก เพิ่มสมรรถภาพทางกาย และเพิ่มความตระหนักในความปลอดภัยจากการ ทำงาน ที่มีความสัมพันธ์กับการเคลื่อนไหวแบบซ้ำซ้ำ และการทำงานด้วยท่าทางที่ไม่ถูกต้องอย่างไรก็ ตาม ความยั่งยืนและความต่อเนื่องของรูปแบบการยศาสตร์แบบพหุมิติจะเกิดขึ้นได้นั้น ต้องอาศัย ความร่วมมือจากหน่วยงาน ในการติดตามดูแลสุขภาพของพนักงานก่อนการปฏิบัติงานในแต่ละวัน หรือใช้สำหรับให้คำแนะนำแก่พนักงานใหม่ก่อนเริ่มต้นทำงาน

สาขาวิชา	สาธารณสุขศาสตร์	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
ปีการศึกษา	2557	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก

5579151053 : MAJOR PUBLIC HEALTH

KEYWORDS: MULTIDIMENTIONAL ERGONOMIC INTERVENTION MODEL / MUSCULOSKELETAL DISCOMFORT / STREET SWEEPERS / CHIANG RAI PROVINCE

KANJANAR PINTAKHAM: EFFECTIVENESS OF THE MULTIDIMENSIONAL ERGONOMIC INTERVENTION (MEI) MODEL TO REDUCE MUSCULOSKELETAL DISCOMFORT AMONG STREET SWEEPERS. ADVISOR: ASSOC. PROF. WATTASIT SIRIWONG, Ph.D.{, pp.

High prevalence of work related musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers is reported worldwide. Street sweepers may be at risk for musculoskeletal discomfort (MSD) from their daily working activities. Repetitive movement of the broom, improper sweeping, poor posture may cause MSD. The aim was to evaluate the effectiveness of the Multidimentional Ergonomic Intervention (MEI) model on reducing MSD, improving physical performance and increasing awareness of safe work practices. A quasi-experiment was conducted in Chiang Rai province, Thailand. The MEI model was designed of four core components, the first as cognitive behavior therapy, the second as ergonomic education training, the third as stretching exercise and the fourth as foam sleeve broom handle grip. Seventy-five street sweepers volunteered were conducted a screening process on MSD of having level score ≥ 4 by physiotherapist. Face to face interviewed was used the musculoskeletal discomfort assessment questionnaire, physical exam by physiotherapist, physical performance by sports scientist and REBA measured from video record. Finding showed that the MEI model among intervention group was significantly reduced MSD, improved the physical performance and increased awareness safe work practice compared with among control group at exit model and follow up (p<.01). Research suggests that the MEI model was appropriated to reduce MSD, improve physical performance and increases awareness safe work associated with repetitive movement and awkward postures on task. The MEI model for sustainability should be conducted to provide among street sweepers during working daily and the new street sweepers before start working from organization.

Field of Study: Public Health Academic Year: 2014

 Student's Signature

 Advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis study was completed under guidance and support of many people and organizations.

I would like to give my sincere appreciation and gratitude to my thesis advisor, Associate Professor Dr. Wattasit Siriwong for kindness support and warm encouragement me through all step for this research work.

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to Dr. Kriangkrai Lertthusnee and Professor Dr. Sirikul Isaranurak for valuable guidance, moral support and comments on my thesis.

Special thanks go to my entire family for reinforcement and encouragement with me for study in university.

I would greatly appreciate for Professor Dr. Surasak Taneepanichkul, Associate Professor Dr. Sathirakron Pongpanich, Dean of college of Public Health Sciences, Chulalongkron University for suggestions and comments on my thesis. I also would like to give my deepest respect to examiners, Associate Professor Dr. Ratana Somrongthong and Assistant Professor Dr. Khemika Yamarat, and external examiner, Dr. Wanpen Songkham for valuable suggestions and comment. Moreover, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all faculty and friends in Environmental and Occupational Health class for their precious opinions and remarkable suggestions. This study was support of funding from the 90th Anniversary of Chulalongkorn University Fund (Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund).

I sincerely thanks to Ajarn Suphan Vanisphayakul, Dean of School of Health Science, Chiang Rai Rajabhat University.

Finally, I would like to express my greatly appreciate to parents for their offering support me through the difficult time of study.

CONTENTS

Pa	age
THAI ABSTRACTiv	V
ENGLISH ABSTRACT	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv	⁄i
CONTENTS	ii
LIST OF TABLES	1
LIST OF FIGURE	1
LIST OF ABBREVIATION	1
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background and Rationale1	1
1.2 Objective	5
1.3 Research question	5
1.4 Hypothesis	5
1.5 Operational definition	5
1.6 Expected Benefits and Applications9	9
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW	С
2.1 Street sweepers	1
2.2 Ergonomics	1
2.3 Cognitive behavior	2
2.4 Stretching exercises	3
2.5 Foam sleeve	2
2.6 Relevant research to relate of this study	1
CHAPTER III METHODOLOGY	2

viii

Page

3.2 Study Area	54
3.3 Study Period	
3.4 Study Population and sample size	
3.5 Intervention Program	
3.6 Measurement instruments	72
3.7 Reliability and validity test	
3.8 Data Collection	
3.9 Data analysis	
3.10 Ethical consideration	83
CHAPTER IV RESULTS	
4.1 Demographic characteristic and work factors	
4.2 Effectiveness of MEI model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort	
4.2.1 Musculoskeletal discomfort assessment	
4.2.2 Musculoskeletal discomfort score by physiotherapist	93
4.3 The effectiveness of MEI model to improve physical performance	97
4.3.1 Musculoskeletal strength score	97
4.3.2 Upper body strength	
4.3.3 Lower body strength	105
4.4 Effectiveness of MEI model to increase awareness of safe work practi	ice 109
4.4.1 Rapid entire body assessment (REBA)	
4.4.2 Awareness score	112
CHAPTER V CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSIONS	116
5.1 Discussion	

5.1.1 Effectiveness of MEI model on reducing musculoskeletal discomfort116
5.1.2 Effectiveness of MEI model on improving physical performance119
5.2 Conclusion
5.2.1 Demographic characteristic and working factors
5.2.2 Effectiveness of MEI model on reducing MSD125
5.2.3. Effectiveness of MEI model on improving physical performance
5.2.4. Effectiveness of MEI model on increasing awareness of safe work
practices
5.3 Study Limitations
5.4 Generalizability
5.5 Recommendation for further research
REFERENCES
APPENDIX
Appendix A – Interview forms
Appendix B – Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA)154
Appendix C – Physical Exam Forms156
Appendix D – Physical Performance form163
Appendix E – Validity and Reliability165
Appendix F Booklet for participants168
VITA

ix

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1 Population in Chiang Rai municipality
Table 2 The intervention information and training model for participants
Table 3 REBA Score risk level
Table 4 Demographic characteristic among street sweepers 87
Table 5 work factors among street sweepers
Table 6 Comparing MSD score
Table 7 Effectiveness of the MEI model for MSD score 95
Table 8 Pairwise Comparisons of the different measurements of MSD score 96
Table 9 Comparing musculoskeletal strength score 97
Table 10 Effectiveness of the MEI model for musculoskeletal strength score
Table 11 Pairwise comparisons of the different measurements of
musculoskeletal strength score
Table 12 Comparing upper body strength score 101
Table 13 Effectiveness of the MEI model for upper body strength scores103
Table 14 Pairwise Comparisons of the different measurements of upper body
strength scores
Table 15 Comparing lower body strength score 105
Table 16 Effectiveness of the MEI model for lower body strength scores 107
Table 17 Pairwise Comparisons of the different measurements of lower body
strength scores
Table 18 Comparing the REBA score 109

Table 19 Effectiveness of the MEI model for REBA scores of street sweepers	111
Table 20 Pairwise comparisons of the different measurements of REBA scores	112
Table 21 Comparing the awareness safe work practice score	113
Table 22 Effectiveness of the MEI model for awareness scores	114
Table 23 Pairwise comparisons of the different measurements of awareness	
scores	115



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF FIGURE

Page

Figure 1 Specification of a broom	13
Figure 2 Sweeping in awkward positions	19
Figure 3 Add a foam sleeve over the broom handle to relieve pressure on the	
hand	19
Figure 4 Alternate hands when holding the handle	20
Figure 5 Bending posture	20
Figure 6 Walking posture	21
Figure 7 Standing posture	21
Figure 8 Wrist strength and posture	23
Figure 9 Changes in blood flow to any given muscle	25
Figure 10 The relationships four elements in environment	34
Figure 11 Foam sleeve	43
Figure 12 Add a foam sleeve over the broom handle	44
Figure 13 Conceptual Framework of the Study	51
Figure 14 Diagram of research design	53
Figure 15 Map of study areas	55
Figure 16 Participants and sampling technique	58
Figure 17 Multidimensional Ergonomic Intervention (MEI) model	59
Figure 18 Diagram of intervention model	59
Figure 19 REBA sheet	77
Figure 20 Arm curl test	80

Figure 21 A 30- second chair stand test	81
Figure 22 Baseline prevalence rate of MSD in the past 1 month	
Figure 23 Baseline prevalence rate of MSD in the past 7 days	90
Figure 24 Comparing prevalence rate of MSD in the past 1 month	91
Figure 25 Trend in prevalence rate of MSD in the past 1 month	91
Figure 26 Comparing prevalence rate of MSD in the past 7 days	92
Figure 27 Trend in prevalence of MSD in the past 7 days	93
Figure 28 Trend in MSD score	94
Figure 29 Trend in musculoskeletal strength score	
Figure 30 Trend in upper body strength scores	
Figure 31 Trend in lower body strength scores	
Figure 32 Trend in REBA score	110
Figure 33 Trend in awareness safe work practice score	113
Figure 34 The MEI model	129

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

2

LIST OF ABBREVIATION

- MEI Multidimensional ergonomic intervention
- WMSD Work related musculoskeletal disorders
- MSD Musculoskeletal discomfort
- CBT Cognitive behavioral therapy
- MSDA Musculoskeletal discomfort assessment
- REBA Rapid entire body assessment
- ASWP-MSD Awareness safe work practice of musculoskeletal discomfort
- SNQ Standardized Nordic Questionnaire



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER I

1.1 Background and Rationale

"Street sweepers" can be regarded as poor and unhealthy occupation. These people are behind the enhancing traffic safety for removing harmful pollutants, preventing illnesses or diseases from wastes such as garbage, sand, soil and dust in the municipality (Seera, 2005). Thus, street sweepers are important people who are working for sweeping and cleaning up the accumulation of garbage and decreasing pollutants on the roads, footpaths and entering environment (Yogesh & Zodpey, 2007).

In general, street sweepers used brooms and a dustpan for cleaning wastes including garbage, sand, soil and stone. They are exposed to hazards directly and indirectly which may affect to their body health problems (International Labor Organization, 2007). Stambuli, indicated that street sweepers are exposed to unhealthy working environment condition (Stambuli, 2012). Occupational street sweepers exposed to a variety of health risk factors such as dust, volatile organic matter, bio-aerosols and mechanical stress, caused them to certain occupational diseases (Krajewski, Tarkowski, Cyprowski, Szarapinska-Kwaszewska, & Dudkiewicz, 2002) such as eye irritation, cough, skin irritation, diarrhea abdominal pain and musculoskeletal disorders (International Labor Organization, 2007). According to Reddy, the morbidity rate of street sweepers were valued at 11.30% of upper respiratory tract infections, 12.90% of chronic bronchitis, 21.50% of anemia, 9.90% of hyperacidity and 6.50% of hypertension (Reddy, 2013). Also, work related musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers was a high prevalence worldwide (Das et al., 2013).

Prevalence of musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers are 65.00% from Mansoura, Egypt (Mehrdad, Majlessi-Nasr, Aminian, & Malekahmadi, 2008) 49.20% from Brazil (Da Silva, Hoppe, Ravanello, & Mello, 2005). Moreover, the musculoskeletal discomfort in - Thailand report that 79.00% from Hatyai municipal, Songkhla province (Losakul, Chanprasit, & Kaewthummanukul, 2007), 79.12% in the past 7 day and 85.71% in the past 12 months from Bangkok (Theerawanichtrakul & Sithisarankul, 2014) and 88.00% from screening survey in Chiang Rai Municipality, Chiang Rai province ("<A Clean Sweep Safe Work practices for custotodiaqms.PDF>," ; Pintakham, Taneepanichskul, & Siriwong, 2014).

The musculoskeletal discomfort correlated positively with work shift (Toulouse et al., 2012). The European Agency for Safety and Health at Work indicated that approximately millions of workers related musculoskeletal discomfort in 2008, type of musculoskeletal discomfort are pain, tingling, cramp, numbness, tightness, weakness, heaviness, feeling cold or hot, and swelling (Korhan, 2012). Street sweepers are at risk exposing musculoskeletal ache and pain of the neck, shoulders, elbows, hands, back and lower limbs that caused from their activities on work (European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2007). According to survey of cleaners, European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (2007), 74.00% experiences of ache and pain are muscular discomfort.

The risk factors of musculoskeletal discomfort are caused primarily by work condition including awkward posture, repetitive motion, static postures, and forceful exertions (European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2007; NIOSH, 2007). The occupation related musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers are repetitive movement from using broom sweeping, bending back for removing garbage and walking area. Repetitive movement condition, using upper limb frequently, lead to musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers. Amick reported that approximately one million workers had musculoskeletal discomfort according to repetitive movement and over exertion (Amick III et al., 2003). According to Podniece, Heuvel and Blatter (2008), 62.00% of street sweepers are exposed to repetitive hand or arm movements. In addition, the locations of musculoskeletal discomfort are back pain from bending down position and walking distance while sweeping that lead to leg and feet pain or numbness. Back pain, a physically discomfort is divided into two types: acute and chronic pain in the lumbar or buttock area (European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2007). Moreover, awkward posture may cause by poorly

understood and lack of safety practice during working. Yogesh and Zodpey (2007), pointed out that street sweepers are one exposed of occupational health hazards due to poo education, lack of knowledge or practice to protect themselves. Moreover, the health risk has been increasing from ignorance of health prevention, low educational level and lack of information (Salimena, Coelho, Melo, Greco, & Almeida, 2012). Thus, musculoskeletal discomfort are influent various and poorly understood among workers in the workplace, which may help to explain why discomfort is high risks and need to provide the intervention for improving musculoskeletal discomfort (Mekhora, Liston, Nanthavanij, & Cole, 2000).

According to The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (2010), the intervention for example safety training, policies, and procedures can improved musculoskeletal health among workers. Multidimensional interventions are more effectiveness than single interventions (Fujishiro, Weaver, Heaney, Hamrick, & Marras, 2005). Therefore, the intervention model was designed an integration of cognitive behavior therapy, education training, stretching exercise and adding foam sleeve broom handle grip. With expectation that it would reduce musculoskeletal discomfort, improve muscular strength and endurance, as well as increase awareness of self-practice and safety behavior ergonomic related occupational health among street sweepers. Multidimensional ergonomic intervention model was designed according to the Occupational Safety and Health Administration's recommendation that the training is a significant element of the ergonomics process. Training information should involve risk of ergonomics issues in the workplace and provide easy language that workers can understand. Adjusting of equipment or tools and improving awareness of safe work practices are effective to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort and improve work practices (Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), 2008).

Hence, the integrated cognitive behavior theory is important for motivate thought and behavior which lead to individual safety. Cognitive behavior is one of suggested treatments that using complementary and alternative practices to increase awareness of self-practices and safety behaviors. Spillman and Long (2009) point out that cognitive behavior provide positive effect of psychological outcomes such as motivating mental health and good feeling, increasing prevention of health, perceiving protect themselves, and displeasure; moreover it can improve the quality of life (Glanz & Schwartz, 2008; Ross, 2011). The cognitive behavior technique also can prevent asymptomatic return of human (Hollon, Stewart, & Strunk, 2006).

Many researchers recommended that the exercise program is significant to promote physical movement and reduce musculoskeletal discomfort. Fenety and Walker (Fenety & Walker, 2002). found that exercises program was an appropriate tool for prevention in short term which decreased in the both postural immobility and musculoskeletal discomfort. The stretching exercise was more effective way to improve musculoskeletal discomfort related prolonged activities or static postures. Hinrichs et al., reported that the stretching exercises can improve functional ability and reduced low back pain (Hinrichs et al., 2009) . Choi and Woletz suggested that the benefits of stretching exercise can improve blood circulation, posture and range of motion (Choi & Woletz, 2010). In addition, it was increased flexibility of muscles, tendons and ligaments. Research indicated that the flexibility and stretching exercise programs can reduce to occurrence of occupational related musculoskeletal discomfort and injuries (Drennan, Ramsay, & Richey, 2006).

A foam sleeve is a device creating for applications which requires extra hand grip and needs to prolong handle tool such as safety bars, fitness equipment and long broom handle (GripWorks, 2011). California Department of Industrial Relations (2005) indicated that adding foam sleeve in the broom handle can be reducing pressure handle and comfortable to use. Moreover, Grip Work (2011) recommended that the smooth foam tubes are appropriate and simple to use because it relieves pressure from hands and becomes comfortable. Tools with foam sleeve handles is a greater efficiency hand grip as foam sleeve handles is a comfortable cushioned feel with no-slip grip motion (California Department of Industrial Relations, 2005). From the reasons, the intervention of this study was conducted to add foam sleeve grip on the broom handle and free support for sweeping in Chiang Rai municipality.

From all above, literatures were suggested that education training, cognitive behavior therapy, stretching exercises and add foam sleeve handle grip are the appropriate tools using for reducing musculoskeletal discomfort. Establishing multidimensional an ergonomic intervention (MEI) model was integrated the four core components including the first as education; the second as cognitive behavior therapy; the third as stretching exercise; and the fourth as foam sleeve broom handle grip. With an intention to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort, improve physical performance, and increase awareness of safe work practices among street sweepers in Chiang Rai municipality.

Surprisingly, there was limitation of existing interventions for reducing musculoskeletal discomfort related occupational (Amick III et al., 2003). According to Yogesh and Zodpey, They were a few ergonomics training researches on reducing and preventing health risk in street sweepers (Yogesh & Zodpey, 2007). Also in Thailand, only a few ergonomic programs has conducted studies on technique to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers (Losakul et al., 2007; Theerawanichtrakul & Sithisarankul, 2014).

Therefore, this study was integrated 4 elements including cognitive behavior; education tanning; stretching exercise; and adding foam sleeve handle grip on the model. The aimed of this study was to evaluate the effectiveness of multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort, improve physical performance and increase awareness of safe work practices among street sweepers in Chiang Rai municipality

Chulalongkorn University

1.2 Objective

To evaluate the effectiveness of the multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model on:

1. Reducing musculoskeletal discomfort.

2. Improving physical performance.

3. Increasing awareness of safe work practices.

1.3 Research question

Did the multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model affect musculoskeletal discomfort, physical performance, and awareness of safe work practices among street sweeper?

1.4 Hypothesis

1. Hypothesis 1

H0: The MSD in street sweepers receiving the MEI model is not different.

H1: The MSD in street sweepers receiving the MEI model is different.

2. Hypothesis 2

H0: The physical performance in street sweepers receiving the MEI model is not different.

H1: The physical performance in street sweepers receiving the MEI model is different.

Hypothesis 3

H0: The awareness of safe work practice in street sweepers receiving the MEI model is not different.

H1: The awareness of safe work practice in street sweepers receiving the MEI model is different.

1.5 Operational definition

The multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model refers to a process of the intervention that comprise of four core components of model, the first as ergonomic education, the second as cognitive behavior therapy, the third as stretching exercise and the fourth as foam sleeve broom handle grip. The MEI model developed based on ergonomics concept and literature review, to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort, improve muscular strength and endurance, and increase awareness of safe work practices among street sweepers. The model comprises of lecture training (ergonomic and cognitive behavior therapy), demonstrating (safety posture of working and stretching exercise), and supporting free foam sleeve boom handle grip. Moreover, there was a booklet about the model to provide information which helped to recall after finishing implementation of activities. The booklet contained appropriate information about ergonomic safety practice such as measurement tool for working condition, safety working practice, posture of work, and stretching exercise to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort in workplace. **Ergonomic education** refers to a set of information carefully design to provide knowledge, skill and practice through training for instance, risk factors of musculoskeletal discomfort, consequences of musculoskeletal discomfort, appropriate equipment for working (broom, dustpan and foam sleeve broom handle grip), and ergonomic safe work practice. The ergonomic education was conducted to increase awareness of safe work practices among street sweepers.

Cognitive behavior therapy refers to the dynamic interaction involving thoughts, perception, and behavior. It motivated thought and behavior to increase awareness of safe work practice on musculoskeletal, it led to sustainability of safe work practice.

Stretching exercises refers to program which focusing on movement on specific part of body relating to musculoskeletal discomforts of street sweepers. This motion includes upper limbs (shoulder, arms and hand), back, legs and feet. Type of stretching exercises relating to work condition of street sweepers includes wrist and hand, shoulder and arm, back, leg and feet. Duration was 30 minute a time, 3 times a week and continues until 12 weeks.

Foam sleeve broom handle grip refers to smooth foam tube; the tube was added by wrapping around the handle broom approximately 45 centimeters. This handle grip helps reduce compression pressure on the hand, provides a comfortable cushioned feel, and become less slippers on a grip. It increased greater efficiency on hand grip.

Musculoskeletal discomfort refers to the feeling conditions of group such as pain, tingling, cramp, numbness, tightness, weakness, heaviness, feeling cold or hot, and swelling (Korhan, 2012). These conditions involved repetitive movements and awkward postures from occupational among street sweeping.

Street sweepers refer to both male and female who are working for cleaning garbage by broom sweeping and using dustpan to remove wastes in Chiang Rai municipality, Chiang Rai province, Thailand.

Awkward postures refer to part of body which changed from natural position. The type of awkward positions such as reaching overhead or behind the head, twisting at the waist, bending the torso forward and backward, squatting, kneeling and bending wrist, it was awkward positions related to occupational street sweepers.

Repetitive movements refer to repeating the same motion every few seconds or repeating a cycle of motion involving the same body parts more than twice per minute for more than 2 consecutive hours in a row.

Working experience refers to a period of any experiences that street sweepers gain while working in a field and received income from municipality.

Working hour refers to a period of time for activities street sweepers in daily work.

Walking distance refers to street sweepers sweeping distance –assigned zone in daily working.

Using broom per month refers to street sweepers' change the broom to sweep on field per month due to different reasons such as damaged broom or lost broom.

Proportion of chin height and broom refers to the proportion between the street sweepers' chin and the length of broom.

Proportion of height and broom refers to the proportion between the street sweepers' chin and the height of broom.

Physical performance refers to the ability for performing function a physical task of street sweepers, including range of motion and muscle strength.

Awareness of safe work practices refers to the prevention of health risk and the enhance of safety among street sweepers in their workplace, involving the type of safety ergonomic occupational related musculoskeletal discomfort such as safety practice of working condition, equipment tool, and stretching exercise. **Intervention group** refers to street sweepers from Robe Wiang and Sansai sub – districts in Chiang Rai municipality, Chiang Rai province, where street sweepers received the MEI model.

Control group refers to street sweepers from Wiang and Rimkok sub-districts in Chiang Rai municipality, Chiang Rai province, where was not taken any intervention of this study model, they conducted their work as usual and received practice technique of the MEI model after the study finished.

1.6 Expected Benefits and Applications

Individual

1. The MEI model was provided benefit to reduce occupational related musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers.

2. The MEI model was reduced or prevented work-related musculoskeletal disorders among street sweepers.

3. The MEI model was improved physical performance and raise awareness of safe work practices related to the enhancement of musculoskeletal health among street sweepers in Chiang Rai municipality.

Organization

1. The MEI model was benefited anyone who is interested in the practice of the intervention model for decreasing prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort among workers in Chiang Rai municipality.

2. The MEI model was relieved musculoskeletal discomfort and improve quality of life among street sweepers or other workers which may result to be a happy workplace.

3. The MEI model was suggested to put in policy for strengthen the sustainability of organization.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Several concepts was outlined in this chapter provide explanation about the overall conceptual framework into which the research was laid. Below are specific studies which were reviewed to support this research as follows;

- 2.1 Street sweepers
 - 2.1.1 The context of street sweepers
 - 2.1.2 Type of street sweeping
 - 2.1.3 Equipment for street sweeping
 - 2.1.4 Source of street wastes
 - 2.1.5 Health risk factor among street sweepers
 - 2.1.6 Safe work practice

2.2 Ergonomics

- 2.2.1 Nature of ergonomics
- 2.2.2 Ergonomics risk factors
- 2.2.3 Ergonomics control risk factors
- 2.2.4 Benefits of ergonomics
- 2.2.5 Mechanisms of musculoskeletal discomfort
- 2.3 Cognitive behavioral
 - 2.3.1 Cognitive behavioral theory
 - 2.3.2 Definition of cognitive behavior therapy
 - 2.3.3 Practice of cognitive behavior therapy
 - 2.3.4 Goals of cognitive behavior therapy
 - 2.3.5 Benefits of cognitive behavior therapy
- 2.4 Stretching exercises
 - 2.4.1 Concept of stretching exercises
 - 2.4.2 Benefit of stretching exercises

2.4.3 Type of stretching exercises

2.4.4 Time of stretching exercises

- 2.4.5 Duration of stretching exercises
- 2.5 Foam sleeve broom handle grip

2.6 Conceptual framework

2.1 Street sweepers

2.1.1 The context of street sweepers

Street sweeper refers to a person's occupation that cleans the streets by using broom and shovel to clean off litter and garbage. They are a group of workers who enhance traffic safety by removing debris lying, coarse sediment and leaves on the road. Also, their works help improving aesthetics, removing harmful pollutants, preventing pollution and illnesses or diseases from wastes such as garbage, sand, soil and dust in the municipality (Seera, 2005). Thus, street sweeper occupation is important in sweeping, cleaning up the accumulation of garbage at the same time decreasing pollutants from roads, footpaths and entering environment (Yogesh & Zodpey, 2007). Moreover, they are essential in taking responsibilities for part of preventative or maintenance pollutants, cleaning off garbage in municipalities. Street sweepers are common practice undertaking in urban municipalities by improvements of the environmental conditions and preventing pollutants on urban street surfaces (Walker, Wong, & Wootton, 1999).

The sweeping area usually has two elements; footways and channels on street. Normally, occupational street sweepers using broom for cleaning wastes include garbage, sand, soil and stone, which exposes directly and indirectly on the body lead to health problems (International Labor Organization, 2007). Stambuli indicated that street sweepers are considered unhealthy as they expose to polluted working environment condition (Stambuli, 2012). Normally, among street sweepers are required to work 8-hour of the labor force and given take a break for an hours half. Period of work time can be dividing into two time period: a) 4 to 5 hours in the morning and b) 3 to 4 hours in the afternoon. Quite frequently the work force is

utilized in a group in the afternoon hours, which is highly unproductive. Responsible area for cleaning is allotted individually and each cleaning area will be monitored daily by their supervisor. Yogesh and Zodpey pointed out that street sweepers are occupational health hazards due to lack of knowledge or practice to protect themselves and they have limited educational opportunities (Yogesh & Zodpey, 2007). Moreover, the health risks are increasing from ignorance of health prevention, low educational level and lack of information (Salimena et al., 2012).

2.1.2 Type of street sweeping

Over hundreds of years, most municipalities use two types of street sweeping: 1) manual broom; and 2) mechanical broom. Uses of appropriate tool play an important role in improving the efficiency of the work force. Manual broom sweeping uses labor efforts to push or shovel trash, dirt, vegetation and animal droppings (Schilling, 2005).

The Mechanical broom sweeping include vacuum sweeper wet or dry, captive hydrology technique and regenerative-air sweeper, the process removes the garbage can be conducted by sweeping broom material with gutter rearward into the path of a pick-up broom (McClellan, 2000). Two types of street sweeping are described below:

หาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย

1. Manual brooms

Street sweeping workers commonly use manual effort by using broom to push and shove garbage. Broom is used outdoor to clean surfaces by sweeping all kinds of debris. Long handled brooms are not require bending which reduce fatigue and increase productivity levels (Ministry of Urban Development Government of India, 2000). Different style of broom requires a specific handle to maximize its function. Wood handles offer great value, they are not electrostatic and their texture is not cold. Many professionals indicated that wood broom is the most comfortable for tactile touch compare to other handle materials (Fulford, 2012). Moreover, wood handle broom can be adjusted to a custom fit with selected handle length; this length should be equal to the level of user's chin. Quality of a handle depends on a thickness: the thicker the handle is the stronger and more comfortable it will be. The key to proper ergonomic comfort is to match the handle to the individual. The handle broom should be placed just under the chin [L2] of street sweepers (Atlas Graham, 2010).

Figure 1 Specification of a broom



Source: Safe work practices for street sweepers: Booklet (Pintakham & Siriwong, 2015)

2. Mechanical broom

Mechanical broom sweeping is more effective equipment in helping to clean the streets. It can clean more garbage while running for a longer distance than individual manual sweeping (Schilling, 2005). The United States used mechanical broom sweeping removes garbage by gutter brooms material into the path of a pickup broom and to move with in conveyor system into a hopper (McClellan, 2000). According to Campos, mechanical broom has advantage in picking-up gross pollutants such as gravel, road debris, coarse sand and vegetation (Campos, 2006). The machine can conduct wet and dry sweeping operations in the roadways. Mechanical brooms sweepers are effective to remove coarse materials and gross pollutants, which higher efficiency for pollutant removal on street. Even though, mechanical broom is more effective for cleaning garbage but it is more expensive compare to other pollution control practice such as settling or filtering devices, or detention ponds. These methods prolongs their operational efficiency, and required maintenance that is cost-effective for street sweeping (Schilling, 2005).

In this study, the area of study was conducted in Chiang Rai municipality which was more appropriated to use manual broom sweeping rather than mechanical broom, as the roadways of municipality was suitable for using manual broom and dustpan. Besides it was not too expensive for working in the community.

2.1.3 Equipment for street sweeping

Nowadays, sanitation workers use outdated and inefficient cleaning tools which need to be replaced. However, a process to induce workers to change their habit of using familiar equipment – is not easy. They normally resist any change even though the change will be good for them. It is therefore, necessary to convince workers to adopt more appropriated tools and new practice to sanitation work by raising their awareness. Equipment using for manual street sweeping are explained in the following section (Ministry of Urban Development Government of India, 2000).

1. Brooms

There is no yardstick about the number of brooms to be setting for usage e.g., how many piece used per month or per year. Street sweepers were given brooms monthly or sometimes quarterly. One long handled broom per month is considered to be adequate for street sweeping. The handle itself – the long-handle bamboo (long-handle) to which the broom is attached need not to be given once a month as it lasts a long life. The old handle bamboo should be reused for making brooms. The bamboo may be replaced when required. It could be replaced in six months or once a year depending upon the local conditions of the city (Hardy & Fontillas, 2003). According to Ministry of Urban Development, Government of India, (2000) the characteristic of broom is below:

Length of the broom: 80-85 cm Weight of the broom: 1 kg Binding material: 20 gauge MS sheet and ring having width of 1.5-2 cm Handle of the broom: Bamboo of 135 cm length, 3-4 cm diameter Weights of the bamboo handle (approximately): 900 gm. The bamboo sticks should be free from ruts, and insects to be a good quality for sweeping outdoor. The broom handle should be solid and smooth in texture and has a pointed edge on one end for proper fixing with the broom.

2. Dustpan

Function of a dustpan or waste receptacle is used to collect the street wastes. The material for collecting waste by sweeping comprised of a pan and/or base, a set of walls, and a handle that typically extend laterally from a rear wall of the pan (Fulford, 2012). Normally, street sweepers are using broom to sweep debris into the dustpan. The characteristic of dustpan is to receive and contain debris include a base contact with a surface to be cleaned, the base having a front edge over which debris can be swept into the dustpan, a wall extending upward from at least a portion of the base other than the front edge and a handle having a substantially arcuate cross-section coupled to the wall of the dustpan and to allow a user to place the base in contact with the surface to be cleaned (Hardy & Fontillas, 2003). Moreover, the dustpan is appropriate tool which has low weight and the height is always a shoulder height of workers.

In this study, the Chiang Rai municipality was supported the equipment for working consists of two types including broom and dustpan. Street sweepers can be changed equipment at any time when the equipment was damaged or unavailable.

HULALONGKORN UNIVERSIT

2.1.4 Sources of street wastes

Street wastes fall into three main categories; (Ministry of Urban Development Government of India, 2000).

1. Natural wastes

These include dust blown from unpaved areas, sometimes from within the city and sometimes from a great distance, and decaying vegetation such as fallen leaves, blossoms and seeds which originate from trees and plants in the city. Natural wastes cannot be avoided, but may be controlled by such measures as the careful selection of the types of tree planted in the city.

2. Road traffic wastes

Motor vehicles deposit oil, rubber and mud; in addition, there is sometimes accidental spillage of a vehicle's load. Animals drawing vehicles deposit excrement on the road surface. At large construction sites mud is often carried out by motor vehicles and deposited on adjacent roads; in wet weather this can cause danger to other traffic by skidding. Traffic wastes are largely unavoidable but some legislative control is possible in the cases of load spillage and construction sites.

3. Behavior wastes

The main source of wastes is litter thrown by pedestrians and house or shopwastes swept or thrown out of private premises instead of being placed in the suitable container meant for the purpose. Human spittle and the excrement of domestic pets also fall into this category and together provide health risk, which arises from street wastes due to inhalation of dust contaminated by dried spittle and excrement. Behavior wastes are largely avoidable provided an efficient refuse collection service is in operation and litter bins are provided for the use of pedestrians. But success requires a continuing program of public education and awareness backed up by legislation and rapidly operating enforcement procedures.

2.1.5 Health risk factor among street sweepers

Occupational street sweepers are exposed to a variety of health risk factors such as dust, volatile organic matter, bio-aerosols and mechanical stress, which make them lead to certain occupational diseases (Krajewski et al., 2002). Street sweeper is a significant worker who expose to more than one incidence of illness such as eye irritation, cough, skin irritation, diarrhea and abdominal pain (International Labor Organization, 2007). According to Reddy morbidities detected among street sweepers were 21.5% of anemia, 12.9% of chronic bronchitis, 11.3% of upper respiratory tract infections, 9.9% of hyperacidity and 6.5% of hypertension (Reddy, 2013). During working, dust is raised during sweeping by brooms. Therefore, the street sweepers who are exposure to dust will affect respiratory system (Nku, Peters, Eshiet, Oku, & Osim, 2006). Moreover, the researcher found that the common disorders of women street sweepers are pulmonary disease, chest pain, respiratory problem, skin disease, ring worm and musculoskeletal disorder (Das et al., 2013).

Work related musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers are a high prevalence (Theerawanichtrakul & Sithisarankul, 2014). In 2008, according to the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work indicate that approximately millions of workers related musculoskeletal discomfort. Type of musculoskeletal discomfort includes ache, pain, numbness, cramp, tingling, heaviness, weakness, tightness, feeling hot or cold, and swelling (Korhan, 2012). The musculoskeletal discomfort correlated positively with increase more than half of work shift (Toulouse et al., 2012). There are 65% of street sweepers from Mansoura, Egypt (Mehrdad et al., 2008), 49.2% from Brazil (Da Silva et al., 2005). Moreover, in Thailand the musculoskeletal discomfort are 79% from Hatyai municipal, Songkhla province (Losakul et al., 2007), and 88% from Chiangrai Municipality, Chiang Rai province (Pintakham et al., 2014). Street sweepers are at risk exposing musculoskeletal ache and pain of the neck, shoulders, elbows, hands, back and lower limbs as a result from their activities on work (European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2007). According to survey of cleaners, European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (2007) indicated that 74% of street sweepers experience muscular discomfort, aches and pains. The risk factor of musculoskeletal discomfort includes awkward posture, repetitive movements, static postures and forceful exertions (NIOSH, 2007). The causation of musculoskeletal discomfort on among street sweepers are repetitive movement from use broom sweeping, bend back for removing garbage and walking area to be responsible (Theerawanichtrakul & Sithisarankul, 2014). According to California Department of Industrial Relations (2005) workers who sweeping may involve awkward posture of wrists and prolonged contact pressure on hands. Moreover, the back and neck are often in an awkward forward bent posture. Musculoskeletal discomforts are caused primarily by work condition (repetitive movement, force and awkward posture) and by individual behavior (self-practice safety practice) (European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2007). Repetitive movement condition use upper limb frequently such as scapula, shoulders, hands and wrists, which lead to musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers. Amick III et al., showed that approximately one million workers are musculoskeletal discomfort due to repetitive movement and over exertion (Amick III et al., 2003). According to Podniece et al., suggest that 62% of the workers exposed to repetitive hand or arm movements (Podniece et al., 2008). In addition, the locations of musculoskeletal discomfort were back pain from bending down position and walk for responsibility sweeping area in daily working that lead to leg and feet pain or numbness. Back pain, a physically discomfort, can be defined as acute pain or chronic pain in the lumbar or buttock area (European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2007). Moreover, awkward posture may come from poorly understood and lack of safety practice on work. Yogesh and Zodpey point out that street sweepers are one type of occupational health hazards due to lack of knowledge or practice to protect themselves and poor education (Yogesh & Zodpey, 2007). Moreover, the health risk has been increasing from ignorance of health prevention, low educational level and lack of information (Salimena et al., 2012).

In this study, the illness among street sweepers in Chiang Rai municipality was showed that 88% as musculoskeletal discomfort, 68% as respiratory systems and 53% as stress (Pintakham et al., 2014). Thus, this study was helped to prevent musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweeper in Chiang Rai Municipality and reduce occupational related musculoskeletal discomfort.

ilalongkorn University

2.1.6 Safe work practice

1. Safe Sweeping

Street sweepers were significantly involved repetitive movement and awkward position of wrists, back and neck. According to Occupational Health and Safety (2000) repetitive movement and awkward posture can affect to any part of the body. An unnatural position can be influenced musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers. In addition, the worker can be protecting this activity by take care of musculoskeletal discomfort as follows; (California Department of Industrial Relations, 2005) 1. Use lightweight brooms and stand up straight, don't bending back.

Figure 2 Sweeping in awkward positions



Source: Safe work practices for street sweepers: Booklet (Pintakham & Siriwong, 2015)

2. Take a rest breaks several times per hour (30 seconds–2 minutes) to relax your muscles & prevent injury by taking several rest breaks is better than taking one long lunch break.

3. Add foam sleeve over broom handle to relieve pressure on the hand & for a better comfortable grip.

Figure 3 Add a foam sleeve over the broom handle to relieve pressure on the hand



Source: Safe work practices for street sweepers: Booklet (Pintakham & Siriwong, 2015)

4. Alternate right and left hands at the top of the broom handle.

Figure 4 Alternate hands when holding the handle



Source: Safe work practices for street sweepers: Booklet (Pintakham & Siriwong, 2015)

5. Keep elbows close to body during sweeping motion and avoid for over-

reaching

6. Stretching muscle at the beginning and throughout workday for reduce discomfort and fatigue.

2. Safe bending posture

According to California Department of Industrial Relations (2005) proper bending techniques can reduce symptom of musculoskeletal disorders. The posture for bending as maintain a neutral spine, body and shoulder position during working, bend knees and keep back straight during activities as follows; ; (Occupational Health and Safety, 2000).

Figure 5 Bending posture



Source: Safe work practices for street sweepers: Booklet (Pintakham & Siriwong, 2015)

3. Safe walking posture

Anatomically, the spine is straight; do not bend body as it will damage those nerves by bending or twisting the spine excessively as follows; (Occupational Health and Safety, 2000).

Figure 6 Walking posture



Source: Safe work practices for street sweepers: Booklet (Pintakham & Siriwong, 2015)

4. Safe standing posture

Good posture consists of keeping the spine straight and carrying the shoulders neither rounded nor pulled back. Maintain this posture even when bending over at the waist while working as follows; (California Department of Industrial Relations, 2005)

Figure 7 Standing posture



Source: Safe work practices for street sweepers: Booklet (Pintakham & Siriwong, 2015)

2.2 Ergonomics

2.2.1 Nature of ergonomic

Ergonomics is rooted from Greek, which divided into two words, "ergo" means work and "nomos" means natural law of work (Warren, 2004). Ergonomics may be applied from scientific concerned on procedures and products for safety. Ergonomics is one solution which needs to modify tools and tasks to meet the needs of people, rather than forcing people to accommodate the task or tool. Consider how ergonomics might positively impact the workers throughout their professional lifespan (Harutunian, Gargallo Albiol, Figueiredo, & Gay Escoda, 2011).

Ergonomics is the science to design the fit work tasks of the worker's body, rather than the physical on the job (Karwowski & Marras, 2003). Adapting tasks, work stations, equipment, and tools to fit among worker can reduce physical stress on the workers. According to the Social Security Office in Thailand reported that unnatural working posture on workers are 5,047case in 2010 and 3,246 case in 2011 (Social Security Office, 2011). Ergonomics risk factors related to perceived physical demand of task, behavioral of personal and policy of organization. The workers can learn to anticipate what might go wrong and modified tools and the work environment to make tasks safer for their workers (Occupational Safety Health Administration, 2004).

2.2.2 Ergonomics risk factors

Ergonomic risk factors were involved tasks such as equipment or tool, work station, practice, policy of organization and personal behavior (OHCOW, 2012). This evidence support findings that exposure of ergonomic risk factors in the workplace can contribute to the risk of developing musculoskeletal disorders (Occupational Safety Health Administration, 2004). Ergonomics risk factors related to physical demand, psychosocial demands and individual factors. The three components as follows; (Karsh, 2006).

1. Physical demand

Physical demand related to tasks and organizations lead to injury, musculoskeletal system and illness of workers (Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety, 2010). Risk factors of working condition, Occupational Safety and Health Administration indicated that the workplace guidelines physical risk factors. The risk factors of ergonomics related working condition on the work often exposed as follows:(Occupational Safety Health Administration, 2004).

- 1.1 Awkward posture
- 1.2 Static posture
- 1.3 Forceful exertions
- 1.4 Repetitive Movements
- 1.5 Vibration
- 1.6 Extreme temperature
1.1 Awkward Postures

Awkward postures refer to a term part of the body that the joints ranges of motion are not used near the middle the position for activity. The good of nature position is means the joints are range of motion near the middle body structure (Occupational Health and Safety Council of Ontario (OHSCO), 2007). In addition, joints moves out range of motion from neutral body become to awkward posture and lead to muscles strain, ligaments and tendons around the joint. Occupational Safety Health Administration (Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA)) indicated that assumption of awkward posture is position that musculoskeletal stress on the body including prolonged-static posture, repetitive movement -such as prolonged or repeated reaching above the shoulder height, bending down, twisting, kneeling and squatting (Occupational Safety Health Administration, 2004). Awkward postures are often from poor work techniques, which affect to stress musculoskeletal structures and ligaments (OHCOW, 2012). According to Jarvholm et al. (1989) suggested that forward shoulder flexion or abduction approximately 30 degrees can cause a significant influence in blood circulation around the neck and shoulder. Prolonged awkward posture can cause to musculoskeletal discomfort and fatigue (W. Keyserling, 2000).

Figure 8 Wrist strength and posture



Source: Ergonomics and dental work by Occupational Health Clinics for Ontario Workers (OHCOW, 2012).

Awkward postures can affect to any part of the body is in an unnatural position or uncomfortable, repetitive and movements postures. Other types of postures and movements can contribute to MSD risks. According to general guideline, awkward posture that means repetitive movement as follows; (Occupational Health and Safety, 2000).

1. Bending the head forwards or sideways more than 20 degrees



2. Bending the head backwards more than 5 degrees



3. Twisting the neck more than 20 degrees



4. Backward bending of the back more than 5 degrees



5. Bending the back forwards or sideways more than 20 degrees



6. Twisting the back more than 20 degrees



1.2 Static Postures

Static postures refer to hold a prolonged period of time for activity, which affect to deliver of oxygen and blood to the musculoskeletal that lead to fatigue, injury and musculoskeletal stress (OHCOW, 2012). Because the activities are held postures for a long time, there is effect to decrease blood flow in the tissues. According to Park (2009), an increased physical force can lead to musculoskeletal overload and decreased blood circulation on muscles and joints. Repeated and continuous local contact can cause concentrated pressure between tool or equipment and body tissue among workers (Keyserling, 2006).

Figure 9 Changes in blood flow to any given muscle



Source: Nexgen Ergonomics (2010)

1.3 Forceful exertions

Force refers to physical activity of using effort by muscles that lead to amount of pressure on body part (OHCOW, 2012). Increasing force can influence increasing physical demands such as pushing, pulling and lifting while force overload can affect muscles, ligaments, joints and tendons (W. Keyserling, 2000). According to the Occupational Health and Safety Council of Ontario (OHSCO) (2007), all tasks need to use force of muscle, however, under force overloaded condition; it will lead to damage muscles, tendons, joint and tissue on body part. Additionally, the study has showed results that the amount of muscle effort is significant to perform all tasks in work (Occupational Safety Health Administration, 2004).

1.4 Repetitive Movements

Repetitive movements refer to performing the same high frequency range of motion for a prolonged period of time (Occupational Safety Health Administration, 2004). According to Silverstein and Clark (2004) high repetition on working condition was a threefold higher risk of the wrist and hand than low repetition in workers. Highly repetitive movement on tasks can cause to discomfort, tissue damage, fatigue and eventually injury, which repetitive movement can occur despite the low level of force and not awkward postures (Occupational Health and Safety Council of Ontario (OHSCO), 2007). Repetitive movement continual exposure may lead to discomfort and fatigue such as wrists, hands, back, shoulders, and occurs other body parts (NIOSH, 2007). According to Occupational Health Clinics for Ontario Workers there are three critical elements of repetitive motion to consider as follows; (OHCOW, 2012)

1.4.1 Frequency

Frequency refers to amount of times an activity is repeated such as repetitive wrist motions and shoulder movement.

1.4.2 Duration

Duration refers to amount of period of time an activity is performed such as length of time movement in a static posture and the total length of working day.

1.4.3 Recovery time

Recovery time refers to the time which breaks a repetitive cycle such as scheduled breaks and time spent stretching.

1.5 Vibration

Vibration refers to the system in motion which occurs to continue excitation response (W. Keyserling, 2000). Generally, vibration can contribute to the onset vascular disorder such as neurological disorder, carpal tunnel, white fingers syndrome, wrist or shoulder or arm problem (Silverstein & Clark, 2004).

1.6 Extreme temperature

Extreme temperature refers to temperature change related with work such as hot and cold temperature (W. Keyserling, 2000). Exposing to the temperature

for a long period of time can lead to illness or injury on workers (Silverstein & Clark, 2004).

In this study, ergonomics risk factors was related to physical demand among street sweepers included repetitive movements (sweeping), awkward postures (sweeping, bending, walking and standing) and static postures (prolong on holding the broom).

2. Psychosocial demands

Psychosocial demands at work have become specific types of stress including availability of social support, conflict of work, job strain, job control, job security and job satisfaction (Edwards D.F, 2004). In addition, psychosocial demands consist of three elements for instance, emotional time pressure, cognitive demands, and high psychosocial risk factors (Cooper, Dewe, & O'Driscoll, 2001). According to Tweeedy (2005) the work related psychosocial risk factors are significant to develop prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders. Furthermore, psychosocial risk factors adversely effect on work condition and tend to occur more frequently. Therefore, the issue of psychosocial risk factors needs an attention from management level (Silverstein B. & Evanoff B., 2006).

3. Individual factors

Individual factors like gender and age could effect change in the responses of long term health outcomes (Norman, 2004). Therefore, the workers may choose to use a specific technique or method at work within the frames of individual experience, problem solving skills, a policy on the workplace, motivation, training and knowledge in the occupation (LIndegård et al., 2003). According to Tweedy (2005) individual factors which involve musculoskeletal disorders including gender, age, education, length of employment physical condition, practice, smoking, illness and other factors.

2.2.3 Ergonomics risk factors control

According to Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) (2000) the ergonomic risk factors control could prevent or reduce MSD hazards by using procedures to correct, properly designing work station, selecting the appropriate equipment or tools for that job. The strategy of ergonomics to prevent and control risk factors consists of three components as follows; (Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), 2008)

1. Engineering

Engineering involves a process of management to supply appropriate tool or equipment for workers, in which these tool and equipment can be designed (Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), 2000). Establish engineering controls of ergonomic risk factors by tool or equipment and work station is importance for reducing ergonomic risk factors According to Clark (2004)engineering controls involve workstation design, tools or equipment, proper maintenance and environmental layout. Engineering controls such as work station design, design for work methods, tool and handle design that appropriately designed will reduce repetitive motion, excessive force static, extreme, awkward postures, and reduce ergonomic risk (Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), 2008).

2. Administrative

Administrative is important for reduce ergonomic risk factors by changing the work process which will help to reduce the magnitude, duration and frequency ergonomic of exposure (Silverstein & Clark, 2004). Administrative control can be operated through supporting of supervisors such as worker rotation, more task variety, and increased rest breaks (Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), 2000). The policies of administration are significant to manage ergonomic risk factors on workers. Moreover, administrative controls may be reduced the frequency, duration, number of repetitions per hour, short rest, job rotation and severity of exposures to ergonomic hazards (Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), 2008).

3. Personal (Behavioral)

Personal characteristic is more significant for decrease ergonomic risk factors on workers. Personalities based on experience, age, knowledge, skill, awareness, perceive and behavior. In addition, physical demand is also effect on workers such as fatigue, body discomfort, muscle pain, injury and other musculoskeletal system (Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety, 2010). According to Clark (2004) work practice helps to prevent ergonomic risk factors on workers and illness. Providing participatory ergonomics program for safety and health on workers by training and education ergonomic risk factors work practices, techniques safety on work, and personal protective equipment (Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), 2008). According to OSHA (2000) personal protective equipment is important for protection risk factors among worker such as knee pad and gloves (Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), 2000). Ergonomic training is one of the most effective for interactive and full participation among workers (NIOSH, 2007).

This study was created control for three risk factors among street sweepers in Chiangrai municipality. Engineering control will be designed by adding foam sleeve handle grip to reduce pressure and help to prolong holding the broom comfortably. Administrative control will design the relationship between staff and street sweepers for stretching exercise. As part of personal behavioral factors, an integration of training course for safe work practice, cognitive behavior therapy, stretching exercise and provide to use foam sleeve handle grip, will be conducted to control musculoskeletal discomfort of street sweeper. The intervention model consists of four components which will be focused on personal change by cognitive behavior theory to help to motivating safe work practice for sustainability among street sweepers.

2.2.4 Benefits of ergonomics

Ergonomics help the workplace as follows; (Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), 2008)

1. Decrease prevalence or incidence MSD rates.

2. Increase comfortable to make jobs easier for workers

3. Decrease errors lead to use automated processes that exert less physical effort

4. Reduce absences on workers due to taking more time to rehab from fatigue, muscle soreness and other problem related musculoskeletal disorder.

5. Reduce costs for illness from workers.

6. Improve safety among workers in workplace.

7. Improve morale among workers in workplace.

2.2.5 Mechanisms of musculoskeletal discomfort

The musculoskeletal system was consisted of skeletal muscle, bone, connective tissues and tendons. The main function of musculoskeletal system can helped to protect and support the part of body. Moreover, it was provided physical movement related to move and contract involved bone, muscles and joints to work together. Muscular system was consisted 50% of total human body weight and more than 600 skeletal muscles to move and contract. Muscular system was divided into three types including skeletal muscle, smooth muscle and cardiac muscle. In this study, specific skeletal muscle was addressed according to the function.

Musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) was an injury or disorder of the musculoskeletal system resulting from repeated exposure to various hazards and/or risk factors in the workplace (Occupational Health and Safety Council of Ontario (OHSCO), 2007). Musculoskeletal system such as all muscles, nerves, blood vessels, bursa, ligaments, bones, joints, intervertebral discs, tendons, and tendon sheaths (Public Services Health & Safety Association, 2010). Therefore, musculoskeletal disorders increase high risk on body parts in the workplace continuously. MSDs are injuries and disorders of the soft tissues (muscles, tendons, ligaments, joints, and cartilage) and nerve system. They affect nearly all tissues, including the nerves and

tendon sheaths, and most frequently and back. Occupational safety and health professionals have called these disorders a variety of names, including cumulative trauma disorders, repeated trauma, repetitive stress injuries, and occupational overexertion syndrome. These disabling injuries are painful and generally develop gradually over weeks, months, and years (Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), 2000). Musculoskeletal disorders are often involved wrist, elbow, shoulder and back in occurring to expose over time such as repetitive movement, awkward postures and forceful exertions (Chaffin, Andersson, & Martin, 2006). The musculoskeletal disorder was regarded as multifactorial causation including physical or mechanical factors, psychosocial factors or organizational, and individual or personal factors (EUOSHA, 2008). Moreover, awkward and static postures, repetitive handling, repetitive or monotonous work, demanding, straining work, lack of recreation times, high time pressure, frequently of overtime hours and reduced physical capacity were all the risk factors may contribute to musculoskeletal disorders (Korhan, 2012).

Researchers founded symptoms of discomfort for dental workers occurred in the wrists/hands (69.5%), neck (68.5%), upper back (67.4%), low back (56.8%) and shoulders (60.0%). They also found that 93% of those surveyed stated that they had at least one job-related ache, pain, or discomfort in the 12 months prior to the survey (Anton, Rosecrance, Merlino, & Cook, 2002). According to Hou and Shiao (2006) was 91.6% experienced musculoskeletal discomfort in body part related to different working condition such as twisting of waist, bending and standing for a prolonged period of time. The risk factors of musculoskeletal discomfort were significant to increase discomfort on different part of body region in increasing on body region (Fogleman & Lewis, 2002).

Thus, the causes of musculoskeletal discomfort in the workplace were various and poorly understood among workers. This explains why discomfort was high risk and needed to provide the intervention for improving musculoskeletal discomfort (Mekhora et al., 2000).

2.3 Cognitive behavior

2.3.1 Cognitive-Behavioral Theory

A cognitive behavior theory based on relation of two therapies, it is a combination between cognitive and behavior therapy (Schacter, Gilbert, & Wegner, 2010). Cognitive behavioral theory is one type of concept on thoughts which plays an important role in behavior change and problem solving. According to the British Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapies (2005) cognitive and behavior therapy are a method based on concepts and principles theory of human emotion and behavior from psychological models. Cognitive involve positive thought which leads to resolve problems or events in life, this positive thought will lead to behavior change for risk prevention (Jacofsky M.D., Melanie T. Santos, Sony Khemlani-Patel, & Fugen Neziroglu, 2013). Cognitive behavior therapy (CBT) is one important techniques which uses motivation related healthy thoughts referring to healthy feeling and behaviors in the workplace (Ruwaard, Lange, Bouwman, Broeksteeg, & Schrieken, 2007). This technique focuses on relationships between thoughts, feelings and behaviors, which cognitive behavior therapy is one aspect to increase decision on person's ability. According to Grazebrook and Garland (2005) cognitive behavior is based on principles and concepts bringing to psychological and behavior of human's emotion, by using continuously to help individual, family and groups. Cognitive behavioral focus on occurring of learning that helps human achieve optimal shortand long-term outcome (Abramowitz, 2013). Cognitive behavior can be used strategies and skills to apply for many challenges in life such as management chronic pain, mental and behavioral disorders, control drinking and maintain exercise. Moreover, cognitive behavioral therapy involved with emotion and actions of situation responses which-leads to adaptation of life events (Prendes & & Resko, 2012). Hence, cognitive behavior therapy focuses on the interaction between thinking, feeling and behavior that usually linked with current problems and limited period of time (Freeman et al., 2007).

Cognitive therapy is one technique of therapy that focuses on the relationships and connections between our thoughts, feelings and actions. Recognizing that each circumstance is affected by the environment in which live and environment involves both our current situations such as family, friends, job, culture, various stressor and supports, etc., as well as our past family history, past relationships, previous successes and failures, etc. Within our environment, there are four elements that interact with each other which will be presented as below; (Greig, Zito, Wexler, Fiszdon, & Bell, 2007)

1. Cognitive: thoughts, cognitions, beliefs, self-talk.

The identifying and re-evaluating negative thoughts, learning more effective problem-solving and decision-making strategies, beliefs and patterns of thinking and using mindfulness to deal with "uncontrollable" and racing thoughts, allowing to let go of unnecessary thoughts without getting caught up in them.

2. Behavioral: actions, behaviors

The changing unhelpful behaviors include social isolation, procrastination and inactivity, avoiding situations, learning to be more assertive and communicate more effectively and make life more meaningful and fulfilling and pursuing pleasurable activities and interests that promote happiness and health outcome.

3. Emotional: feelings, moods, emotions

The learning how to experience and accept negative emotions without becoming overwhelmed, techniques to transform painful emotions into more manageable feelings and strategies to help tolerate emotional distress and manage extreme emotional reactions include intense anger, anxiety or sadness.

4. Physiological: biology, genetics, physical, physiology

The breathing exercises and relaxation techniques to calm physiological responses and reduce stress levels, improving sleep, diet and exercise habits to improve physical well-being, mindfulness practices to cope with stress and physical discomfort or pain and sometimes cognitive therapy is rendered in conjunction with medications describe by a physician.



Figure 10 The relationships four elements in environment

This figure describes from the arrows in the above diagram present as follows; (Dror et al., 2011)

- 1. Thoughts affect behavior, emotions and physiological state.
- 2. Behaviors affect thoughts, emotions and physiological state.
- 3. Emotions affect thoughts, behaviors and physiological state.
- 4. Physiological state affects thoughts, feelings and behaviors.

In this study, the cognitive relationships are covering four elements including cognitive, behavioral, physiological and emotional. There an involvement of individual system cycle, that helps developing program to improve musculoskeletal discomfort for street sweepers.

2.3.2 Definition of Cognitive Behavior Therapy

The cognitive behavior therapy theory focuses on mental processes, such as feeling, thinking, attending, remembering, wishing, fantasizing and planning. There are more difference meaning of cognitive behavior therapy defined by other researcher, as follows:

Cognitive behavior therapy refers that effective decisions is a cognitive skill. That focuses on how individuals perceive risks and make decisions about risk taking during early stage how individuals move from concrete operational thinking to formal operating thinking this is ability to think abstractly (Carol, CAROL, & Priscilla, 1993).

Cognitive behavior therapy refers to all behavior which is reflection of brain function and that thought process represents a range of function mediate in brain, which controls feeling, perception, learning and thinking. It helps maintain maladaptive behaviors, distortion in logic and systematic distortion in thinking (Otong, 1995). Cognitive behavior therapy refers to automatic thought and skill, that change behavior, and the role of appraisal (Kazantzis, Pachana, & Secker, 2003).

Cognitive behavior therapy refers to mental process include thinking, remembering, perception, wishing, planning and fantasizing in relations with one-self (Matlin, 2005).

Cognitive behavior therapy refers to mental processes and their individual memory structure. That deciding factor is ability to perform it under thought (Hatch et al., 2007).

In this study, cognitive behavior therapy refers to psychological processes on work related musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers. It will include combination between coping skills and automatic thought (thought challenging, positive thinking, change you're thought), and beliefs and attitudes which lead to raising awareness to change behavior among street sweepers.

2.3.3 Practice of cognitive behavior therapy

Cognitive behavior therapy refers to psychological process such as feeling, thinking, accepting, planning and reasoning (Matlin, 2005). The levels of the practice are difference which depends on skill levels of an individual or group. Therefore, the evaluation is varied as follows; (Dobson & Dobson, 2009).

1. Approaches: This is specific for problem areas of cognitive behavior therapy interventions such as coherent training to prevention work in people, motivate, diagnosis, identification of symptoms, this is not a look of psychotherapy as the health care provider are implementing a technical intervention, and they are not exact on formulation and adaptation of the treatment. The health workers will be acquired training in specific interventions for particular problem areas, and should be receiving supervision from a cognitive behavior therapy psychotherapist.

2. Assisted self-help: A self-help material offered to support individuals or groups by a health worker, such as a graduated mental health worker or assistant of psychologist. This is only limited and is not a look of psychotherapy, if available, formal cognitive behavior therapy training or skills are acquired by the individual introducing the approach, such individuals should not be claiming that they are doing cognitive behavior therapy.

3. Self-help: self-help is not a look of psychotherapy and no cognitive behavior therapy training or skills are acquired the self-help material by the individual reading.

However, there was some evidenced for the efficacy of cognitive behavior therapy approaches to many different levels; the purposes of this document term are referring to cognitive behavior therapy psychotherapy outlined in level one above.

2.3.4 Goals of cognitive behavior therapy

Goals of cognitive behavior therapy help individuals to achieve a remission and prevent a relapse of workers. Most of them in sessions was involved assisting individuals in solving problems and teaching or suggestion them to modify their negative thinking, distressing affect, and dysfunctional behavior. The therapists using treatment base on the basis of a cognitive formulation of humans' disorders and connecting individualized cognitive (Beck, 1995). The goals of cognitive behavior therapy is using at the beginning of treatment. It can help human' disorders understand how they will be able to reach their goals and feel better. At every session, it helps human' disorder solve problems that are of greatest stressor. The important parts of each session include a mood check, between sessions, sequencing an agenda, discussing specific problems and teaching skills in the context of solving these problems, setting of self-help assignments, summary, and feedback. Goal of cognitive behavior therapy can help individual, families and friend bring about coping, moreover, who can changes behavior or thinking as follows; (Townend, 2008)

1. Changing behavior include being more appropriate expression;

2. Changing feelings include motivate or being less fearful;

3. Changing thought patterns include identification automatic thought, solve problems, positive or negative thinking; and

4. Improving coping include self-esteem, avoidance or dealing panic.

The cognitive behavior therapy used to understand how life events and experiences bring to the core beliefs, underlying assumptions, and coping strategies, particularly in human' disorders. Which is educative, and human are taught cognitive, behavioral, and emotional regulation skill. This study, the cognitive behavior therapy essentially involves helping an individual and group think in more effective ways and aims to uncover the irrational and problematic thinking styles that often accompany psychological process. The goal of cognitive intervention in this study that first priority focus is to thinking patterns change and self-defeating cognitions that link to respectively action for feelings change, changing of behavior and improving coping. Simple to learn cognitive strategies provide street sweepers with practical and powerful skills that can be applies over a lifetime as effective tools in life management for improving occupational related musculoskeletal discomfort, increasing muscular strength and endurance and also contribute to increase awareness of self-practices and appropriate safety behaviors among street sweepers in Chiang Rai municipality.

2.3.5 Benefits of cognitive behavior therapy

Cognitive behavior therapy is a generally form of psychological treatment that short-term to help people to understand the thoughts or feelings with influence behaviors (Cherry, 2005). According to the British Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Psychotherapies (2005), cognitive behavior therapy focused on helping peoples resolve with a very specific problem and focuses on the actual behaviors that are contributing to the problem such as people learn how to identify event of life and change destructive thought patterns that have a negative influence on behavior. In addition, cognitive behavior therapy is one method to use specifically with change on the thought or feeling of people and outcome can be measured relatively easily. Cherry (2005) reported that the cognitive behavior therapy is also a greatest benefit measurement for helping people to develop coping skills and emotion that can be useful both now and in the future. Due to cognitive behavior therapy is many benefits technique as follows; (Torres et al., 2007)

1. Development of positive thinking, which helps to handle certain situations. It helps to change pattern of management and become less likely to engage in destructive.

2. Enhancement of self-esteem for many people, low self-esteem is one of the primary factors underlying on themselves. Cognitive behavioral therapy can help improving their self-image. As their self-esteem blossoms, they will no longer desire nor feel the need to engage in behaviors that are self-destructive. Constantly reinforcing a person's self-worth will help them start to believe that they truly deserve a better life than the one they currently have.

3. Learning to resist peer pressure

Peer pressure can be difficult for many people to resist are particularly vulnerable. During cognitive behavioral therapy, they will learn to practice new behaviors that will help them reach their desired goals. With regards to peer pressure, they might first imagine themselves followed by practicing doing so in a controlled setting. This will prepare them to resist when others pressure them to use. Ultimately, they'll feel more and more confident doing this in real life situations as they present themselves.

4. Cost effectiveness

Cognitive behavioral therapy is often chosen for treatment, it helps to significantly reduce the cost of treatment. It is also often covered by medical insurance plans as well.

5. Continuity of normal activities

Cognitive behavioral therapy is often conducted on people basis, those who are continuity of normal activities and can keep up their daily routines. Cognitive behavioral therapy has many benefits that play a significant role in helping them to successfully overcome unhealthy habits and behaviors. Additionally, many people have also found that the tenets of cognitive behavioral therapy can be applied with great benefit to other aspects of their life as well.

2.4 Stretching exercises

2.4.1 Concept of stretching exercises

Stretching is important to offer benefits that strengthen muscle and can also be performed by oneself. Stretching exercises are effective to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort and pain related to static posture and repetitive movement (da Costa & Vieira, 2008). Moreover, the effectiveness of stretching can increase power activities and strengthen to prevent muscle injury and soreness (Lavender, Conrad, Reichelt, Kohok, & Gacki-Smith, 2007; Rubini, Costa, & Gomes, 2007). According to Valachi and Valachi (2003) stretching the muscles helps to remain strong and healthy. Stretching is the action to perform a particular exercise for improving flexibility and joint range of motion; it is traditionally considered the joint range of motion that can be measured (Magnusson & Renström, 2006). Stretching exercises are effective ways to reduce muscle discomfort associated with prolonged use or static postures. Exercises should be conducted at regular intervals and should not wait until discomfort appears. For instance, people who work on intensive tasks (e.g., data entry) should stop working in every 30 minutes to perform stretching exercise. Normally, stretches should be starting out easy and can be performed regularly. Stretching exercises is one type to reduce muscle discomfort and to prevent muscles injury/illness and improve performance (Magnusson & Renström, 2006). A fundamental of stretching exercises affects the mechanical properties of the musculoskeletal discomfort.

2.4.2 Type of stretching exercise

Stretching exercise has to apply different types of stretching techniques to improve muscle strength and flexibility. Different types of stretching are listed below; (Odunaiya, Hamzat, & Ajayi, 2005)

1. Static Stretching

Static stretching refers to a stretch which is held in a challenging a fitness class when instructor leads at the end of a class. This static stretching involves extending a body part to its farthest position, usually somewhere between 10 to 30 seconds of duration. It does not involve bouncing or rapid movements, just a mild, painless pulling sensation. Static stretching is the most common form of stretching found in general fitness and is considered safe and effective for improving overall flexibility. However, many experts consider static stretching much less beneficial than dynamic stretching for improving range of motion for functional movement, including sports and activities for daily living.

2. Passive Stretching

Passive stretching is similar to static stretching, except that using some sort of outside assistance or partner provides the force to stretch the muscle. Passive stretching relieves muscle spasms and helps reducing muscle fatigue and soreness after a workout.

3. Dynamic Stretching

Dynamic stretching involves controlled swinging of the arms and legs that gently takes them to the limits of their range of motion. Here, parts of the body are moved with gradually increasing speed, reach or both, usually 10 to 12 times. Although dynamic stretching requires more thoughtful coordination than static stretching (because of the movement involved), it is gaining favor among athletes, coaches, trainers, and physical therapists because of its apparent benefits in improving functional range of motion and mobility in sports and activities for daily living. Moreover, dynamic stretching is controlled, smooth, and deliberate, whereas ballistic stretching is uncontrolled, erratic, and jerky. Although there are unique benefits to ballistic stretches, they should be done only under the supervision of a professional because, for most people, the risks of ballistic stretching far outweigh the benefits.

4. Ballistic Stretching

Ballistic stretching forces a body part to go beyond its normal range of motion by making it bounce to a stretched position. It increases range of motion and triggers the muscle's stretch reflex. Performing ballistic stretching can make you more susceptible to injury. Only highly conditioned and competent athletes preparing for strenuous activity should employ it. This type of stretching is not considered useful and can lead to injury. It does not allow your muscles to adjust to, and relax in, the stretched position.

5. Active Isolated Stretching

Active isolated stretching is most commonly used by professionals: athletes, trainers, massage therapists and others. To complete at active isolated stretch, you reach a certain position and hold it steady without any assistance other than the strength of your own muscles. Kick a leg up high, for example, and hold it up in that extended posture. Active isolated stretching works with natural physiological processes to increase muscle and fascia elasticity and improve circulation.

6. Isometric Stretching

In isometric stretching, a muscle is stretched into position, resist the stretch. Isometric stretching is the safest and most effective method for increasing the joints' range of motion, and it strengthens tendons and ligaments while retaining their flexibility.

7. Proprioceptive Neuromuscular Facilitation

Proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation combines isometric, static and passive stretching to foster a high level of flexibility. Performing by passively stretching a muscle; isometrically contracting, it against resistance in the stretched position; and passively stretching it through, the resulting increased range of motion. It is an advanced form of flexibility training that also helps improve strength.

In this study, types of stretch was static stretching exercise due to the most common form of stretching found in general fitness, considered safe and effective for improving overall flexibility and reducing musculoskeletal discomfort. Duration of stretching exercise on body part was 30 seconds in the study.

2.4.3 Duration

According to Kay and Blazevich (2012) significant percentage of stretching performance duration in increasing muscle strength are 14% as stretching duration < 30 seconds, 22% as stretching duration 30-45 seconds, 61% as stretching duration 60-120 seconds, 63% as stretching duration > 120 seconds. However, Chan et al (2001) founded that static stretching individual with hamstrings for any time for a period of 15 and 120 seconds under protocol of 8 weeks can be effective in improving flexibility of hamstrings. Whereas a 30 and 60 second stretch had been reported to be more effective than a 15 second stretch (Bandy, Irion, & Briggler, 1998).

2.4.4 Safety exercise

- 1. Warm-up your muscles before you start stretching (e.g. walking in place)
- 2. Wear comfortable clothing (clothing should not limit movement)
- 3. Stretch to a point of feel mild discomfort, not pain.
- 4. No bouncing
- 5. Hold stretches for 10-30 seconds

- 6. Shake out limbs between stretches
- 7. Repeat each stretch 2-3 times
- 8. Do not hold your breath when stretching.
- 9. Do stretching exercises at least 2-3 times a week.

2.4.5 Benefits of stretching

Stretching exercises are easy, safety and also do not need many of accessories and is low cost for workers. To have main benefit, workers need to exercise at least 2-3 times a week. This frequent stretch can prevent physiological changes and injury from occurring to muscles and other tissues (Rovinelli & Hambleton, 1976). Key benefits of stretching are listed below:

- 1. Reduce muscle tension;
- 2. Decreases risk of injury;
- 3. Improve flexibility;
- 4. Improve circulation or increase blood flow to muscles;
- 5. Reduce anxiety, stress and fatigue;
- 6. Improve muscle coordination;
- 7. Improve physical performance;
- 8. Enhances enjoyment of physical activities; and

9. Increase range of motion and endurance.

Stretches should be performed for the entire body and focus on the movement patterns that are opposite to the habitual positions experienced during work (Sanders & Turcotte, 1997). Moreover, stretching exercise can effect physiological that help contributing to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort and pain (da Costa & Vieira, 2008).

2.5 Foam sleeve

A foam sleeve was a device creates for applications which require extra hand grip and need to prolong handle tool such as safety bars, fitness equipment and long broom handle (GripWorks, 2011). According to California Department of Industrial Relations (2005), it was added foam sleeve in the handle can be reducing pressure on handle and feel more comfortable to use. Moreover, Grip Work (2011) recommended that the smooth foam tubes are appropriate and simple to use as it feels comfortable while relieving pressure on the hand. Using tools with foam sleeve handles will provide a comfortable cushioned feel, no-slip grip and greater efficiency hand grip (California Department of Industrial Relations, 2005). These straight foam tubes had a shiny exterior surface and are popular on long handle tools, rakes, brooms and u-shaped handle bars (GripWorks, 2011). Sizes of foam sleeve tubes can be used in practically any handles inside diameter. In addition, almost applications indicated that using handle grips are 0.125", which smaller than the handle that can be covering. The foam sleeve tubes have difference sizes that provide fit foam tube for instrument. Length of foam sleeve tubes are no mechanical limitations as a foam tube can be adjusted to fit the length of equipment or tool, the maximum length was approximately 25" (GripWorks, 2011)

Therefore, the foam sleeve hand grip was applied to add handle broom among intervention group in this study. This study was designed to add a smooth foam sleeve on handle broom with expectation to reduce pressure compression on the hand, protect nonslip handles and increase comfortable on a hand-grip of the broom for street sweepers. The researcher was providing approximately 45 centimeter length of smooth foam sleeve for adding on handle broom and free foam sleeve was provided.

Chulalongkorn University

Figure 11 Foam sleeve



Source: (GripWorks, 2011)

Figure 12 Add a foam sleeve over the broom handle



Source: Safe work practices for street sweepers: Booklet (Pintakham & Siriwong, 2015)

2.6 Relevant research to relate of this study

Street sweeper

Theerawanichtrakul and Sithisarankul (2014) investigated the prevalence and related factors of musculoskeletal discomfort among road sweepers in Bangkok. A cross-sectional study, the participants conducted multi-stage random sampling were 273 road sweepers. The questionnaires include personal factors, occupational factors musculoskeletal discomfort modified from Nordic musculoskeletal and questionnaire. Brooms and basket bins were weighed and broom handle length was measured. Handgrip strength test was done in every road sweeper. Results showed that the prevalence of overall MSD were 79.12% of 7 day and 85.71% of 12 months. Shoulders were the most and knees were the second prevalent sites of MSD. Sickness absence due to overall MSD was 11.72%. The factors related of musculoskeletal discomfort significant were housework and work duration of 21-40 years. The researchers suggested that it is necessary to carry out the prevention program of MSD among road sweepers in Bangkok.

Losakul (2007) examined the health status and health promoting behaviors among street sweepers in Hatyai municipal, Songkhla province. A cross sectional study 181 street sweepers was conducted July to August 2006. Findings showed health status related to work were 79.00% of muscle strain and fatigue, 51.93% of headache, 41.99% of eyes irritations, 28.73% of cough with phlegm or nose irritations, 24.86% of tinnitus, 24.86% of stress, and 18.23% of cuts and injuries. Health promoting behavior including exercise, nutrition, work safety and accident prevention, stress management was found that 67.95% at a moderate level. Interpersonal relationship was found that 45.00- 77.00% at a moderate level. The researchers suggested that occupational health nurses should be aware to protect themselves and a systematic development of health behavior for safety work on workers.

Lee, Myong, Jeong, Jeong, and Koo (2007) evaluated the musculoskeletal symptomatic features among street cleaners of municipalities in Seoul and GyeongGi Province, Korea. A cross sectional study 315 street cleaners are concern of musculoskeletal symptom during 2 weeks of September 2006. The measurement tools used the questionnaires were consisted of general characteristics, occupational and musculoskeletal symptoms, and used the REBA for observed and evaluated their movement and posture on work. Results showed that 43.2% of musculoskeletal symptoms on upper limb among street cleaners. The REBA indicated that over high risk stage in street cleaners. Street cleaners were complained musculoskeletal symptoms due to more repetitive motions on upper limbs. The researcher suggests that it is necessary for conduct the program to prevent or reduce musculoskeletal symptoms among street cleaners such as job rotation, stretching exercise, reducing work hours and using automatic street sweepers are helpful to prevent of musculoskeletal symptoms on the upper limb.

Boonchoo (2005) conducted the prevalence of lung factors among street sweepers who work in inner and outer region of Bangkok Metropolis. A random used two-step sampling proportional to size. The measurement tool use an interview questionnaire, air sampling, and spirometer for pulmonary function test. Results showed that the mean FVC and FEF25-75% of the street sweepers in the Rattanakosin group are significantly lower than the Srinakarin group. Moreover, the prevalence of lung abnormality was 29.74% in the Rattanakosin group and 15.95% in Srinakarin group.

Musculoskeletal discomfort

Korhan (2012) reported that symptoms and frequency of work related musculoskeletal discomfort in the shoulder due to computer use. Findings showed that the prevalent discomfort of shoulder were 46.15% of experienced ache, 34.62% of experienced pain, 17.69% of experienced heaviness, 9.23% experienced of tightness, 8.46% of experienced weakness, 6.15% of experienced cramp, 3.85% of experienced numbness, 2.31% of experienced hot and cold, and 1.54% of experienced swelling. The study was significant findings discomfort related shoulder during computer use; ache and pain are the common types in the shoulder.

Kolstrup (2012) investigated the work-related musculoskeletal discomfort of dairy farmers and employed workers in Sweden. The measurement tool used general Standardized Nordic Questionnaire for analyses nine different on body parts of perceived musculoskeletal discomfort and ergonomic work factors questionnaire for analyses perceived physical discomfort. Results showed that the most frequently of work-related musculoskeletal discomfort among farmers were 50% of lower back, 47% of shoulders, 33% of neck, 23% elbows and 21% of feet. The farm workers were 43% of lower back, 43% of shoulders, 41% of hands/wrist. The reported of female farmers and farm workers both were significantly higher frequencies more than their male. In addition, female workers had significantly higher reported frequencies of the ergonomic work factor as causing physically discomfort from 50% of repetitive and 16% of monotonous work.

Ghasemkhani, Mahmudi, and Jabbari (2008) examined musculoskeletal discomfort on 75 workers were consisted of 18 packing, 18 boxing, 19 manufacturing and 20 filling workers. A cross-sectional study used the standardized Nordic questionnaires for analysis the prevalence of musculoskeletal symptoms. Findings showed that musculoskeletal symptoms were 44.0% of the low back, 33.3% of shoulders and 32.0% of neck. The prevalence were stronger significantly associated between muscle pain (neck, shoulders and wrists/hands) and musculoskeletal symptoms. The researcher suggested that the hazards of musculoskeletal related to discomfort postures and repetitive movements that can be reduced or controls with engineering, administrative and stretching exercises.

Training

Das et al (2013) reported the effectiveness of occupational health awareness intervention among female sweepers working under the Midnapore municipality of west Bengal, India. Results showed that a considerable increase in the awareness levels and preventive approaches of diseases among the women sweepers. Overall health knowledge increased significantly post-awareness stage than pre-awareness stage (P<0.001). The study concluded that positive affect of awareness level the female sweepers which may change their health habits.

Mahmud, Kenny, Zein, & Hassan (2011) indicated that the effects of ergonomic training on musculoskeletal complaints, sickness absence, and psychological well-being. The study conducted a cluster randomized control trial designed at 6 and 12 months as the experimental groups received office ergonomic training and the control groups no received training. The experiment group was conducted via a course train by the National Institute of Safety and Health (NIOSH) for 1 day which consisted of 2 sessions. The first session (9.00 am to 1.00 pm) focused on the training of relationship between musculoskeletal discomforts and office ergonomics, improve office ergonomics or adjustments of workstations, stretching exercises and the importance of break time. The second session (2.00 pm to 4.30 pm) involved a practical training such as the trainers visited participants on workstations and suggested suggestion on how to adjust workstations effectively. Moreover, the control groups received a leaflet consisting of an office ergonomic diagram, tips on how to take a break, how to reduce their workload, and stretching exercises. Results showed that significant reductions in neck and upper and lower back complaints among workers. In addition, the ergonomics training can be useful to reduce musculoskeletal risks factors and stress of workers.

Amick III et al (2003) reported the ergonomics intervention to reduce musculoskeletal symptoms among office workers. The study was designed into three groups; a group only training, a group receives office ergonomics training and a highly adjustable chair; and a control group. The investigated the symptom and body pain was 2 months and the intervention conducted at 2, 6, and 12 months. Resulted shown that the lowered symptom over the workday on ergonomics training with chair intervention (P=0.012) after 12 months of follow-up. No evidence indicated that lowered symptom over the workday on only training (P = 0.461). The average pain levels in both groups were reduced over the workday. Conclusion indicated that a highly adjustable chair and office ergonomics training on workers had reduced symptom growth over the workday. The lack of a training-only group effect supports implementing training in conjunction with highly adjustable office furniture and equipment to reduce symptom growth. The ability to reduce symptom growth has implications for understanding how to prevent musculoskeletal injuries in knowledge workers.

Stretching

Methatip and Yuktanandana (2011) conducted the chronic neck complaint 60 female office among computer users. The volunteers were workers who using computer more than 4 hours per day and had not been treated by physiotherapy and/or medicine program. The study was designed short break neck stretching exercise and relaxation breathing of 4-week. Stretching exercise group was focused in cervical erector spine and both upper trapezius at 30 seconds for 3 times. The breathing exercise was diaphragmatic deep breathing for relaxation 5 minutes. Results found that it significantly reduced pain score in both groups after 4 weeks. The stretching group reduced VAS from 42.83 ± 22.20 to 19.33 ± 20.37 (p<0.001). Conclusion: The effects of stretching or breathing exercise as a short break exercise at work twice a day in 4 weeks program provided decreased pain level and increased quality of life. The stretching exercise potentially improved muscle fatigability of the neck muscles in the non-dominant side.

Rahnama, Bambaeichi, and Ryasati (2010) evaluated the effect of eight weeks corrective exercise with ergonomic intervention on musculoskeletal disorders among Loabiran Industry Workers. The study conducted 91 workers for exercise program at 8 weeks consist are 3 sessions per week and each session 45 to 90 minutes. The Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire was used to study the prevalence of MSD. Resulted found that a significant difference between part of body was found (P < 0.05); low back (26.3 %), shoulder (18.9 %) and knee (17 %) were the most prevalent sites. The severity and rate of disorders decreased significantly following 8-weeks training in low back, shoulder, knee, neck and hand/wrist areas (P < 0.05). This concluded that prevalence of MSD among workers of Loabiran industry was relatively high and corrective exercise program was effective to decrease it. Therefore, corrective exercise for reducing risk level would be recommended.

Jepsen and Thomsen (2008) reported the effects of stretching exercise to prevent upper limb disorders among computer operators 184 workers. The stretching intervention focused on four different right arm regions includes the volar forearm flexors, the pronator muscle, the median nerve and the radial nerve. Findings showed the experiment was consisted of self-reported pain levels and neurological findings. The study found that a significant improvement of upper limb disorders among computer operators.

Da Costa and Vieira (2008) reviewed studies stretching exercise to reduce work related musculoskeletal disorder from nine databases and approximately 334 references include PubMed, AMED, Cinahl, Medline, EMBASE, PASCAL, Science Direct, Scopus and web of Science databases. Results showed that the physiological effects of stretching exercise are effective to prevent or reduce work related musculoskeletal disorders. In addition, the stretching exercise can contribute to reduce discomfort and pain. The effectiveness of demonstrated stretching exercise help to reduce of work related musculoskeletal disorders.

Multidimensional intervention

M. M. Robertson and O'Neill (2003) evaluated the effect of an office ergonomic workplace and provided training intervention to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort, at the same time increase knowledge and awareness. This quasi experimental study conducted with two intervention groups, group one received a training ergonomic practice and adjustable workstation, group two received adjustable workstation only. The control group did not receives either the training or adjustable workstation in this study. The work environment survey, ergonomic knowledge, Standardized Nordic questionnaire were used to measure the data. Results were found that office ergonomics knowledge and skills were significantly increased. Moreover, this increase was significantly in the last 3 months. The percentage reduction of musculoskeletal discomfort between 1st time and 2nd time was 5% in control group, 27% in adjustable workstation only group, and 46% in training ergonomic practice and adjustable workstation group.

Linton, Boersma, Jansson, Svärd, and Botvalde (2005) reported that the effect of cognitive-behavioral and physical therapy preventive interventions could reduce pain and sick leave. The samples were 158 patients with back or neck pain, who were conducting a cognitive-behavioral and preventive physical therapy that focused on activity and exercise. The results indicated significantly fewer frequencies in pain and sick leave among intervention group during the 12-month follow-up. This study showed that adding cognitive-behavioral intervention and preventive physical therapy could enhance the prevention of long-term disability.

M. Robertson et al. (2009) studied 219 workers participated an office ergonomics training and chair intervention among worker in public sector department of revenue services, who involved collecting tax revenues. Work Environment and Health (WEH) survey, Office Environment Assessment observational tool, Rapid Upper Limb Assessment (RULA, and office ergonomics workshop evaluation were used at 1 month and at 2, 6, and 12 months follow-up. The study indicated the significant increase of an ergonomic knowledge, higher level behavioral translation, and lower musculoskeletal risk. The findings recommended that the office ergonomics training and an adjustable chair were able to appropriate increased knowledge and decreased musculoskeletal risk.

2.7 Conceptual Framework

According to a review of related literature, this can be contributed to occur of musculoskeletal discomfort which included three factors: socio-demographic factors; personal factors; and working factors. Fujishiro et al., recommended that the multidimensional ergonomic intervention model was more effective than single interventions (Fujishiro et al., 2005).

Figure 13 Conceptual Framework of the Study



CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

This chapter was focused on the methodology which involves the effectiveness of the multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model on reducing of musculoskeletal discomfort, improving of muscular strength and endurance, and increasing of awareness of safe work practice among street sweepers. The research was divided into 12 parts as follows;

- 3.1 Research Design
- 3.2 Study Area
- 3.3 Study Period
- 3.4 Study Population
 - 3.4.1 Population
 - 3.4.2 Inclusion Criteria
 - 3.4.3 Exclusion Criteria
 - 3.4.4 Sample Size and Sampling Technique
- 3.5 Intervention Program
- 3.6 Measurement Tools
 - 3.6.1 Musculoskeletal Discomfort Assessment (MSDA)
 - 3.6.2 Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA)
 - 3.6.3 Awareness Safety Practice of MSD (ASPMSD)
 - 3.6.4 Physical exam
 - 3.6.5 Physical performance
 - 3.6.6 Reliability and Validity Test
- 3.7 Data Collection
- 3.8 Data Analysis
- 3.9 Ethical Consideration
- 3.10 Limitation
- 3.11 Generalizability

3.1 Research design

The research design was conducted a quasi-experiment, pre- test and posttest. The study was divided similarly into 2 groups: intervention; and control group. An intervention group where the multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model was implemented, in contrast the control group where the multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model was not implemented. Assessment was conducted at baseline, at the end of the model (12th weeks) and 1st follow up (16th weeks), 2nd follow up (20th weeks), 3th follow up (24th weeks) and 4th follow up (28th weeks) as follows in figure 14;

Figure 14 Diagram of research design



3.2 Study Area

The study area was Chiang Rai province which was located in the northern Thailand. The study setting was in Chiang Rai municipality which encompasses-4 subdistricts including Wiang, Robe Wiang, Rimkok and Sansai. Chiang Rai municipality was selected for four reasons: first reason as it has high prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomforts among street sweepers, the second reason it is the most biggest in size in Chiang Rai province and among street sweepers who received income under municipality, the third it lacks ergonomics training prevent health risk among sweepers and the fourth there is a feasibility to do a research. Therefore, the study was expected to test a role model and develop the model that lead to reduce and prevent musculoskeletal health problems among street sweepers in Thailand. The study was conducted into two groups: an intervention group; and a control group by geographic areas. Therefore, simple random was divided into two group, an intervention and control groups. The intervention group was Robe Wiang and Sansai sub -districts. The control group was Wiang and Rimkok sub-districts. Moreover, this study was separated part of activity and meeting among street sweepers, intervention group was conducted at Wat Dong Nong Ped crematorium and control group was conducted at Den Ha crematorium. The both area were approximately 4 kilometers apart which would prevent an interaction between intervention and control groups. The place of this study was supported and suggested from Chiang Rai municipality. The areas of this study are shown in table 15 below.



3.3 Study Period

In this study, the total time period of conducting the multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model was 7 months (28th weeks), provide of model at 3 months (12 weeks) and follow up of post intervention model every month at 16th weeks, 20th weeks, 24th weeks and 28th weeks. The research study was started on September, 2014 until April, 2015.

3.4 Study Population and sample size

3.4.1 Population and sample size

The populations in this study were street sweepers who are working full time at Chiang Rai municipality in Chiang Rai province. Eligible target populations were selected to participate in the total of 75 street sweepers and they are voluntary participants in the study. Hence, no sample size calculation require in this study due to conduct all 75 street sweepers in this study area was participated. The volunteers were assessed musculoskeletal discomfort by physiotherapist; result of assessing was come out as musculoskeletal discomfort scores.

Table 1 Population in Chiang Rai municipality

Sub district	Wiang	Robe Wiang	Rimkok	Sansai
Street sweepers	20	20	18	17

3.4.2 Inclusion criteria

1. Both male and female aged 18-60 years

- 2. Working full time
- 3. Work experience at least one year.
- 4. Having musculoskeletal discomfort score ≥ 4 based on physiotherapist
- 5. No medical history of prohibition of the stretching exercise
- 6. Willing to participate in study

3.4.3 Exclusion criteria

1. Having history of musculoskeletal during the study, such as arm or leg broken, etc.

2. Cannot participate throughout the study

3.4.4 Participants and sampling technique

In this study, the eligible participants were 75 street sweepers from Chiang Rai municipality. These voluntary participants were conducted a screening process on musculoskeletal discomfort of having level score \geq 4 by physiotherapist. The participants were recruited with inclusion and exclusion criteria and get the program information from staff of municipality. After that the researcher was provide information and consent form before taking part in this program. The participants were in separated zone for activities, the intervention group was implemented at Wat Dong Nong Ped crematorium and the control group was conducted at Den Ha crematorium. Generally, the nature of street sweepers was required to work in the area that responsible for in the morning and afternoon. They were decided time of working by themselves with condition that their responsible area must be clean and completed. Therefore, it was very few opportunities for them to meet and discuss about the program of this study due to distance and work-time.

The participants were participated in the multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model for the period of 7 months (28th weeks). The researcher had consulted that drop-out rate with municipality staffs and found that there was a very minimum chance for drop-out rate due to working nature of street sweepers who have time and are willing to participate throughout the study. Moreover, this study was conducted the activities which was not interfere with their daily life work of participants and the model was being supervised and controlled by municipality staff. However, the researcher was expected to have a drop-out rate less than 10% of accidence due to illness or inevitable incident. Participant chart was drawing in the Figure 16 below:

Figure 16 Participants and sampling technique



3.5 Intervention Program

The multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model was created from above literature review suggesting that combination technique intervention can be effective more than single interventions (Fujishiro et al., 2005). The study was integrated the cognitive behavior therapy, ergonomic education training, stretching exercise and add foam sleeve handle grip in this model. Expect benefits to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort, improve muscular strength and endurance, and increase awareness safe work practice related occupational musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers. In addition, the duration of times in implementing the multidimensional interventions is shorter than the single intervention, as described in Figure 17 and 18 below:


Figure 17 Multidimensional Ergonomic Intervention (MEI) model

Figure 18 Diagram of intervention model



The MEI model was conducted in four domains as follows;

1. Training

The training or education model can help a long way to increase safety awareness on worker to perform on their jobs and can protect or improve risk factors of MSD (Dudley & Delong, 2001). This study was designed into two groups; staff and participants group. The staff team includes the psychiatric nurse, physiotherapist, sports scientist, team from Chiang Rai municipality and students on bachelor degree of occupational health. The participants are recruited with inclusion and exclusion criteria of street sweepers in Chiang Rai municipality. The participants were conducted to train approximately one hour, stretching exercise approximately 30 minute at Wat Dong Nong Ped crematorium supported by municipality staff. The training was use the cognitive behavior theory to change thought that lead to prevent and increase awareness on health among street sweepers. Details of provided training participants will receive include three components as below;

1. Cognitive behavior therapy by psychiatric nurse.

1.1 Cognitive behavior therapy related to self-practice MSD.

1.2 Concept of thinking, self-esteem and coping skill related MSD.

1.3 The effect to changes you though related ergonomic safety practice MSD.

2. Ergonomics education training by occupational nurse.

2.1 Health risk among street sweepers

2.2 Hazardous street sweeping affects the musculoskeletal discomfort

2.3 Consequences of musculoskeletal discomfort

2.4 Musculoskeletal discomfort can be prevented

2.5 Ergonomic safety practice such as safety working practice, posture of work and measurement tool for working condition.

3. Stretching exercise by sports scientist.

3.1 Benefits of stretching exercise.

3.2 Safety consideration of stretching exercise.

3.3 Step of stretching exercise

2. Demonstrate

This study was demonstrated to complement training on correct working posture and stretching exercise. The demonstration was taking step by step to allow greater understanding for participated workers. Moreover, the demonstration was helped to increase correct practice which they could apply to their daily work practice (Torma-Krajewski, Steiner, Unger, & Wiehagen, 2011). The information in each demonstration includes as follows;

2.1 Purpose of the demonstration

2.2 List of suggested supplies needed to conduct the demonstration

2.3 Step-by-step demonstration for safe work practice and stretching exercise.

2.4 Take messages that should be emphasized during the demonstration

3. Booklet

This study was designed a booklet to review and understand on street sweepers. The information of training was involved an ergonomic safety practice such as measurement tool for working condition, safety working practice, posture of work, and stretching exercise to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort in workplace and provide easy language that all workers can understand. Moreover, the booklet was used pictures to provide the activities due to limit education on street sweepers in Chiang rai municipality. The detail was provided in the booklet as follows;

1. Measurement tool for working condition includes booms and dustpan.

2. Safety working practice includes repetitive movement by sweeping stand and walks for responsibility sweeping area and bends down position)

3. Stretching exercise related to work condition includes;

- Wrist and hand: Repetitive movement by sweeping
- Shoulder and arm: Repetitive movement by sweeping
- Back pain: Bends down position
- Leg and feet: Stand and walks for responsibility sweeping area in daily working.

4. Foam sleeve on broom handle

This study was received free foam sleeve for adding on broom handle. The 45 centimeter length of smooth foam tube was provided. The researcher was supported foam sleeve broom handle grip for conducting the experiment in this study.

The intervention MEI model

This study was divided into 2 groups, staff and participants. The staff was provided the information about the MEI model as they were helped to the success and sustainability of the model. The participants were provided and conduct the MEI model as follows;

1. Staff

In the beginning of conducting the study model, a researcher was provided the staff the overall information for their understanding of the intervention activities by introducing the model such as objective, reasons of this study, selecting participants, and inclusion and exclusion criteria of participants. Then, each of them was assigned to take responsibilities on different part of the intervention.

The purpose of information the staff;

To understand and corresponding of activities.

The staffs of this study are;

1. Psychiatric nurse

The researcher was provided the objective of model for training to street sweepers. The psychiatric nurse was integrated between the cognitive behavior theory and ergonomic safety practice for motivating on street sweeper to reduce and protect of musculoskeletal discomfort. Moreover, they were helped to change beliefs, behavior thinking patterns, and awareness safety practice on workers.

2. Physiotherapist

The researcher was provided the objective model for screening musculoskeletal discomfort on the physiotherapist. Physiotherapist was screened the participants by using physical exam technique and interview to test musculoskeletal discomfort score.

3. Sports scientist

The researcher was provided the objective model for testing physical performance and training stretch exercise by sports scientist. Sports scientist was demonstrated stretching exercise and take -care the street sweepers before and after the intervention. The sports scientist was helped to test the physical performance on workers.

4. Team from Chiang Rai municipality

The researcher was provided introduction and overview of research study. They are assistance observer on any activities for training and demonstration to street sweepers. However, they are leaders within group for stretching exercise training and maintenance the activities on street sweepers. They were helped to provide the model for sustainability on the workplace and resolved any the problem during the intervention until the end of the study.

5. Students on bachelor degree of occupational health who are the researcher assistant for recording video among street sweepers are working on field and stretching exercise training.

2. Participants

The participants group was received the multidimensional ergonomics intervention model. The model was integrated the education training, cognitive behavior therapy, stretching exercise and add foam sleeve over broom handle for improving work-related musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers. The foam sleeve handle grip was supported for free for the participants. The model was taken approximately 28th week by providing the intervention model at 12th weeks and follow up four times at 16th weeks, 20th weeks, 24th weeks and 28th weeks. Moreover, the model was designed to follow up every month after intervention as at 1st month, 2nd months, 3th months and 4th months. The evaluation was showed that the periods of time and trend musculoskeletal change. This study was conducted the activities without interfering street sweepers' daily work as they work for a period of time in the morning and afternoon. The intervention was conducted on free time of street sweepers between 10.00-11.00 am. at Wat Dong Nong Ped crematorium.

This place was supported by municipality, it was conducted the convenience to travel, spacious to conduct activities and have facilities for participants.

The intervention for participants in this study

The purposes of training course:

1. To motivate the knowledge and practice for cognitive behavior therapy to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort and improve physical performance.

2. To motivate positive feeling and increase awareness on self-practices and safety behavior ergonomic related occupational health among street sweepers.

3. To evaluate the model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort, improve physical performance, and increase awareness self-practices among street sweepers.

At the beginning of program, the voluntary participants were described the intervention model: introduction and overview of the model such as objective, reasons of this study, inclusion and exclusion criteria of participants. The intervention model was presented as follows;

Session/ Week	Purpose	Learning process, Methods, Material and Duration time	Lecturer/ Trainer/ Evaluation	
1	-To motivate the	Learning process	Lecturer/	
(1 st Week)	knowledge and	- Introduction and overview of	Trainer/	
Start	practice for	model for activities	- Researcher	
baseline	cognitive behavior	- Health risk among street		
	therapy to reduce	sweepers.		
	musculoskeletal	- Hazardous street sweeping	Evaluation	
	discomfort and	affects the MSD.	- Question	
	improve physical	- Consequences of MSD.	and answer.	
	performance.	- MSD can be prevented	- Describe.	
	- To motivate	- Ergonomic safety practice	- Discussion.	
	positive feeling and	such as safety working		
	increase awareness	practice, posture of work and		
	on self-practices	measurement tool for working		
	and safety behavior	condition.		
	ergonomic related	- Provide foam sleeve handle		
	occupational health	grip free		
	among street	<u>Methods, Material</u>		
	sweepers.	- Power point		
		- Guideline book		
		- Sharing experience.		
		- Discussion and question		
		Duration time		
		- 1 hours. (10.00-11.00 am.)		

Table 2 The intervention information and training model for participants

Session/	Learning process, Methods,		E se la settie se
Week	Purpose	Material and Duration time	Evaluation
2	-To evaluate the	Learning process	Lecturer/
(2 nd Weeks)	model to reduce	- Cognitive behavior therapy	Trainer/
	musculoskeletal	related to self-practice of MSD.	- Psychiatric
	discomfort, improve	- Concept of thinking, self-	nurse
	physical	esteem and coping skill	-Sport
	performance, and	related MSD.	scientist
	increase awareness	- The effect to changes you	
	self-practices	though related ergonomic	
	among street	safety practice of MSD.	Evaluation
	sweepers	- Stretching exercise related to	- Question
		work condition includes;	and answer.
		- Wrist and hand	- Describe.
	1/18	- Shoulder and	- Discussion.
		- Back pain	-Demonstrate
		- Leg and feet	
		<u>Methods, Material</u>	
	จุหาลงกา	- Power point	
	CHULALONG	- Guideline book	
		- Sharing experience.	
		- Demonstrate	
		- Booklet	
		Duration time	
		- Training of 1 hours	
		(10.00-11.00 am.)	
		- Stretching exercise of 30	
		minute.	
		(11.00-11.30 am.)(3 times a	
		week)	

Session/		Learning process, Methods,	
Week	Purpose	Material and Duration time	Evaluation
3	-To motivate the	Learning process	Lecturer/
(3 th Weeks)	knowledge and	- Safe work practice includes	Trainer/
	practice for	repetitive movement by	- Researcher
	cognitive behavior	sweeping stand and walks for	-Sport
	therapy to reduce	responsibility sweeping area	scientist
	MSD and improve	and bends down position	
	physical	(theory and demonstrate)	
	performance.	- Measurement tool for	Evaluation
	- To motivate	working condition(theory and	- Question
	positive feeling and	demonstrate)	and answer.
	increase awareness	- Stretching exercise related	- Describe.
	on self-practices	to work condition (theory and	- Discussion.
	and safety behavior	demonstrate)	-Demonstrate
	ergonomic related	Methods, Material	
	occupational health	- Power point	
	among street	- Guideline book, Booklet	
	sweepers.	- Sharing experience.	
	- To evaluate the	- Discussion and question	
	model to reduce	- Demonstrate	
	MSD, improve	Duration time	
	physical	- Training of 1 hours	
	performance, and	(10.00-11.00 am.)	
	increase awareness	- Stretching exercise of 30	
	self-practices	minute.	
	among street	(11.00-11.30 am.) (3 times a	
	sweepers.	week)	

Session/	Dumpere	Learning process, Methods,	Evoluation
Week	Purpose	Material and Duration time	Evaluation
4	-To motivate the	Learning process	Lecturer/
(4 th Weeks)	knowledge and	- Review of safety working	Trainer/
	practice for	practice (demonstrate)	- Researcher
	cognitive behavior	includes repetitive movement	-Sport
	therapy to reduce	by sweeping stand and walks	scientist
	musculoskeletal	for responsibility sweeping	
	discomfort and	area and bends down position	
	improve physical	- Stretching exercise related	Evaluation
	performance.	to work condition (theory and	-Question and
	- To motivate	demonstrate).	answer
	positive feeling and	Methods, Material	-Describe
	increase awareness	- Power point	-Discussion
	on self-practices	- Booklet	-Demonstrate
	and safety behavior	- Sharing experience.	- pre-test and
	ergonomic related	- Brainstorming	post test
	occupational health	- Discussion and question	
	among street	Duration time	
	sweepers.	- Training of 1 hours	
		(10.00-11.00 am.)	
		- Stretching exercise of 30	
		minute.	
		(11.00-11.30 am.)(3 times a	
		week)	

Session/	Dumpere	Learning process, Methods,			
Week	Purpose	Material and Duration time	Evaluation		
5	- To evaluate the	Learning process	Lecturer/		
(5 th -11 th	model to reduce	-Stretching exercise related to	Trainer/		
Weeks)	musculoskeletal	work condition includes;	-Sport		
(3 times a	discomfort, improve	(theory and demonstrate)	scientist		
week)	physical	• Wrist and hand			
	performance, and	 Shoulder and 			
	increase awareness	 Back pain 	Evaluation		
	self-practices	• Leg and feet	- Question		
	among street	Methods Material	and answer.		
	sweepers. - Demonstrate - Booklet		- Describe.		
			- Discussion.		
		- Sharing experience.	-Demonstrate		
	//3	Duration time			
		- 30 minute. (10.00-10.30 am.)			
		(3 times a week)			
	จุฬาลงกา	ณ์มหาวิทยาลัย			

Chulalongkorn University

Session/	Dumpaga	Learning process, Methods,	Evel vetter
Week	Purpose	Material and Duration time	Evaluation
6	-To motivate the	Learning process	Lecturer/
(12 th Weeks)	knowledge and	- Summarize intervention for	Trainer/
	practice for	sustainability (Safe work	- Researcher
	cognitive behavior	practice, measurement tool	-Sport
	therapy to reduce	for working condition and	scientist
	musculoskeletal	Stretching exercise)	
	discomfort and	-Stretching exercise related	
	improve physical	to work condition includes;	Evaluation
	performance.	(theory and demonstrate)	-Question and
	- To motivate	Wrist and hand	answer
	positive feeling and	 Shoulder and 	-Describe
	increase awareness	Back pain	-Discussion
	on self-practices		-Demonstrate
	and safety behavior	• Leg and feet	- pre-test and
	ergonomic related	Methods, Material	post test
	occupational health	- Power point	
	among street	- Booklet	
	sweepers.	- Sharing experience.	
	- To evaluate the	- Brainstorming	
	model to reduce	- Discussion and question	
	MSD, improve	- Demonstrate	
	physical	Duration time	
	performance, and	- 1 hours. (10.00-11.00 am.)	
	increase awareness		
	self-practices		
	among street		
	sweepers.		

For control group

In this study, the inclusion and exclusion criteria of participants were provided the data information and consent form to participate in the model. The participants in control group where the multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model was not implemented. Assessment was conducted at baseline, 12th weeks, 16th weeks, 20th weeks, 24th weeks and 28th weeks as follows;

1. Interview the questionnaire approximately 15-20 minute

2. Physical exam approximately 10 minute by physiotherapist

3. Physical performance approximately 10 minute by sport scientist

4. Record VDO approximately 10 minute at baseline, 12th weeks and 24th weeks.

The time of participation was between 10.00-11.00 am. at the Den Ha crematorium that was not interfered with their work. The place was supported by municipality which had easy access and is spacious to conduct the activities.

The participants were expected benefits and application are;

1. The physiotherapist was investigated musculoskeletal discomfort that to test a discomfort on movement and test of muscle strength can prevent or reduce musculoskeletal discomfort.

2. The sports scientist was tested muscular strength and endurance that they will be aware of their health in the future.

After successful model, the researcher was provided the multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model to this group. Moreover, the participants were got the booklet of an ergonomic safety practice and given to staff municipality for implements on the further.

3.6 Measurement instruments

This study was used measurement tool which consists of three parts as follows:

Parts 1: Questionnaire

The questionnaire was collected by interview and divided into three components including personal factors, working factors, musculoskeletal discomfort, and awareness safe work practice of musculoskeletal discomfort.

1. Personal factors and work factors

The questionnaire was interviewed the participants consist two factors, Personal factors include gender, age, education, marital status, BMI, history of illness, exercise, smoking, alcohol drinking, energetic drink, self- reduction of MSD. Work factors include working years, take a short break, walking distance, number of broom changing per month, length of broom, weight of broom, weight broom and dustpan, proportion(chin height and broom) and proportion(tall and broom).

2. Musculoskeletal Discomfort Assessment (MSDA)

Musculoskeletal Discomfort Assessment was modified base on Standardized Nordic questionnaire (SNQ) from Kilbom et al. (1986) and Kuorinka et al. (1987). The SMQ was one of the standard questionnaires to define musculoskeletal symptom and involvement to work factors (Kuorinka et al., 1987). The structure of SMQ divided in to two components: general questionnaire and special questionnaires. The general questionnaire was indicated that screening to signs and symptom of musculoskeletal troubles occur on body parts. The questionnaire was created with anatomical regions the human body and the map diagram of the body divided into nine regions (Kilbom et al., 1986; Kuorinka et al., 1987). The questionnaire was presented of severity on physical condition including pain, discomfort, numberless, etc., for the after 12 months and after 7 days in each areas of the body (Kaewboonchoo et al., 1998). The special questionnaire was designed for the occupational to concentrate on anatomical areas on neck, shoulder and low back symptom. The respective questionnaire can analyze severity of symptoms on the duration past 12 months, and past 7 days (Kilbom et al., 1986; Kuorinka et al., 1987). In this study was developed questionnaire from a literature review occupational related musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers and conceptual framework. The MSDA was presented by body map and divided into 9 body region include neck, shoulders, upper back, elbows, low back, wrists and hands, hip and thighs, knees, and Ankles and Feet in the last week and part month as follows;

1. The prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort will be computed as follows;

MSD rate = <u>all new and pre-existing MSD cases during a time period</u> X 100 Population during the same time period

2. Musculoskeletal discomfort was asked severity on physical condition by physiotherapist that followed physical exam on range of motion to test a discomfort on movement, it was modified discomfort by numeric rating scale, a scale from 0 to 10 where 0 is the no musculoskeletal discomfort and 10 is more musculoskeletal discomfort as follows;

No discomfort									More o	liscomfort
0	1	2	3	4 5	6	7	8	9	10	

The musculoskeletal discomfort cut off score \geq 4, the data was indicated mean score of musculoskeletal discomfort and it was indicated risk levels as follows;

Levels	Severity musculoskeletal discomfort levels
0	No musculoskeletal discomfort
1-3	Slight musculoskeletal discomfort
4-6	Moderate musculoskeletal discomfort
7-9	Highs musculoskeletal discomfort
10	Severe musculoskeletal discomfort

3. Awareness Safe Work Practice of Musculoskeletal Discomfort (ASWP-MSD)

According to Genaiyt et al, awareness safe work practice was developed from workplace guidelines for the prevention of musculoskeletal injuries (Genaidy, Al-Shedi, & Shell, 1993). The questionnaires were involved the type of safety ergonomic occupational related musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers such as safety practice of working condition, equipment tool use sweeping and stretching exercise. In addition, the ASPMSD questionnaire was divided into 4 levels as follows;

Scores	Levels
1	Disagree
2	Slightly agree
3	Agree
4	Strongly agree

The interpret awareness safety practice analysis by mean score of awareness (continuous variable) and evaluate will be defined the total score awareness not more than 80 scores as follows;

Scores	Awareness Level
0-20	Mild awareness
21-40	Moderate awareness
41-60	High awareness
61-80	Very high awareness

Parts2. Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA)

Rapid entire body assessment (REBA) was one form designed to assess the unpredictable whole body postures of working and used collected data of the body posture for movement, action, coupling and repetition. The analysis of REBA scores was generated in order to an indication of the risk level and urgency with which should be taken action (Hignett & McAtamney, 2000). Moreover, REBA was developed for used an event-driven tool due to the complexity of data collection (Janik, Munzberger, & Schultz, 2002). The REBA is one type of ergonomic assessment tool for using a systematic process and evaluates required whole body posture of MSD

related to job tasks. According to Window indicated that the REBA was easy designed for use the evaluator a score for each body regions include neck, back, trunk, shoulders, elbows, forearms wrists, legs and knees (Window, 2006). The data scores was collected for each region and put in the form of tables that used to compile the risk factor variables and generating the score that represents the MSD risk level (Hignett & McAtamney, 2000). However, in the U.K has been also used for assessments the body posture related to the Manual Handling Operations regulations (Steinberg, Caffier, & Liebers, 2006). It has been widely used internationally and was provided in the draft U.S. Ergonomic Program Standard (Reese & Eidson, 2006).

The principles of REBA as follows;(Hignett & McAtamney, 2000; McAtamney & Hignett, 2005)

REBA can be used when an ergonomic workplace assessment identifies that further postural analysis is required and:

1. Better tool for whole body and used for both static, dynamic postures unstable and rapidly changing postures

2. User-friendly

3. Uses tables to compute scores

4. Perfectly matches the selection criteria (quantitative, subjective, selfreporting potential, posture- based)

5. Inanimate or animate loads are handled either frequently or infrequently.

6. Modifications to the workplace, equipment, training, or risk-taking behavior of the worker are being monitored pre/post changes.

Procedure of REBA

The REBA can be follows step-by-step, REBA has six steps as follows; (Marras & Karwowski, 2006)

1. Observe the task

Observe the task was conducted to formulate a general ergonomic workplace assessment include use of equipment, the impact of the work layout and environment, and behavior of the worker with respect to risk taking. This step is record data by using a video camera or photographs. However, the observe technique was recommended as multiple views should be control for any confounding and bias on the field

2. Select the postures for assessment

This step was follow in step one from the observations on working condition postures and analyze to decide which posture which can be used criteria as follows;

1. Posture require the most frequency movement and repeated

2. Posture prolonged maintained

3. Posture requiring the greatest forces or the most muscular activity

4. Posture has been known to cause discomfort

5. Posture are awkward, extreme, unstable and force is exerted

6. Posture the most to be improved from interventions, control measures, or other changes

From above criteria can be decision which postures based on one or more criteria to analyze should be reported with the results and recommendations.

3. Score the postures.

Record by use the scoring sheet and body-part to score the posture by groups as follows;

a. Group A: trunk, neck, legs

b. Group B: upper arms, lower arms, wrists

c. Group B postures are divided into 2 sides, right and left sides of the body are indicated on the scoring sheet

4. Process the scores.

This process was use in Table A to generate a single score from the neck, trunk, and legs scores. The scoring A was recorded in the box and added to the load/force score and table B was used to generate the single score are the upper arms, lower arms and wrist scores using. This scores are different can be repeated the musculoskeletal risk. The score was then added to the coupling score to produce score B. Scores A and B are entered into Table C and a single score is read off.

5. Establish the REBA score

The type of muscle activity to be performed for represented the total score by an activity that is added to give the final REBA score.

6. Confirm the action level with respect to the urgency for control measures.

The REBA score can be rechecked the action levels. These are scores bands of corresponding to increase urgency for the need to make changes.

Figure 19 REBA sheet



Source:(Hignett & McAtamney, 2000; McAtamney & Hignett, 2005)

Action Level	REBA Score	Risk Level	Action (including further assessment)
0	1	Negligible	None necessary
1	2-3	Low	Maybe necessary
2	4-7	Medium	Necessary
3	8-10	High	Necessary Soon
4	11-15	Very High	Necessary NOW

 Table 3 REBA Score risk level

Source: (McAtamney & Hignett, 2005)

Reliability and Validity (Hignett & McAtamney, 2000)

Reliability of REBA was established into 2 stages. The first stage involved 144 posture combinations three physiotherapists or ergonomists independent. They resolved and discussed any conflicts in the scores then incorporated the additional risk scores for load, coupling, and activity to generate the final REBA score on a range of 1 to 15. The second stage involved two workshops with 14 health professionals using REBA to code over 600 examples of work postures from the health-care, manufacturing, and electricity industries. This established good face validity, and REBA has continued to be widely used, particularly in the health-care industry. However, that small changes were made to the upper-arm code introduction of the during the validation process, so additional work is planned to undertake more-detailed reliability and validity testing.

Parts 3: Physical Exam

1. Discomfort on movement

The discomfort on movement was designed for testing physical on workers by physiotherapist. The activities were developed from health assessment for nursing practice by Wilson and Giddens (Wilson & Giddens, 2014) and Polnok to assessment of musculoskeletal (Polnok, 2009). This physical exam can help to confirm musculoskeletal discomfort with questionnaire due to test passive movement by physiotherapist. The exam was tested 7 part of body include neck, hands/shoulders/scapular, wrists, fingers, hips, knees and feet. The score test was find that frequency of discomfort and no discomfort on body part among street sweepers.

2. Muscle strength

The muscle strength was designed to test physical on workers by physiotherapist. The exam was tested 14 postures on body part related musculoskeletal discomfort street sweepers. The activities were developed from health assessment for nursing practice by Wilson and Giddens and assessment of musculoskeletal by Polnok (Polnok, 2009; Wilson & Giddens, 2014). The score test was finding that frequency of resistance and no resistance on body part among street sweepers.

Parts 4: Physical Performance

1. Arm curl test (dumbbell)

The study was selected test of the physical performance by using dumbbell that arm curl test due to assessment muscular strength and endurance on upper body strength which appropriate among street sweepers by sports scientist. According to Jones and Rikli, the Arm curl test is significant to assess upper body strength and needed for performing household and other activities involving lifting and carrying things such as groceries, suitcases and grandchildren (Jones & Rikli, 2002). The participants age range 18-60 years old that will be evaluated by age range such as 18-29 years old, 30-41 years old, 42-53 years old and \geq 54 years old.

The purpose

To test muscular strength and endurance to do as many arm curls as possible in 30 seconds.

Equipment

1. Chair or backrest folding chair without armrest

2. Stopwatch

3. A dumbbell, 5 pounds weight (2.27 kilograms) for women and 8 pounds weight (3.63 kilograms) for men.

Procedure (Jones & Rikli, 2002; Panti, 2007)

1. The participant sits on the chair, back straight, feet on the floor, conducted on dominant arm side, holding the weight in the hand using a dumbbell either edge of the chair to sit on that side.

2. The participant to test with the arm in a vertically holding down position beside the chair and brace the upper arm against the body so that only the lower arm is moving. Curl the arm up through a full range of motion, gradually turning the palm up (flexion with supination). As the arm is lowered through the full range of motion, gradually return to the starting position.

3. The arm must be fully bent and then fully straightened at the elbow. The protocol is use of test describes the administrator's hand being placed on the biceps,

and the lower arm must touch the tester's hand for a full bicep curl to be counted. Repeat this action as many times as possible within 30 seconds.

4. Counting the number of times that can be implemented completely in 30 seconds.

5. Before actually giving the participant to tests articulated elbow flexion without weight training 1-2 times to check for correct posture but if real test is a only one way

Figure 20 Arm curl test



Score: The score is the total number of controlled arm curls performed in 30 seconds. Criterion performance scores of arm curl test less than 11 times in the both male and female that mean risk of upper body strength (Jones & Rikli, 2002).

2. A 30- second chair stand

The study was selected test of the physical performance by using a 30second chair stand due to assessment muscular strength and endurance on lower body strength which appropriate among street sweepers by sports scientist (Panti, 2007).

The purpose

To test muscular strength and endurance to do as a 30- second chair stand due to assessment muscular strength and endurance on lower body strength

Equipment

1. Chair or backrest folding chair without armrest as height 43.18 centimeter.

2. Stopwatch

Procedure (Jones & Rikli, 2002; Panti, 2007)

1. The participant sits on the chair, back straight, feet on the floor, conducted right and left arm holding on chest that side.

2. The participant to test with sit and stand on the chair. Repeat this action as many times as possible within 30 seconds.

3. Counting the number of times that can be implemented completely in 30 seconds.

4. Before actually giving the participant to tests articulated elbow flexion without weight training 1-2 times to check for correct posture but if real test is a only one way

Figure 21 A 30- second chair stand test



Score: The score is the total number of controlled arm curls performed in 30 seconds. Criterion performance scores of a 30- second chair stand test less than 8 times in the both male and female that means risk of upper body strength.

าหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

3.7 Reliability and validity test

3.7.1 Validity

The questionnaire was assessed the content validity by 3 experts: one ergonomic educator, one physiotherapist and one sports scientist who know well Thai language (process of back translation) to check appropriate in terms of concepts, language and suggestions. The opinions from experts are quite high congruence with IOC, Accept \geq 0.50 (Rovinelli & Hambleton, 1976). After that the questionnaires were revised based on the expert's recommendation.

Results in this study was showed item objective congruence (IOC), the questionnaire was divided into 3 part included; 1.00 of musculoskeletal discomfort assessment, 0.81 of awareness safe work practice of musculoskeletal discomfort that indicated in the appendix part.

3.7.2 Reliability

The questionnaires were tested with 30 street sweepers who are working in Phayao municipality in Phayao province, and they have similar characteristics with street sweepers in intervention municipality. The experimental tools are revised based on the expert's recommendation, the tools are tested among 30 street sweepers who are similar characteristic with sampling street sweepers in others municipality. A Cronbach alpha coefficient in this study was showed 0.93 of musculoskeletal discomfort assessment and 0.85 of awareness safe work practice of musculoskeletal discomfort that indicated in the appendix part.

3.8 Data Collection

The study was conducted the data collection as follows;

1. Questionnaire: there are 3 parts as follows;

Part I: Personal factors and work factors

Part II: Musculoskeletal Discomfort Assessment (MSDA)

Part III: Awareness safe work practice of musculoskeletal discomfort

The questionnaire was conducted to interview by research.

2. Video record for working posture based on Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA). This study was conducted 10 minute times per person at baseline, 12th weeks and 24th weeks. The students on bachelor degree of occupational health were recorded on field.

3. Physical exam: The assessment discomfort on movement and muscle strength by physiotherapist.

4. Physical Performance: The activity was used arm curl test that dumbbell by Sports scientist.

5. Physical Performance form: The tool was collected from the muscular strength and endurance.

3.9 Data analysis

1. Using SPSS version 17 licenses for Chulalongkorn University.

2. Descriptive statistics was used to describe the demographic data and prevalence of MSDs.

- Frequencies and percentages (Categorical variable).

- Mean and standard deviation (Continuous variable).

3. Chi-square and independent T-test were used to compare the differences of demographic data between the intervention and control group.

4. Repeated measurement ANOVA was used to assess effectiveness of MEI model across (baseline, exit the model (12^{th} weeks) and 1^{st} follow up (16^{th} weeks) , 2^{nd} follow up (20^{th} weeks) , 3^{th} follow up (24^{th} weeks) and 4^{th} follow up (28^{th} weeks) .

3.10 Ethical consideration

The study was approved by the Ethics Review Committee for Research involving Human Research Subjects group, Chulalongkorn University, Thailand. The certificate of approval number was COA 135/2557.

Interviewees were received full explanation about the study including the purpose, process and the benefits of this study. Information sign consent form was taken by the interviewee's considering. The ethical consideration would provide the multidimensional ergonomic intervention model for the control group after finished and evaluation of the model.

CHAPTER IV RESULTS

This chapter was gathered the findings which aimed to demonstrate the effectiveness of the multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model on reduce musculoskeletal discomfort, improve physical performance and increase awareness of safe work practices among street sweepers. The participants in this study were streets sweepers from four sub-districts in Chiang Rai municipality, Chiang Rai province.

The study was conducted into intervention group and control group by geographic areas; the intervention group was Robe Wiang and Sansai sub –districts; the control group was Wiang and Rimkok sub–districts. The participants were eligible totally 75 street sweepers by voluntary; intervention n=37; and control n=38. After screening musculoskeletal discomfort score \geq 4 by physiotherapist at baseline, there were 68 eligible street sweepers; intervention n=34; and control n=34. The MEI model was started on September until December, 2014 and follow-up in January, February, March and April 2015.

The results include 4 components as follows;

4.1 Demographic characteristic and work factors.

4.2 Effectiveness of MEI model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort (MSD).

4.3 Effectiveness of MEI model to improve physical performance.

4.4 Effectiveness of MEI model to increase awareness of safe work practice.

4.1 Demographic characteristic and work factors

The participants were eligible totally 75 street sweepers, only 68 street sweepers met inclusion criteria. The intervention group was 34 street sweepers at Robe Wiang and Sansai sub –districts. The control group was 34 street sweepers at Wiang and Rimkok sub–districts. The participants in this study were not dropped-out and lost to follow – up on the model. The variables data were presented intervention group, control group and comparable between intervention and control group.

In table 4 shows the demographic characteristic, the participants in the both group had higher numbers of female than male and most of them were primary school. Majority of both participants were together with parent; intervention group was 91.18% and control group was 97.06%. There were more number of their street sweepers no smoking and never drinking. Street sweepers, most of them were not taking a break during their sweeping on field. Both groups were never exercise.

In table 5 shows the working factors, the average age in the intervention group was 47.59 years (SD=7.25) and ranged from 28-59 years. The working years ranged from 1-37 years and mean was 14.74 years (SD=7.57). Body mass index of street sweepers were 25.10 kg/m² (SD=4.38). Street sweepers in both groups were similar of walking distance approximately 1-3 kilometers and using 1-3 brooms per month. Their length and weight of broom ranged from 140-200 centimeters and 550-1000 grams. The total weight broom and dustpan was ranged from 1300-2000 grams. The average proportion between height of the chin among street sweepers and height of the boom were 123.56 centimeters (SD=11.80). The average proportion between height of street sweepers and height of the boom were 106.98 centimeters (SD=10.08). Control group, the average age was 47.71 years (SD=8.01) and ranged from 26-60 years. The working years ranged from 1-38 years and mean was 15.03 years (SD=8.94). Body mass index of street sweepers were 24.83 kg/m2 (SD=3.96). Their length and weight of broom ranged from 145-182 centimeters and 600-1000 grams. The total weight broom and dustpan was ranged from 1350-2000 grams. The average proportion between height of the chin among street sweepers and height of the boom was 121.85 centimeters (SD=10.17). The average proportion between height of street sweepers and height of the boom was 105.83 centimeters (SD=8.44).

Comparing demographic characteristics among street sweepers between intervention and control groups were shown no statistically associated most of characteristics. Similarly to characteristics of street sweepers were comparable between intervention and control groups at the baseline.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Categorical variables	Interv	ention	Control		<i>p</i> -value
	(n=	(n=34)		4)	
	n P	ercent	n	Percent	
Gender					0.377
Male	5	14.71	4	11.76	
Female	29	85.29	30	88.24	
Education					0.111
Primary school	27	79.41	31	91.18	
Secondary school	7	20.59	3	8.82	
Marital status					0.752
Married	31	91.18	33	97.06	
Widowed/Divorce / Separate	3	8.82	1	2.94	
Smoking					0.595
No	30	88.23	32	94.12	
Yes	4	11.77	2	5.88	
Drinking					0.650
Never Chulalo	32	94.12	31	91.18	
Sometime	2	5.88	3	8.82	
Take a short break					0.169
No	27	79.41	28	82.35	
Yes	7	20.59	6	17.65	
Exercise					0.595
Never	30	88.24	32	94.12	
Work out 1-2 times/week	4	11.76	2	5.88	

 Table 4 Demographic characteristic among street sweepers (n=68)

*Significant at p-value < 0.05, (χ^2) = Chi-square, (t) = T-test

Continuous variables	Interve	ntion	Control		<i>p</i> -value
	(n=3	4)	(n=34)		
	Mean	± SD	Mean	± SD	
Age (years)	47.59	7.25	47.71	8.01	0.337
Range	28-59		26-60		
Working years	14.74	7.57	15.03	8.94	0.824
Range	1-37		1-38		
Body mass Index (Kg/m ²)	25.10	4.38	24.83	3.96	0.237
Range	17.50-34.9	0	18.60-39.80		
Walking distance(Kilometer)	2.15	0.61	2.12	0.69	0.209
Range	1-3		1-3		
Number of broom changed per month	2.00	0.74	2.00	0.67	0.150
Range	1-3		1-3		
Length of broom(Centimeter)	162.88	13.01	161.46	9.32	0.662
Range	140-200		145-182		
Weight of broom(Grams)	798.53	152.99	838.24	34.87	0.393
Range	550-1000		600-1000		
Weight broom and dustpan	1725	205.33	1750	192.27	0.562
Range (Grams)	1300-2000		1350-2000		
Proportion(chin height and broom)	123.56	11.80	121.85	10.17	0.262
Range (centimeter)	101.96-153	3.85 106.67-146.34			
Proportion(tall and broom)	106.98	10.08	105.83	8.44	0.281
Range	90.70-134.	23	93.54-126.76		

 Table 5 work factors among street sweepers (n=68)

*Significant at p-value < 0.05, (χ^2) = Chi-square, (t) = T-test.

4.2 Effectiveness of MEI model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort.

Main outcome of this study is to the effectiveness of MEI model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers. The results included musculoskeletal discomfort assessment, and musculoskeletal discomfort score by physiotherapist.

4.2.1 Musculoskeletal discomfort assessment

In figure 22 shows the baseline prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort in past 1 month between intervention and control group. Intervention group, majority was 85.29% of street sweepers had musculoskeletal discomfort in the right wrists/hands, 82.35% in the left wrists/hands, 79.41% in shoulders and 73.53% in neck respectively. Control group, majority was 82.35% of street sweepers had musculoskeletal discomfort in the right wrists/hands, 79.41% in the left wrists/hands and shoulders, and 76.47% in neck, respectively.

Figure 22 Baseline prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort in the past 1 month among street sweepers between intervention and control group



In figure 23 shows the baseline prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort in past 7 days between intervention and control group. Intervention group, majority was 82.35% of street sweepers had musculoskeletal discomfort in the right wrists/hands, 76.47% in the left wrists/hands, 70.59% in shoulders, 67.64% in neck respectively. Control group, majority was 79.41% of street sweepers had musculoskeletal discomfort in the right wrists/hands, 76.47% in shoulders and 73.53% in neck respectively.





Figure 24 shows the comparison of prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort in the past 1 month between intervention and control group at baseline, exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up. At baseline, the prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort reported that 63.72% of street sweepers had musculoskeletal discomfort in the intervention group, 61.57% in the control group. Prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort indicated that 50.00% in the intervention group and 69.80% in the control group at exit model. The both group, increased the prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort after exit model (4 times follow-up).

Figure 24 Comparing prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort in the past 1 month between intervention (n=34) and control group (n=34) at the baseline, exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up



Figure 25 shows the trend of prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort in the past 1 month between intervention and control group. Intervention group, it was decreased at exit model, 1st, 2nd and 3rd follow-up but it was increased at 4th follow-up. Control group, it was slightly increased at exit model and 3rd follow-up except 1st, 2nd and 4th follow-up were trendily decreased to the prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort.

Figure 25 Trend in prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort in the past 1 month between intervention and control group at time point



Figure 26 shows the prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort in the past 7 days between intervention and control group at baseline, exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up. The prevalence rate musculoskeletal discomfort at baseline was reported 59.02% of street sweepers had musculoskeletal discomfort in the intervention group, 56.64% in the control group. Prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort indicated that 45.88% in the intervention group and 66.27% in the control group at exit model. The both group, increased the prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort after exit model (4 times follow-up).

Figure 26 Comparing prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort in the past 7 days between intervention (n=34) and control group (n=34) at the baseline, exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up



In figure 27, it shows the prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort in the past 7 days between intervention and control group at baseline, exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up. Intervention group, it was decreased at exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} follow-up but it was increased at 4^{th} follow-up. Control group, it was slightly increased at exit model and 3^{rd} follow-up except 1^{st} , 2^{nd} and 4^{th} follow-up were trendily decreased to the prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort.



Figure 27 Trend in prevalence of musculoskeletal discomfort in the past 7 days between intervention and control group at time point

4.2.2 Musculoskeletal discomfort score by physiotherapist

In table 6 shows comparing musculoskeletal discomfort score by physiotherapist between intervention and control group at the baseline, exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up. At baseline point, there was no difference of musculoskeletal discomfort score between intervention (Mean= 7.21, SD=0.98) and control group (Mean= 7.24, SD=0.92), mean score of differences was -0.06. However, there were significantly different in mean musculoskeletal discomfort score from exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up.

Time of	Musculoskeletal strength		Mean	95% CI
data collection	(score)		Difference	
	Intervention	Control	-	
	mean ± SD.	mean ± SD.		
Baseline	7.21 ± 0.98	7.21 ± 0.87	-0.06	0.49 - 0.43
Exit model (12 th Weeks)	5.62 ± 0.85	7.53 ± 0.73	-1.92	-2.33 – (-1.55)*
1st follow-up (16 th Weeks)	4.38 ± 0.78	7.15 ± 0.77	-2.75	-3.13 - (- 2.40)*
2nd follow-up (20 th Weeks)	3.44 ± 0.79	7.03 ± 0.80	-3.59	-3.97- (-3.21)*
3rd follow-up (24 th Weeks)	3.26 ± 0.79	7.24 ± 0.70	-3.97	-4.36 – (-3.61)*
4th follow-up (26 th Weeks)	3.44 ± 0.71	7.06 ± 0.78	-3.62	-4.00 - (-3.30)*

Table 6 Comparing musculoskeletal discomfort score by physiotherapist between intervention (n=34) and control group (n=34) at the baseline, exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up

* Significant at p-value < 0.05, using independent t-test

In figure 28 shows similarly between intervention and control group at the baseline point. Intervention, there were decreased mean musculoskeletal discomfort score from exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd follow-up except from 4th follow-up was slightly increased. Control group, it was slightly increased at exit model and 3rd follow-up except 1st, 2nd and 4th follow-up were decreased to mean musculoskeletal discomfort score.

Figure 28 Trend in musculoskeletal discomfort score by physiotherapist between intervention (n=34) and control school (n=34)


Testing the effect of the MEI model

In table 7 shows significantly different effect of MEI model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers on changes in mean musculoskeletal discomfort score between intervention and control group at baseline, exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up (F=474.73, p-value=<0.001). Similarly, the within subjects testing showed significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean musculoskeletal discomfort score over 6 time points (F=79.22, p-value=<0.001). There were significant the mean musculoskeletal discomfort score by time interaction, p-value=<0.001).

 Table 7 Effectiveness of the MEI model for musculoskeletal discomfort score of street sweepers (n =68)

Source	SS	df	MS	F	P-value
Between subjects					
Intervention	717.35	1	717.35	474.73	<0.001**
Error	99.73	66	1.51		
Within subjects*					
Time	239.45	2.47	96.82	101.96	<0.001**
Intervention* time	186.04	2.47	75.22	79.22	<0.001**
Error	155.01	163.23	0.95		

* Greenhouse-Geisser, ** Significant at p-value < 0.01

In table 8 shows the pairwise comparisons of the different measurements of musculoskeletal discomfort score in intervention and control. The results reported time in 2nd follow-up with 3rd follow-up (24th Weeks), 2nd follow-up with 4th follow-up (26th Weeks), 3rd follow-up (24th Weeks) with 2nd follow-up, 3rd follow-up (24th Weeks) with 4th follow-up (24th Weeks) with 4th follow-up (26th Weeks), 4th follow-up (26th Weeks) with 2nd follow-up and 4th follow-up (26th Weeks) with 3rd follow-up (24th Weeks) were no significantly different in time point.

Time e	Time	Mean	Std.	c:_ ^a	95% Confi	dence Interval
nme	Time	Difference	Error	JIS	Lower	Upper
Baseline	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.632*	.103	<.001	.427	.838
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	1.456	.137	<.001	1.183	1.729
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	1.985	.152	<.001	1.682	2.289
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	1.971 [*]	.149	<.001	1.673	2.268
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	1.971 [*]	.152	<.001	1.668	2.273
Exit model	Baseline	632*	.103	<.001	838	427
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	.824	.122	<.001	.581	1.066
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	1.353	.140	<.001	1.074	1.632
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	1.338	.141	<.001	1.057	1.620
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	1.338	.136	<.001	1.066	1.610
1 st follow-up	Baseline	-1.456*	.137	<.001	-1.729	-1.183
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	824*	.122	<.001	-1.066	581
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	.529*	.066	<.001	.398	.661
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	.515	.082	<.001	.351	.679
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	.515	.097	<.001	.320	.709
2 nd follow-up	Baseline	-1.985*	.152	<.001	-2.289	-1.682
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	-1.353*	.140	<.001	-1.632	-1.074
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	529*	.066	<.001	661	398
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	015	.061	.809	136	.106
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	015	.083	.860	181	.151
3 rd follow-up	Baseline	-1.971*	.149	<.001	-2.268	-1.673
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	-1.338 [*]	.141	<.001	-1.620	-1.057
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	515*	.082	<.001	679	351
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	.015	.061	.809	106	.136
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	.000	.076	1.000	152	.152
4 th follow-up	Baseline	-1.971*	.152	<.001	-2.273	-1.668
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	-1.338 [*]	.136	<.001	-1.610	-1.066
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	515*	.097	<.001	709	320
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	.015	.083	.860	151	.181
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	.000	.076	1.000	152	.152

Table 8 Pairwise Comparisons of the different measurements of musculoskeletaldiscomfort score in intervention and control group (n=68)

Based on estimated marginal means, the mean * difference is significant at p-value < 0.05.

a. Adjustment for multiple comparisons: Bonferroni.

4.3 The effectiveness of MEI model to improve physical performance.

4.3.1 Musculoskeletal strength score

In table 9 shows comparing musculoskeletal strength score by physiotherapist between intervention and control group. At baseline point, there was no difference of musculoskeletal strength score between intervention (Mean= 10.12, SD=1.51) and control group (Mean= 10.18, SD=1.03), mean score of differences was -0.05. However, there were significantly different in mean musculoskeletal strength score from exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up.

Table 9 Comparing musculoskeletal strength score by physiotherapist between intervention (n=34) and control school (n=34) at the baseline, exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up

Time of	Musculoskelet	al strength	Mean	95% CI
data collection	(score)		Difference	
	Intervention	Control		
	mean ± SD.	mean ± SD.		
Baseline	10.12 ± 1.51	10.18 ± 1.03	-0.05	-0.69 - 0.57
Exit model (12 th Weeks)	11.32 ± 1.27	10.50 ± 1.42	0.82	0.17 – 1.48*
1st follow-up (16 th Weeks)	12.50 ± 0.93	10.29 ± 1.22	2.21	1.68 – 2.73*
2nd follow-up (20 th Weeks)	13.00 ± 0.78	10.18 ± 1.03	2.82	2.38 - 3.27*
3rd follow-up (24 th Weeks)	13.26 ± 0.67	10.38 ± 1.18	2.88	2.42 - 3.35*
4th follow-up (26 th Weeks)	13.06 ± 0.65	10.24 ± 0.89	2.82	2.45 - 3.20*

* Significant at p-value < 0.05, using independent t-test

In figure 29 shows similarly between intervention and control group at the baseline point. Intervention, there were decreased mean musculoskeletal strength score from exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd follow-up except from 4th follow-up was slightly increased. Control group, it was slightly increased at exit model and 3rd follow-up except 1st, 2nd and 4th follow-up were decreased to mean musculoskeletal strength score.



Figure 29 Trend in musculoskeletal strength score between intervention (n=34) and control school (n=34)

Testing the effect of the MEI model

In table 10 shows significantly different effect of MEI model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers on changes in mean musculoskeletal strength score between intervention and control group at baseline, exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up (F=77.90, p-value=<0.001). Similarly, the within subjects testing showed significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean musculoskeletal strength score over 6 time points (F=55.58, p-value=<0.001). There were significant the mean musculoskeletal strength score by time interaction, p-value=<0.001).

SS	df	MS	F	P-value
374.71	1	374.71	77.90	<0.001**
317.46	66	4.81		
132.84	3.38	39.28	60.01	<0.001**
131.89	3.38	39.00	59.58	<0.001**
146.10	223.19	0.66		
_	SS 374.71 317.46 132.84 131.89 146.10	SS df 374.71 1 317.46 66 132.84 3.38 131.89 3.38 146.10 223.19	SS df MS 374.71 1 374.71 317.46 66 4.81 132.84 3.38 39.28 131.89 3.38 39.00 146.10 223.19 0.66	SS df MS F 374.71 1 374.71 77.90 317.46 66 4.81 77.90 132.84 3.38 39.28 60.01 131.89 3.38 39.00 59.58 146.10 223.19 0.66 4.81

Table 10 Effectiveness of the MEI model for musculoskeletal strength score of streetsweepers (n =68)

* Greenhouse-Geisser, ** Significant at p-value < 0.01

In table 11 shows the pairwise comparisons of the different measurements of musculoskeletal strength score in intervention and control. The results reported time in1st follow-up with 2nd follow-up, 2nd follow-up with 1st follow-up, 2nd follow-up with 4th follow-up (26th Weeks), 3rd follow-up (24th Weeks) with 4th follow-up (26th Weeks), 4th follow-up (26th Weeks) with 2nd follow-up and 4th follow-up (26th Weeks) with 3rd follow-up and 4th follow-up (26th Weeks) with 3rd follow-up (24th Weeks) were no significantly different in time point.

Chulalongkorn University

T i	The s	Mean	Std.	c:_a	95% Confi	dence Interval
lime	lime	Difference	Error	Sig	Lower	Upper
Baseline	Exit model (12th Weeks)	765*	.102	<.001	969	560
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	-1.250*	.126	<.001	-1.502	998
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	-1.441*	.091	<.001	-1.624	-1.259
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	-1.676*	.143	<.001	-1.962	-1.391
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	-1.500*	.126	<.001	-1.752	-1.248
Exit model	Baseline	.765*	.102	<.001	.560	.969
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	485*	.102	<.001	689	282
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	676*	.118	<.001	913	440
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	912*	.107	<.001	-1.125	698
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	735*	.149	<.001	-1.032	438
1 st follow-up	Baseline	1.250*	.126	<.001	.998	1.502
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.485*	.102	<.001	.282	.689
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	191	.101	.063	393	.011
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	426*	.104	<.001	635	218
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	250*	.114	.032	477	023
2 nd follow-up	Baseline	1.441*	.091	<.001	1.259	1.624
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.676*	.118	<.001	.440	.913
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	.191	.101	.063	011	.393
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	235*	.112	.039	459	012
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	059	.079	.457	216	.098
3 rd follow-up	Baseline	1.676*	.143	<.001	1.391	1.962
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.912*	.107	<.001	.698	1.125
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	.426*	.104	<.001	.218	.635
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	.235*	.112	.039	.012	.459
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	.176	.115	.131	054	.407
4 th follow-up	Baseline	1.500*	.126	<.001	1.248	1.752
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.735*	.149	<.001	.438	1.032
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	.250*	.114	.032	.023	.477
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	.059	.079	.457	098	.216
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	176	.115	.131	407	.054

Table 11 Pairwise comparisons of the different measurements of musculoskeletalstrength score in intervention and control group (n=68)

Based on estimated marginal means, the mean * difference is significant at p-value < 0.05.

a. Adjustment for multiple comparisons: Bonferroni.

4.3.2 Upper body strength

In table 12 shows comparing upper body strength score by sport scientist between intervention and control group at the baseline, exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up. At baseline point, there was no difference of upper body strength score between intervention (Mean= 9.65, SD=1.04) and control group (Mean= 9.62, SD=1.30), mean score of differences was 0.02. However, there were significantly different in mean upper body strength score from exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up.

Table 12 Comparing upper body strength score by sport scientist between intervention (n=34) and control school (n=34) at the baseline, exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up

Time of data collection	Musculoskeletal strength (score)		Mean Difference	95% CI
	Intervention	Control	-	
	mean ± SD.	mean ± SD.		
Baseline	9.65 ± 1.04	9.62 ± 1.30	0.02	-0.54 -0.60
Exit model (12 th Weeks)	11.94 ± 1.18	10.29 ± 1.00	1.65	1.12 - 2.18*
1st follow-up (16 th Weeks)	12.56 ± 1.02	10.03 ± 1.09	2.53	2.02 - 3.04*
2nd follow-up (20 th Weeks)	13.00 ± 0.92	9.94 ± 0.98	3.06	2.60 - 3.52*
3rd follow-up (24 th Weeks)	13.21 ± 0.91	10.12 ± 0.81	3.09	2.67 - 3.51*
4th follow-up (26 th Weeks)	12.94 ± 0.78	9.91 ± 1.08	3.03	2.57 – 3.49*

* Significant at p-value < 0.05, using independent t-test

In figure 30 shows similarly between intervention and control group at the baseline point. Intervention, there were decreased mean upper body strength score from exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd follow-up except from 4th follow-up was slightly increased. Control group, it was slightly increased at exit model and 3rd follow-up except 1st, 2nd and 4th follow-up were decreased to mean upper body strength score.



Figure 30 Trend in upper body strength scores (Arm curl test by sport scientist) between intervention (n=34) and control school (n=34)

Testing the effect of the MEI model

In table 13 shows significantly different effect of MEI model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers on changes in mean upper body strength score between intervention and control group at baseline, exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up (F=124.51, p-value=<0.001). Similarly, the within subjects testing showed significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean upper body strength score over 6 time points (F=57.67, p-value=<0.001). There were significant the mean upper body strength score by time interaction, p-value=<0.001).

So	urce	SS	df	MS	F	P-value
Be	tween subjects					
	Intervention	507.41	1	507.41	124.51	<0.001**
	Error	268.97	66	4.08		
Wi	thin subjects*					
	Time	187.10	3.05	61.34	86.53	<0.001**
	Intervention* time	124.69	3.05	40.88	57.67	<0.001**
	Error	142.71	201.33	0.71		

 Table 13 Effectiveness of the MEI model for upper body strength scores of street

 sweepers (n =68)

* Greenhouse-Geisser, ** Significant at p-value < 0.01

In table 14 shows the pairwise comparisons of the different measurements of upper body strength score in intervention and control. The results reported time in exit model with 1st follow-up, exit model with 4th follow-up (26th Weeks), 2nd follow-up with 4th follow-up (26th Weeks), 4th follow-up (26th Weeks) with 1st follow-up, 4th follow-up (26th Weeks) with 2nd follow-up and 4th follow-up (26th Weeks) with 3rd follow-up (24th Weeks) were no significantly different in time point.

Chulalongkorn University

Time	Time	Mean	Std.	c:a ^a	95% Conf	fidence Interval
nme	Time	Difference	Error	Sig.	Lower	Upper
Baseline	Exit model (12th Weeks)	-1.485*	.148	<.001	-1.781	-1.190
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	-1.662*	.133	<.001	-1.927	-1.397
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	-1.838*	.143	<.001	-2.123	-1.554
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	-2.029*	.160	<.001	-2.349	-1.710
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	-1.794*	.127	<.001	-2.047	-1.541
Exit model	Baseline	1.485*	.148	<.001	1.190	1.781
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	176*	.064	.008	305	048
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	353*	.092	<.001	536	170
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	544*	.124	<.001	793	296
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	309*	.114	.008	536	082
1 st follow-up	Baseline	1.662*	.133	<.001	1.397	1.927
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.176*	.064	.008	.048	.305
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	176*	.065	.009	307	046
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	368*	.110	.001	588	148
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	132	.091	.153	315	.050
2 nd follow-up	Baseline	1.838*	.143	<.001	1.554	2.123
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.353*	.092	<.001	.170	.536
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	.176*	.065	.009	.046	.307
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	191*	.077	.015	345	038
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	.044	.083	.596	121	.210
3 rd follow-up	Baseline	2.029*	.160	<.001	1.710	2.349
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.544*	.124	<.001	.296	.793
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	.368*	.110	.001	.148	.588
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	.191*	.077	.015	.038	.345
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	.235*	.104	.026	.028	.442
4 th follow-up	Baseline	1.794*	.127	<.001	1.541	2.047
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.309*	.114	.008	.082	.536
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	.132	.091	.153	050	.315
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	044	.083	.596	210	.121
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	235*	.104	.026	442	028

Table 14 Pairwise Comparisons of the different measurements of upper bodystrength scores in intervention and control group (n=68)

Based on estimated marginal means, the mean * difference is significant at p-value < 0.05.

a. Adjustment for multiple comparisons: Bonferroni

4.3.3 Lower body strength

In table 15 shows comparing lower body strength score by sport scientist between intervention and control group at the baseline, exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up. At baseline point, there was no difference of lower body strength score between intervention (Mean= 10.24, SD=1.46) and control group (Mean= 10.21, SD=1.37), mean score of difference was 0.02. However, there were significantly different in mean lower body strength score from exit model, 1^{st} , $2n^{d}$, 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up.

Table 15 Comparing lower body strength score by sport scientist between intervention (n=34) and control school (n=34) at the baseline, exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up

Time of	Musculoskelet	al strength	Mean	95% CI
data collection	(score)		Difference	
	Intervention	Control		
	mean ± SD.	mean ± SD.		
Baseline	10.24 ± 1.46	10.21 ± 1.37	0.02	-0.66 -0.72
Exit model (12 th Weeks)	11.79 ± 1.43	10.50 ± 0.93	1.29	0.71 - 1.88*
1st follow-up (16 th Weeks)	12.94 ± 0.95	10.24 ± 0.86	2.71	2.27 - 3.14*
2nd follow-up (20 th Weeks)	13.38 ± 0.78	9.85 ± 0.78	3.53	3.15 - 3.91*
3rd follow-up (24 th Weeks)	13.76 ± 0.74	10.03 ± 0.72	3.73	3.38 - 4.09*
4th follow-up (26 th Weeks)	13.18 ± 0.83	9.94 ± 0.81	3.23	2.84 - 3.62*

* Significant at p-value < 0.05, using independent t-test

In figure 31 shows similarly between intervention and control group at the baseline point. Intervention, there were decreased mean lower body strength score from exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} follow-up except from 4^{th} follow-up was slightly increased. Control group, it was slightly increased at exit model and 3^{rd} follow-up except 1^{st} , 2^{nd} and 4^{th} follow-up were decreased to mean lower body strength score.



Figure 31 Trend in lower body strength scores between intervention (n=34) and

Testing the effect of the MEI model

In table 16 shows significantly different effect of MEI model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers on changes in mean lower body strength score between intervention and control group at baseline, exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up (F=180.65, p-value=<0.001). Similarly, the within subjects testing showed significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean lower body strength score over 6 time points (F=65.39, p-value=<0.001). There were significant the mean lower body strength score by time interaction, p-value=<0.001).

Source	SS	df	MS	F	P-value
Between subjects					
Intervention	598.13	1	598.13	180.65	<0.001**
Error	218.53	66	3.31		
Within subjects*					
Time	121.53	2.92	41.67	43.73	<0.001**
Intervention* time	181.73	2.92	62.31	65.39	<0.001**
Error	183.41	192.48	0.95		

Table 16 Effectiveness of the MEI model for lower body strength scores of streetsweepers (n =68)

* Greenhouse-Geisser, ** Significant at p-value < 0.01

In table 17 shows the pairwise comparisons of the different measurements of lower body strength scores in intervention and control. The results reported time in 1st follow-up with 2nd follow-up, 1st follow-up with 4th follow-up (26th Weeks), 2nd follow-up with 1st follow-up, 2nd follow-up with 4th follow-up (26th Weeks), 4th follow-up (26th Weeks) with 1st follow-up and 4th follow-up (26th Weeks) with 2nd follow-up were no significantly different in time point.

Chulalongkorn University

Time		Mean	Std.	c:_a	95% Confid	dence Interval
lime	lime	Difference	Error	Sig	Lower	Upper
Baseline	Exit model (12th Weeks)	926*	.101	<.001	-1.127	726
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	-1.368*	.128	<.001	-1.624	-1.111
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	-1.397*	.159	<.001	-1.715	-1.079
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	-1.676*	.170	<.001	-2.016	-1.337
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	-1.338*	.158	<.001	-1.654	-1.022
Exit model	Baseline	.926*	.101	<.001	.726	1.127
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	441*	.095	<.001	632	251
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	471*	.132	.001	734	207
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	750*	.143	<.001	-1.035	465
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	412*	.154	.009	719	104
1 st follow-up	Baseline	1.368*	.128	<.001	1.111	1.624
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.441*	.095	<.001	.251	.632
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	029	.085	.730	199	.140
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	309*	.106	.005	521	097
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	.029	.126	.816	222	.281
2 nd follow-up	Baseline	1.397*	.159	<.001	1.079	1.715
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.471*	.132	.001	.207	.734
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	.029	.085	.730	140	.199
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	279*	.086	.002	451	108
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	.059	.122	.630	184	.301
3 rd follow-up	Baseline	1.676*	.170	<.001	1.337	2.016
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.750*	.143	<.001	.465	1.035
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	.309*	.106	.005	.097	.521
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	.279*	.086	.002	.108	.451
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	.338*	.111	.003	.117	.559
4 th follow-up	Baseline	1.338*	.158	<.001	1.022	1.654
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.412*	.154	.009	.104	.719
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	029	.126	.816	281	.222
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	059	.122	.630	301	.184
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	338*	.111	.003	559	117

Table 17 Pairwise Comparisons of the different measurements of lower bodystrength scores in intervention and control group (n=68)

Based on estimated marginal means, the mean * difference is significant at p-value < 0.05.

a. Adjustment for multiple comparisons: Bonferroni.

4.4 Effectiveness of MEI model to increase awareness of safe work practice

4.4.1 Rapid entire body assessment (REBA)

In table 18 shows comparing mean REBA score between intervention and control group at the baseline, exit model (12 weeks), 1^{st} follow-up (24 weeks). At baseline point, the REBA score was high risk level in both groups among street sweepers and there was no difference of REBA score between intervention (Mean= 10.41, SD=1.83) and control group (Mean= 10.06, SD=1.43), mean of difference was 0.35. However, there were significantly different in mean REBA score from exit model (12 weeks) and 1^{st} follow-up (24th weeks).

Table 18 Comparing the REBA score between intervention (n=34) and control school (n=34) at the baseline, exit model, 1^{st} follow-up

Time of	Musculoskelet	tal strength	Mean	95% CI
data collection	(score)		Difference	
	Intervention	Intervention Control		
	mean ± SD.	mean ± SD.		
Baseline	10.41± 1.83	10.06 ± 1.43	0.35	-0.44 - 1.15
Exit model (12 th Weeks)	5.38 ± 1.16	8.65 ± 1.99	-3.26	-4.06 - (-2.47)*
1st follow-up (16 th Weeks)	6.79 ± 1.39	9.68 ± 2.01	-3.18	-4.03 - (-2.32)*

*Significant at p-value < 0.05, using independent t-test

In figure 32 shows the REBA score was high risk level in both groups among street sweepers at baseline, it was similarly between intervention and control group at the baseline point. Intervention group, the average of mean REBA score was decreased at exit model and 1st follow-up. Control group, the average of mean REBA score was slightly decreased at exit model and follow-up.



Figure 32 Trend in REBA score score between intervention and control group among street sweepers (n = 34)

Testing the effect of the MEI model

In table 19 shows significantly different effect of MEI model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers on changes in mean REBA score between intervention and control group at baseline, exit model, 1^{st} follow-up (F=72.75, p-value=<0.001). Similarly, the within subjects testing showed significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean REBA score over 3 time points (F=63.75, p-value=<0.001). There were significant the mean REBA score by time interaction, p-value=<0.001).

Source	SS	df	MS	F	P-value
Between subjects					
Intervention	210.04	1	219.04	72.75	<0.001**
Error	190.56	66	2.89		
Within subjects*					
Time	355.32	2	177.66	63.75	<0.001**
Intervention* time	144.79	2	72.39	25.98	<0.001**
Error	367.88	132	2.79		

 Table 19 Effectiveness of the MEI model for REBA scores of street sweepers (n =68)

* Sphericity assumed (p<0.066), ** Significant at p-value < 0.001

In table 20 shows the pairwise comparisons of the different measurements of REBA scores in intervention and control. The results reported time in baseline with exit model (12 weeks) and 1^{st} follow-up, exit model (12^{th} weeks) with baseline and 1^{st} follow-up, 1^{st} follow-up with baseline with exit model (12^{th} weeks) were significantly different in time point.

	Time			Sig ^ª	95% Confidence	
Time		Mean Difference	Std. Error		Interval	
		Direrence	LITO		Lower	Upper
Baseline	Exit model (12th Weeks)	3.221*	.300	<.001	2.484	3.957
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	1.853*	.308	<.001	1.097	2.609
Exit model	Baseline	-3.221*	.300	<.001	-3.957	-2.484
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	-1.368*	.248	<.001	-1.976	759
1 st follow-up	Baseline	-1.853*	.308	<.001	-2.609	-1.097
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	1.368*	.248	<.001	.759	1.976

Table 20 Pairwise comparisons of the different measurements of REBA scores in intervention and control group (n=68)

Based on estimated marginal means, the mean * difference is significant at p-value < 0.05. a. Adjustment for multiple comparisons: Bonferroni.

4.4.2 Awareness score

In table 21 shows comparing awareness score between intervention and control group at the baseline, exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up. At baseline point, there was no difference of awareness score between intervention (Mean= 42.85, SD=5.87) and control group (Mean= 47.35, SD=6.14), mean of difference was -4.50. However, there were significantly different in mean awareness score from exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up.

Table 21 Comparing the awareness safe work practice score between intervention (n=34) and control school (n=34) at the baseline, exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up

Time of	Musculoskeletal strength		Mean	95% CI
data collection	(score)		Difference	
	Intervention	Control		
	mean ± SD.	mean ± SD.		
Baseline	42.85 ± 5.87	47.35 ± 6.14	-4.50	-7.14 - (-1.59)
Exit model (12 th Weeks)	66.00 ± 3.13	50.97 ± 5.14	15.02	12.96 - 17.10*
1st follow-up (16 th Weeks)	69.68 ± 2.36	51.59 ± 2.97	18.08	16.79 - 19.40*
2nd follow-up (20 th Weeks)	72.35 ± 2.64	49.53 ± 2.64	22.82	21.61 - 24.03*
3rd follow-up (24 th Weeks)	74.65 ± 2.06	47.59 ± 2.32	27.06	25.99 – 28.12*
4th follow-up (26 th Weeks)	70.18 ± 2.50	46.38 ± 1.59	23.79	22.77 - 24.81*

*Significant at p-value < 0.05, using independent t-test

In figure 33 shows similarly between intervention and control group at the baseline point. Intervention, there were decreased mean awareness score from exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} follow-up except from 4^{th} follow-up was slightly increased. Control group, it was slightly increased at exit model and 1^{st} follow-up except, $2^{nd} 3^{rd}$ and 4^{th} follow-up were decreased to mean awareness score.





Testing the effect of the MEI model

In table 22 shows significantly different effect of MEI model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers on changes in mean awareness score between intervention and control group at baseline, exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up (F=753.99, p-value=<0.001). Similarly, the within subjects testing showed significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean experience discomfort score over 6 time points (F=293.10, p-value=<0.001). There were significant the mean REBA score by time interaction, p-value=<0.001).

 Table 22 Effectiveness of the MEI model for awareness scores of street sweepers

 (n =68)

		M Harden			
Source	SS	df	MS	F	P-value
Between subjects	////				
Intervention	29648.24	1	29648.24	753.99	<0.001**
Error	2595.22	66	39.32		
Within subjects*					
Time	12918.21	1.85	6992.75	343.42	<0.001**
Intervention* time	11025.46	1.85	5968.19	293.10	<0.001**
Error	1115.33	56.88	19.61		

* Greenhouse-Geisser, ** Significant at p-value < 0.01

In table 23 shows the pairwise comparisons of the different measurements of awareness score in intervention and control. The results reported time in 1st follow-up up with 2nd follow-up, 1st follow-up with 4th follow-up (26th Weeks), 2nd follow-up with 1st follow-up, 2nd follow-up with 4th follow-up (26th Weeks), 4th follow-up (26th Weeks) with 1st follow-up and 4th follow-up (26th Weeks) with 2nd follow-up were no significantly different in time point.

Time	Time	Mean	Std.	Sig. ^ª -	95% Confidence Interval	
lime		Difference	Error		Lower	Upper
Baseline	Exit model (12th Weeks)	-13.382*	.429	<.001	-14.238	-12.527
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	-15.529*	.586	<.001	-16.700	-14.359
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	-15.838*	.685	<.001	-17.205	-14.471
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	-16.015*	.729	<.001	-17.470	-14.559
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	-13.176*	.715	<.001	-14.603	-11.750
Exit model	Baseline	.429	.000	12.527	14.238	.429
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	.352	.000	-2.849	-1.445	.352
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	.451	.000	-3.356	-1.556	.451
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	.487	.000	-3.604	-1.660	.487
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	.493	.678	779	1.190	.493
1 st follow-up	Baseline	.586	.000	14.359	16.700	.586
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	.352	.000	1.445	2.849	.352
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	.263	.245	835	.217	.263
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	.300	.111	-1.085	.114	.300
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	.319	.000	1.716	2.989	.319
2 nd follow-up	Baseline	15.838*	.685	<.001	14.471	17.205
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	2.456*	.451	<.001	1.556	3.356
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	.309	.263	.245	217	.835
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	176	.213	.410	601	.248
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	2.662*	.309	<.001	2.046	3.278
3 rd follow-up	Baseline	16.015*	.729	<.001	14.559	17.470
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	2.632*	.487	<.001	1.660	3.604
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	.485	.300	.111	114	1.085
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	.176	.213	.410	248	.601
	4 th follow-up (26th Weeks)	2.838*	.268	<.001	2.303	3.373
4 th follow-up	Baseline	13.176*	.715	<.001	11.750	14.603
	Exit model (12th Weeks)	206	.493	.678	-1.190	.779
	1 st follow-up(16th Weeks)	-2.353*	.319	<.001	-2.989	-1.716
	2 nd follow-up (20th Weeks)	-2.662*	.309	<.001	-3.278	-2.046
	3 rd follow-up (24th Weeks)	-2.838*	.268	<.001	-3.373	-2.303

Table 23 Pairwise comparisons of the different measurements of awareness scores inintervention and control group (n=68)

Based on estimated marginal means, the mean * difference is significant at p-value < 0.05.

a. Adjustment for multiple comparisons: Bonferroni.

CHAPTER V CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSIONS

This chapter displayed a findings and discussion which into five components; discussions, conclusion, limitation, generalizability, and recommendation for further research. This study evaluated the effectiveness of the Multidimensional Ergonomic Intervention (MEI) model on reducing musculoskeletal discomfort, improving physical performance and increasing awareness of safe work practices among street sweepers in Chiang Rai province as follows;

5.1 Discussion

In this study investigated the effectiveness of the Multidimensional Ergonomic Intervention (MEI) model. All outcome variables were reducing musculoskeletal discomfort, improving physical performance and increasing awareness of safe work practices among street sweepers. There are discussed as follows;

5.1.1 Effectiveness of MEI model on reducing musculoskeletal discomfort1. Prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort

The result indicated that the MEI model on decreasing the prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort. It reported that decreased the prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort after implementation of the model by musculoskeletal discomfort assessment. Although Stambuli (2012) pointed out that musculoskeletal discomfort were affected to more risk factors. The musculoskeletal pain was significantly associated with age but was not significant with alcohol consumption and smoking (Ueno, Hisanaga, Jonai, Shibata, & Kamijima, 1999). According to Ghasemkhani et al., MSDs in worker were not associated with age and BMI (Ghasemkhani et al., 2008). The finding indicated significantly association between musculoskeletal discomfort and number of years of occupation (Chaiklieng, Juntratep, Suggaravetsiri, & Puntumetakul, 2012). Moreover, Theerawanichtrakul and Sithisarankul (2014) found that it was positively associated between MSD and walking distance, length and weight of broom, and weight of broom and dustpan. However,

the personal factor should be advised to health behavior change. Yet it was related the attitude and belief since there was accepted to take action. Orem et al (2003) pointed out that a person was allowed to seek alternative treatment and self-care for management their health. The results were reported that 83% of people had lumbar pain used the self- care recovery treatment and 20% used muscle relaxants (Andersson, Ejlertsson, Leden, & Scherstén, 1999). Topical medications were useful for relieving acute and chronic musculoskeletal discomfort; it was reported that 50% of patients reduction in musculoskeletal discomfort (Mason, Moore, Derry, Edwards, & McQuay, 2004). Massaging was recommended the most effective to relieve the musculoskeletal discomfort and improve range of motion among worker (Sisko, Videmsek, & Karpljuk, 2011). Moreover, the evidence was indicated that significantly effective of massage to decreases back pain, safe treatment alternative and that cheap cost of care (Cherkin, Sherman, Deyo, & Shekelle, 2003). Interestingly, the massage was appeared that effective to improve musculoskeletal pain among patients on chronic musculoskeletal pain (Plews-Ogan, Owens, Goodman, Wolfe, & Schorling, 2005). Despite, there were a variety of treatments for musculoskeletal discomfort, there might have been selected the treatment to suitable of own self.

Moreover, majority of prevalence of musculoskeletal discomfort was ranked wrists/hands, shoulders and neck. According to Tsuritani et al. (2002) found that majority of prevalence of MSD was ranked lower back, shoulders, legs, neck, and upper back among middle-aged women in Japan. The research study was investigated the prevalence and related factors of musculoskeletal discomfort among road sweepers in Bangkok showed that the most of them body region was shoulders and knees (Theerawanichtrakul & Sithisarankul, 2014). Moreover, musculoskeletal disorders were often involved wrist, elbow, shoulder and back in occurring to expose over time such as repetitive movement, awkward postures and forceful exertions (Chaffin et al., 2006). The risk factors of musculoskeletal discomfort includes awkward postures, repetitive motion, static postures, and forceful exertions (NIOSH, 2007). The occupation related musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers were

repetitive movement from using broom sweeping, bending back for removing garbage, and walking area.

The MEI model consists of 4 components including cognitive behavior; education training; stretching exercise; and adding foam sleeve handle grip. The study indicated the effectiveness on reducing prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort. Cognitive behavior could be used strategies and skills to apply for many challenges in life such as management chronic pain, mental and behavioral disorders, control drinking, and maintain exercise. Moreover, cognitive behavioral therapy involved emotion and actions of situation responses which-leads to adaptation of life events (Prendes & & Resko, 2012). Hence, cognitive behavior therapy focuses on the interaction between thinking, feeling and behavior that usually linked with current problems and limited period of time (Freeman et al., 2007). According to Amick III et al (2003), the ergonomics intervention reduced musculoskeletal symptoms among office workers, it had reduced the average pain levels in both groups over the workday. In addition, Mahmud, Kenny, Zein, & Hassan (2011) indicated that prevalence rate of MSD was relatively high and corrective exercise program was effective to decrease it. Grip Work (2011) recommended that the smooth foam tubes were appropriate and simple to use as it felt comfortable while relieving pressure on the hand. Therefore, the MEI model resulted the change in prevalence rate of musculoskeletal discomfort.

2. Musculoskeletal discomfort score

Musculoskeletal discomfort score indicated that significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean MSD score between intervention and control group at baseline, exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up. Musculoskeletal discomfort score showed high risk level musculoskeletal discomfort. Demure et al. (2000) indicated that an ergonomic intervention was associated reduction with discomfort score. Moreover, the evaluation of the effect of an office ergonomic workplace and training intervention to reduce MSD was significant decreased overall MSD among training ergonomic practice group (M. M. Robertson & O'Neill, 2003). Stretching exercises were effective to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort and pain related to static posture and repetitive movement (da Costa & Vieira, 2008). Musculoskeletal discomfort were often involved wrist, elbow, shoulder, and back in occurring to expose over time such as repetitive movement, awkward postures and forceful exertions (Chaffin et al., 2006). The musculoskeletal disorder was regarded as multifactorial causation including physical or mechanical factors, psychosocial factors or organizational, and individual or personal factors (EUOSHA, 2008). Moreover, awkward and static postures, repetitive handling, repetitive or monotonous work, demanding, straining work, lack of recreation times, high time pressure, frequently of overtime hours, and reduced physical capacity were all the risk factors which led to musculoskeletal disorders (Korhan, 2012).

5.1.2 Effectiveness of MEI model on improving physical performance

1. Muscle strength

The result showed significantly difference in muscle strength score at the exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up. In this study, the performance was depended on 4 integrated components of the MEI model. The exercise interventions program indicated the improvement of physical performance (strength, endurance, flexibility and balance) within the first 3 months (King et al., 2002). The exercise intervention was useful to people who had the musculoskeletal problem related working tasks (Leah, 2011). In general, stretching effects could increase of muscular performance (Dintiman, 1964). In contrast, stretching exercise was recommended to decrease muscle strength, following by long-term stretching, all of which were conducted in two sessions daily as 45 second per sessions in 7 days per week and the end of 8 weeks (Kubo, Kanehisa, & Fukunaga, 2002). According to Miszko et al. (2003), it was found that there were significantly muscle strength and changes in physical function after intervention for 16 weeks. This study reported that significantly muscle strength after the MEI model 12th weeks.

2. Upper body strength

The finding reported significant difference in mean of upper body strength score from exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up. Street sweeping workers commonly use manual effort by using broom to push and shove garbage. Broom is

used outdoor to clean surfaces by sweeping all kinds of debris. Long handled brooms does not bending position which reduces fatigue and increase productivity levels (Ministry of Urban Development Government of India, 2000). According to California Department of Industrial Relations (2005), workers who sweep may involve awkward postures of wrists and prolonged contact pressure on hands. Moreover, the back and neck are often in an awkward forward bent postures. Musculoskeletal discomforts caused primarily by working condition (repetitive movement, force and awkward postures) and by individual behavior (self-practice safety practice) (European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2007). Repetitive movement condition uses upper limb frequently such as scapula, shoulders, hands and wrists, which leads to musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers. The MEI model, the stretching exercise involved guide for improving muscle strength. Moreover, cognitive behavior; education training; and adding foam sleeve handle grip were effective indirectly help increasing upper body strength score. According to Jones and Rikli, the Arm curl test was significant to assess upper body strength and needed for performing household and other activities involving lifting and carrying things such as groceries, suitcases and grandchildren (Jones & Rikli, 2002).

3. Lower body strength

The result showed significantly different in lower body strength score at exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up. 30- second chair stand due to assessment muscular strength and endurance on lower body strength (Panti, 2007), it conducted after the end of model and follow-up. Moreover, there was significantly increase on the sit and reach measured mean score after stretching exercise, which indicated the improvement of the physical performance within 12-week (Kokkonen, Nelson, & Cornwell, 1998). The MEI model, the effectiveness of stretching exercise could increase power activities and strengthen muscle to prevent muscle injury and soreness (Lavender et al., 2007; Rubini et al., 2007). According to Valachi and Valachi (2003), stretching the muscles helped remaining strong and healthy. Stretching exercise was the action to perform a particular exercise for improving flexibility and

joint range of motion; it was traditionally considered the joint range of motion that could be measured (Magnusson & Renström, 2006).

Therefore, from MEI model, the most improved physical performance among street sweepers on musculoskeletal discomfort was stretching exercise. Another core component helped supporting awareness when practicing the activities regularly in this program.

5.1.3 Effectiveness of MEI model on increasing awareness of safe work1. Rapid entire body assessment (REBA)

The result showed high risk level in both groups among street sweepers at the baseline. Participants were 10.41 of mean REBA score at baseline, 5.38 of mean REBA score at exit model and 6.79 of REBA score at 1st follow-up. According to Meksaw et al (2012) found that 11 of mean REBA score and 4 of mean REBA score after used intervention program to reduce the problem in massaging rubber sheet machine (Meksawi, Tangtrakulwanich, & Chongsuvivatwong, 2012). Analysis of REBA scores, it was generated to indicate the risk level and urgency with which should be taken (Hignett & McAtamney, 2000). This study was conducted on the MEI model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers. The result showed medium risk level after implementing the MEI model in intervention group. The REBA score was indicated the over high risk stage among street cleaners of municipalities in Seoul and GyeongGi Province, Korea (Lee et al., 2007). Ergonomics problems were used with REBA techniques to assess the unpredictable whole body postures of working and to use for data collecting of the body posture for movement, action, coupling, and repetition. According to the massaging rubber sheet machine, it showed the reduce of the problem in 11 of mean REBA score and 4 of mean REBA score after using this intervention program (Meksawi et al., 2012). Thus, REBA tool was measured useful for rapid assessment of musculoskeletal loads and observe the tasks on various action on risk levels to conduct the resolve risk of ergonomic problem. In contrast, it could not identify different types on severity of various risk factors for the control in the tasks (Moussavi-Najarkola & Mirzaei, 2012).

The MEI model involved change in REBA scores; two components were cognitive behavior therapy and ergonomic education training. Cognitive therapy was one technique of therapy that focused on the relationships and connections between our thoughts, feelings and actions. Recognizing that each circumstance was affected by the environment in which live and environment involves both our current situations such as family, friends, job, culture, various stressor and supports, etc., as well as our past family history, past relationships, previous successes and failures, etc. Within our environment, there are four elements that interact with each other which will be presented as below; (Greig et al., 2007)

2. Awareness safe work practice

Awareness scores, it was significantly different in mean awareness score from exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up. Similarly, both groups showed significant different effect of MEI model on changes in mean awareness score at baseline, exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up. According to Das et al., the effectiveness of occupational health awareness intervention among female sweepers working under the Midnapore municipality of west Bengal, India, it showed the considerable increase in the awareness levels and preventive approaches of diseases among the women sweepers (Das et al., 2013). Moreover, the result showed significant increased awareness of the effects of an office ergonomics intervention training program on musculoskeletal pain and discomfort (M. M. Robertson & O'Neill, 2003). According to Clark (2004), work practice helps to prevent ergonomic risk factors on workers and illness. Providing participatory ergonomics program for safety and health on workers by training course and education ergonomic risk factors work practices, techniques of safety on work, and personal protective equipment (Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), 2008). Cognitive behavior could be used strategies and skills to apply for many challenges in life such as management chronic pain, mental and behavioral disorders, control drinking and maintain exercise. Moreover, cognitive behavioral therapy involved with emotion and actions of situation responses whichled to adaptation of life events (Prendes & & Resko, 2012)

5.2 Conclusion

The multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model benefit among street sweepers by reducing musculoskeletal discomfort, improving physical performance and increasing awareness of safe work practices among street sweepers. The MEI model was integrated 4 elements including cognitive behavior; education tanning; stretching exercise; and adding foam sleeve handle grip. Cognitive behavior therapy, was related to self-practice MSD, concept of thinking, self-esteem and coping skill related MSD and Effectiveness to changes you though related ergonomic safety practice MSD that training by psychiatric nurse. Musculoskeletal discomfort was related to health risk among street sweepers, hazardous street sweeping affects the musculoskeletal discomfort, consequences of musculoskeletal discomfort, musculoskeletal discomfort can be prevented and ergonomic safety practice such as safety working practice, posture that training by physiotherapist. Stretching exercise, was related to benefits of stretching exercise, safety consideration of stretching exercise, step of stretching exercise include wrist and hand, shoulder and arm, back pain, leg and feet. Adding foam sleeve handle grip, it was used approximately 45 centimeters length of smooth foam tube was provided. The researcher supported foam sleeve broom handle grip for conducting the experiment in this study. The study was delivered via booklet: Safety on work among street sweepers that involved an ergonomic safety practice such as measurement tool for working condition, safety working practice, posture of work, and stretching exercise to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort in workplace and provide easy language that all workers can understand. Moreover, the booklet was used pictures to provide the activities due to limit education on street sweepers in Chiang Rai municipality.

Eligible target populations were selected to participate in the total of 75 street sweepers in Chiang Rai province and they are voluntary participants in the study. There were 68 street sweepers who met screening criteria on musculoskeletal discomfort of having level score \geq 4 by physiotherapist (intervention group = 34; control group = 34). Street sweepers from intervention group were conducted to MEI model in 12 weeks. The participants in control group where the multidimensional

ergonomic intervention (MEI) model was not implemented. Assessment was conducted at baseline, exit model (12th weeks), 16th weeks, 20th weeks, 24th weeks and 28th weeks. The participants in this study were not dropped-out and lost to follow – up on the model. The study was started on September until December, 2014 and follow-up in January, February, March and April 2015. Findings of this study as follows;

5.2.1 Demographic characteristic and working factors

Findings founded that most of variable among street sweepers were comparable between intervention and control group. Both groups had higher numbers of female than male and most of them were primary school. Majority of both participants were together with parent; intervention group was 91.18% and control group was 97.06%. There were more number of their street sweepers no smoking and never drinking. Street sweepers, most of them were not taking a break during their sweeping on field. Both groups were never exercise. Most of participants were reduced musculoskeletal discomfort from Let recover by themselves, massage and topical treatment respectively.

Working factors, it was statistically associated between intervention group and control groups included age, working years, Body mass index, walking distance, using broom per month, length and weight of broom, total weight broom and dustpan, proportion between height of the chin among street sweepers with height of the boom and proportion between height of street sweepers and height of the boom.

Comparing demographic characteristics and working factors between intervention and control groups were shown no statistically associated most of characteristics, except to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort statistical association. In summary, there were no difference characteristics among street sweepers and no impact of imbalance baseline characteristics into both group; intervention and control group.

5.2.2 Effectiveness of MEI model on reducing MSD

1. Musculoskeletal discomfort assessment

The prevalence of musculoskeletal discomfort in past 1 month; Intervention group, it was decreased at exit model, 1st, 2nd and 3rd follow-up and control group, it was slightly increased at exit model and 3rd follow-up except 1st, 2nd and 4th follow-up were decreased to the prevalence of musculoskeletal discomfort. The prevalence of musculoskeletal discomfort in past 7 days; Intervention group, it was decreased at exit model, 1st, 2nd and 3rd follow-up but it was increased at 4th follow-up and control group, it was slightly increased at exit model at exit model and 3rd follow-up except 1st, 2nd and 3rd follow-up and control group, it was slightly increased at exit model and 3rd follow-up except 1st, 2nd and 4th follow-up and control group, it was slightly increased at exit model and 3rd follow-up except 1st, 2nd and 4th follow-up and control group, it was slightly increased to the prevalence of musculoskeletal discomfort.

2. Musculoskeletal discomfort score by physiotherapist

Musculoskeletal discomfort score by physiotherapist, it shows similarly between intervention and control group at the baseline point and it indicated that high risk level musculoskeletal discomfort. Intervention, there were decreased mean musculoskeletal discomfort score from exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd follow-up except from 4th follow-up was slightly increased. Control group, it was slightly increased at exit model and 3rd follow-up except 1st, 2nd and 4th follow-up were decreased to mean musculoskeletal discomfort score. Significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean musculoskeletal discomfort score between intervention and control group at baseline, exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up. Similarly, the within subjects testing showed significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean musculoskeletal discomfort score over 6 time points.

In summary, the MEI model to decrease the prevalence of MSD in street sweepers. Significantly different the effect of MEI model on changes in mean MSD score between intervention and control group at exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up. The finding showed high severity MSD levels at baseline, moderate severity MSD levels at exit model and 1^{st} follow-up, and slight severity MSD levels at 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up. So, the MEI model can to reduce of MSD among street sweepers.

5.2.3. Effectiveness of MEI model on improving physical performance.

1. Musculoskeletal strength

Musculoskeletal strength score by physiotherapist, it showed no difference in mean musculoskeletal strength score at baseline point between intervention and control group. However, there were significantly different in mean musculoskeletal strength score from exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up. Similarly between intervention and control group at the baseline point and significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean musculoskeletal strength score over 6 time points.

2. Upper body strength

Upper body strength score by physiotherapist, it shows similarly between intervention and control group at the baseline point and it indicated that less than 11 score in the both group (intervention =9.65, control= 9.62). Criterion performance scores of arm curl test less than 11 in the both male and female that mean risk of upper body strength (Jones & Rikli, 2002). Comparing upper body strength score by sport scientist between intervention and control group was reported that significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean upper body strength score at baseline, exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up. Similarly, the within subjects testing showed significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean upper body strength score at baseline score over 6 time points.

3. Lower body strength

Lower body strength score by physiotherapist, it shows similarly between intervention and control group at the baseline point and it indicated that more than 8 score in the both group (intervention =10.24, control= 10.21). Criterion performance scores of with sit and stand on the chair less than 8 in the both male and female that mean risk of upper body strength. Lower body strength score, it was reported that no difference of lower body strength score but it was significantly different in mean lower body strength score from exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up between intervention and control group. Similarly, intervention and control group were decreased mean lower body strength score from exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd follow-up except from 4th follow-up was slightly increased. Control group, it was slightly

increased at exit model and 3^{rd} follow-up except 1^{st} , 2^{nd} and 4^{th} follow-up were decreased to mean lower body strength score.

In summary, Significantly different in mean muscle strength score , upper body strength score and lower body strength score at exit model, 1st , 2nd , 3rd and 4th follow-up. So, the MEI model to improve physical performance in street sweeper.

5.2.4. Effectiveness of MEI model on increasing awareness of safe work practices.

1. Rapid entire body assessment (REBA)

REBA score, it was high level into intervention and control group at baseline. The result was indicated no difference of REBA score between intervention and control group in baseline but it was significantly different in mean REBA score from exit model, 1st follow-up. For the model testing, it was shown significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean REBA score between both groups at baseline, exit model and 1st follow-up. Similarly, the within subjects testing showed significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean REBA score over 3 time points.

2. Awareness safe work practice

Awareness score, it was shows no difference of awareness score between intervention and control group. However, there were significantly different in mean awareness score from exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up. Similarly, both groups were shows significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean awareness score at baseline, exit model, 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th follow-up. The within subjects testing showed significantly different effect of MEI model on changes in mean experience discomfort score over 6 time points.

In summary, both groups indicated that significantly different in mean awareness score from exit model, 1st, 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up. The data indicated that moderate awareness score at baseline and very high awareness at exit model, 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} follow-up. It was high level into intervention and control group at baseline. The finding showed that significantly different effect of MEI model on

changes in mean REBA score between both groups at exit model and 1st follow-up. The result showed good posture involves the MEI model in among street sweepers. So, the MEI model to increase awareness of safe work practices in street sweeper.

Conclusion overall the MEI model

This study conducted MEI model which consisted of 4 integrated components; 1) cognitive behavior therapy 2) ergonomic education training 3) stretching exercise, and 4) innovation foam sleeve handle grip. Cognitive behavior by psychiatric nurse, it was one type of concept on thoughts which plays an importance on role of behavior change, beliefs change, thinking patterns and awareness of safety work practice. Moreover, it can help a model sustainability (Torres et al., 2007). Ergonomic education training by Occupational nurse, the training or education model can help a long way to increase safety awareness on worker to perform on their jobs and can protect or improve risk factors of MSD (Dudley & Delong, 2001). Stretching exercise by sports scientist, it is one type to reduce muscle discomfort and to prevent muscles injury/illness and improve performance (Magnusson & Renström, 2006). A fundamental of stretching exercises affects the mechanical properties of the musculoskeletal discomfort. Innovation foam sleeve handle grip, a foam sleeve was a device which was created for applications which require extra hand grip and need to prolong handle tool such as safety bars, fitness equipment and long broom handle (GripWorks, 2011). All outcomes reported that the effectiveness of the multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model were reducing musculoskeletal discomfort, improving physical performance, and increasing awareness of safe work practices.

The MEI model will be developed to ease and combine the booklet for implementation in real situation; it will provide other municipalities to use them. The model will train staff of another municipality by staff from research study. Generally, the municipality staff can conduct the ergonomic education training and stretching exercise. Innovation foam sleeve handle broom can be managed from municipality except cognitive behavior therapy can provide from hospital nurse.





5.3 Study Limitations

1. Gender imbalance, there were 59 female samples, with only 9 male as the condition of the work were mainly sweeping and collecting waste into bins, these activities required female labor force. While collecting municipal solid waste were located in the local disposal site and dump site which required male labor force.

2. Possibility of contamination might be occurred. In this study was conducted in the Chiang Rai's Muang District area that may have an interaction between intervention and control groups during activities. However, the street sweepers were normally worked in their separate-assigned zone, and hardly communicated and/or met each other's

3. Participants were asked about level or experience of the MSD – one month after the intervention. This may be difficult for them to recall accurate memory of discomfort level.

4. Outside information on "Health service", social/cultural interactions and communication technology may be influenced and interfered the results.

5.4 Generalizability

1. The MEI model can be generalized to street sweepers in another municipality due to the context of street sweepers were similarly such as approximately 1-3 kilometer for response street sweeping distance in daily work, and same posture in activities including street sweeping distance and bending back.

2. The MEI model can be applied to other occupation which used repetitive movement and award posture such as house sweeping, janitor.

5.5 Recommendation for further research

1. The promoting the implementation of MEI model to others municipality to get more consolidated evidence.

2. The MEI model consisted of 1) cognitive behavior ergonomic therapy, 2) education training, 3) stretching exercise, and 4) adding foam sleeve handle grip. The innovation of broom handle grip could be applied/added to any street sweepers for daily used. It is easy to use, comfortable and durable.

3. This study integrated 4 components including cognitive behavior therapy, ergonomic education training, stretching exercise, and adding foam sleeve broom handle grip to reduce MSD. all of which can be boost in decreasing mean MSD score after 24th weeks) of MEI model implementation. The model after 3 months (24th weeks) that decreased in mean MSD score.

4. The health facility should be supported by municipality, the policy set up to maintain or protect the musculoskeletal discomfort that helps to success on musculoskeletal discomfort.

5. Testing the cost-effectiveness of the MEI model to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort.
REFERENCES

- Abramowitz, J. S. (2013). The practice of exposure therapy: relevance of cognitivebehavioral theory and extinction theory. *Behavior therapy*, *44*(4), 548-558.
- Amick III, B. C., Robertson, M. M., DeRango, K., Bazzani, L., Moore, A., Rooney, T., & Harrist, R. (2003). Effect of office ergonomics intervention on reducing musculoskeletal symptoms. *Spine*, *28*(24), 2706-2711.
- Andersson, H. I., Ejlertsson, G., Leden, I., & Scherstén, B. (1999). Impact of chronic pain on health care seeking, self care, and medication. Results from a populationbased Swedish study. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 53(8), 503-509.
- Anton, D., Rosecrance, J., Merlino, L., & Cook, T. (2002). Prevalence of musculoskeletal symptoms and carpal tunnel syndrome among dental hygienists. *American journal of industrial medicine, 42*(3), 248-257.
- Atlas Graham. (2010). Keeping it clean: broom. Ioronclad Warranty, Gavantic Inattaquable 800.665.8670. [Online]. Available from <u>http://www.slideshare.net/iimigee64/2010-atlas-graham-buvers-guide</u>
- Bandy, W. D., Irion, J. M., & Briggler, M. (1998). The effect of static stretch and dynamic range of motion training on the flexibility of the hamstring muscles. *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy, 27*(4), 295-300.
- Beck, J. S. (1995). Cognitive therapy: Wiley Online Library.
- Boonchoo, W. (2005). A comparative study of lung function of street sweepers in inner and outer regions of Bangkok metropolis. Mahidol University.
- British Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapies (BABCP). (2005). What are Cognitive and/or Behavioural Psychotherapies? Paper prepared for a UKCP/BACP mapping psychotherapy exercise Katy Grazebrook, Anne Garland and the Board of BABCP July 2005; 1-7.
- California Department of Industrial Relations. (2005). Working Safer and Easier: for Janitors, Custodians, and Housekeepers. Division of Occupational Safety and

Health, California Department of Industrial Relations Code Section 11096. . [Online]. Available from <u>http://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/puborder.asp</u>

Campos, T. O. (2006). Mechanical broom: Google Patents.

- Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety. (2010). Canadian Standards Association: Guideline on Office Ergonomics CSA-Z412-00 (R2005).
- Carol, T., CAROL, L., & Priscilla, L. (1993). Fundamentals of nursing: The art and science of nursing care. *JB Lippincott Philadelphia. Pag*, 29-31.
- Chaffin, D., Andersson, G., & Martin, B. (2006). Occupational Biomechanics 4th ed.: Wiley-Interscience.
- Chaiklieng, S., Juntratep, P., Suggaravetsiri, P., & Puntumetakul, R. (2012). Prevalence and ergonomic risk factors of low back pain among solid waste collectors of local administrative organizations in Nong Bua Lam Phu province. *Journal of Medical Technology and Physical Therapy-24*(1), 97-109.
- Cherkin, D. C., Sherman, K. J., Deyo, R. A., & Shekelle, P. G. (2003). A review of the evidence for the effectiveness, safety, and cost of acupuncture, massage therapy, and spinal manipulation for back pain. *Annals of internal medicine*, *138*(11), 898-906.
- Cherry. (2005). British Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapies (BABCP) Mapping Psychotherapy. What is CBT? [Online]. Available from <u>http://www.babcp.com/silo/files/what-is-cbt.pdf</u>
- Choi, S. D., & Woletz, T. (2010). Do stretching programs prevent work-related musculoskeletal disorders. *Journal of Safety, Health and Environmental Research, 6*(3), 1-19.
- Clark D. (2004). Reduceing injuries, claims, and cost. *In stenders MJ, ed. Ergonomics* and the management of musculoskeletal disoeders. St. Louis: ButterworthHeinemann. Pp. 299-323.
- Cooper, C. L., Dewe, P. J., & O'Driscoll, M. P. (2001). Organizational stress: A review and critique of theory, research, and applications: Sage.
- da Costa, B. R., & Vieira, E. R. (2008). Stretching to reduce work-related musculoskeletal disorders: a systematic review. *Journal of Rehabilitation medicine, 40*(5), 321-328.

- Da Silva, C., Hoppe, A., Ravanello, M., & Mello, N. (2005). Medical wastes management in the south of Brazil. *Waste management, 25*(6), 600-605.
- Das, R., Pradhan, S., Mandal, S., Ali, K. M., Maiti, S., & Ghosh, D. (2013). Impact Of Health Awareness Intervention Among The Women Sweepers Working Under The Midnapore Municipality Of West Bengal, India. *Bangladesh Journal of Medical Science, 12*(1), 49-54.
- Demure, B., Mundt, K. A., Bigelow, C., Luippold, R. S., Ali, D., & Liese, B. (2000). Video
 Display Terminal Workstation Improvement Program: II. Ergonomic
 Intervention and Reduction of Musculoskeletal Discomfort. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 42(8), 792-797.
- Dintiman, G. B. (1964). Effects of various training programs on running speed. Research Quarterly. American Association for Health, Physical Education and Recreation, 35(4), 456-463.
- Dobson, D. J. G., & Dobson, K. S. (2009). Evidence-based practice of cognitivebehavioral therapy: Cambridge Univ Press.
- Drennan, F. S., Ramsay, J. D., & Richey, D. (2006). Program Development-Integrating Employee Safety & Fitness: A Model for Meeting NIOSH's Steps to a Healthier US Workforce Challenge-An aging workforce has become a key driver of high workers'. *Professional Safety, 51*(1), 26-35.
- Dror, I. E., Champod, C., Langenburg, G., Charlton, D., Hunt, H., & Rosenthal, R. (2011). Cognitive issues in fingerprint analysis: Inter-and intra-expert consistency and the effect of a 'target'comparison. *Forensic science international, 208*(1), 10-17.
- Dudley, S. E., & Delong, W. B. (2001). OSHA's Ergonomics program standard and musculoskeletal disorders: an introduction. *Journal of Labor Research, 22*(1), 1-14.
- Edwards D.F. (2004). Psychosocail factors. In Sanders MJ, ed. Ergonomics and the management of mudculoskeletal disorders. *Missouri, Butterworth Heinemann. pp. 265-280.*
- EUOSHA. (2008). What are work-related musculoskeletal disorders (WRMSDs)? In: European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2012. [Online]. Available

from<u>http://osha.europa.eu/en/faq/frequently-asked-questions/what-are-workrelated-musculoskeletal-disorders-msds</u>.

- European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. (2007). FACTS 71 Introduction to work-related musculoskeletal disorders,. [Online]. Available from <u>http://osha.europa.eu/publications/factsheets/71</u>
- Fenety, A., & Walker, J. M. (2002). Short-term effects of workstation exercises on musculoskeletal discomfort and postural changes in seated video display unit workers. *Physical Therapy*, 82(6), 578-589.
- Fogleman, M., & Lewis, R. J. (2002). Factors associated with self-reported musculoskeletal discomfort in video display terminal (VDT) users. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics, 29*(6), 311-318.
- Freeman, J. B., Choate-Summers, M. L., Moore, P. S., Garcia, A. M., Sapyta, J. J., Leonard, H. L., & Franklin, M. E. (2007). Cognitive behavioral treatment for young children with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Biological psychiatry*, 61(3), 337-343.
- Fujishiro, K., Weaver, J. L., Heaney, C. A., Hamrick, C. A., & Marras, W. S. (2005). The effect of ergonomic interventions in healthcare facilities on musculoskeletal disorders. *American journal of industrial medicine, 48*(5), 338-347.
- Fulford, K. W. (2012). Broom with interchangeable accessories and carrying case therefor: Google Patents.
- Genaidy, A., Al-Shedi, A., & Shell, R. (1993). Ergonomic risk assessment: preliminary guidelines for analysis of repetition, force and posture. *Journal of human ergology, 22*(1), 45-55.
- Ghasemkhani, M., Mahmudi, E., & Jabbari, H. (2008). Musculoskeletal symptoms in workers. *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics, 14*(4), 455-462.
- Glanz, K., & Schwartz, M. D. (2008). Stress, coping, and health behavior. *Health behavior and health education: theory, research, and practice. 4th edition. San Francisco (CA): John Wiley and Sons, Inc*, 211-236.
- Grazebrook, K., & Garland, A. (2005). What are Cognitive and/or Behavioural Psychotherapies? Paper prepared for a UKCP/BACP mapping psychotherapy

exercise British Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapies (BABCP).

- Greig, T. C., Zito, W., Wexler, B. E., Fiszdon, J., & Bell, M. D. (2007). Improved cognitive function in schizophrenia after one year of cognitive training and vocational services. *Schizophrenia research*, *96*(1), 156-161.
- GripWorks. (2011). The leader in hand grips innovation & design. Gripworks production facility located in St. Louis, Missouri., [Online]. Available from <u>http://www.gripworks.com/grip-sleeve-products.htm</u>
- Hardy, H., & Fontillas, J. (2003). Waste receptacle: Google Patents.
- Harutunian, K., Gargallo Albiol, J., Figueiredo, R., & Gay Escoda, C. (2011). Ergonomics and musculoskeletal pain among postgraduate students and faculty members of the School of Dentistry of the University of Barcelona (Spain). A crosssectional study. *Medicina Oral, Patología Oral y Cirugia Bucal, 2011, vol. 16, num. 3, p. 425-429.*
- Hatch, S. L., Jones, P. B., Kuh, D., Hardy, R., Wadsworth, M. E., & Richards, M. (2007).Childhood cognitive ability and adult mental health in the British 1946 birth cohort. *Social science & medicine, 64*(11), 2285-2296.
- Hignett, S., & McAtamney, L. (2000). Rapid entire body assessment (REBA). *Applied Ergonomics*, *31*(2), 201-205.
- Hinrichs, T., Bucchi, C., Brach, M., Wilm, S., Endres, H. G., Burghaus, I., . . . Platen, P. (2009). Feasibility of a multidimensional home-based exercise programme for the elderly with structured support given by the general practitioner's surgery: Study protocol of a single arm trial preparing an RCT [ISRCTN58562962]. *BMC geriatrics, 9*(1), 37.
- Hollon, S. D., Stewart, M. O., & Strunk, D. (2006). Enduring effects for cognitive behavior therapy in the treatment of depression and anxiety. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.*, *57*, 285-315.
- Hou, J.-Y., & Shiao, J. S.-C. (2006). Risk factors for musculoskeletal discomfort in nurses. *Journal of Nursing Research*, *14*(3), 228-236.

- International Labor Organization. (2007). The Baseline Survey of the Occupational Safety and health Conditions of Solid Waste Primary Collectors and Street Sweepers in Addis Ababa. March, .
- Jacofsky M.D., Melanie T. Santos, Sony Khemlani-Patel, & Fugen Neziroglu. (2013). The Bio Behavioral Institute, edited by C.E. Zupanick, Psy.D. and Mark Dombeck, Ph.D. Updated: Aug 9th 201.
- Janik, H., Munzberger, E., & Schultz, K. (2002). Wissenschaftliche Beitrage-Methoden-REBA-Verfahren (Rapid Entire Body Assessment) auf einem Pocket-Computer. *Zentralblatt fur Arbeitsmedizin Arbeitsschutz und Ergonomie, 52*(4), 145.
- Järvholm, U., PALMERUD, G., HERBERTS, P., HÖGFORS, C., & KADEFORS, R. (1989). Intramuscular pressure and electromyography in the supraspinatus muscle at shoulder abduction. *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*, *245*, 102-109.
- Jepsen, J. R., & Thomsen, G. (2008). Prevention of upper limb symptoms and signs of nerve afflictions in computer operators: The effect of intervention by stretching. *J Occup Med Tox, 3*(1).
- Jones, C. J., & Rikli, R. E. (2002). Measuring functional. *The Journal on active aging, 1,* 24-30.
- Kaewboonchoo, O., Yamamoto, H., Miyai, N., Mirbod, S. M., Morioka, I., & Miyashita, K. (1998). The standardized Nordic questionnaire applied to workers exposed to hand-arm vibration. *Journal of Occupational Health, 40*(3), 218-222.
- Karsh, B.-T. (2006). Theories of work-related musculoskeletal disorders: Implications for ergonomic interventions. *Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science*, 7(1), 71-88.
- Karwowski, W., & Marras, W. S. (2003). Occupational ergonomics: design and management of work systems: CRC Press.
- Kay, A. D., & Blazevich, A. J. (2012). Effect of acute static stretch on maximal muscle performance: a systematic review. *Med Sci Sports Exerc, 44*(1), 154-164.
- Kazantzis, N., Pachana, N. A., & Secker, D. L. (2003). Cognitive behavioral therapy for older adults: Practical guidelines for the use of homework assignments. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice, 10*(4), 324-332.

- Keyserling. (2006). Occupational ergonomics: promoting safety and health thourgh work design. In: Levy BS, Wegman DH, Baron SL, & sokas RK, eds. Occupational and environmental health: recognizing and preventing disease and injury, 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams. Pp. 238-250.
- Keyserling, W. (2000). Occupational ergonomics: Promoting safety and health through work design. *Occupational health: Recognizing and preventing work-related disease and injury, 4,* 461-476.
- Kilbom, Å., Persson, J., & Jonsson, B. G. (1986). Disorders of the cervicobrachial region among female workers in the electronics industry. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics, 1*(1), 37-47.
- King, M. B., Whipple, R. H., Gruman, C. A., Judge, J. O., Schmidt, J. A., & Wolfson, L. I. (2002). The performance enhancement project: Improving physical performance in older persons. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 83(8), 1060-1069. [Online]. Available from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/apmr.2002.33653</u>
- Kokkonen, J., Nelson, A. G., & Cornwell, A. (1998). Acute muscle stretching inhibits maximal strength performance. *Research quarterly for exercise and sport, 69*(4), 411-415.
- Kolstrup, C. L. (2012). What factors attract and motivate dairy farm employees in their daily work? *Work: A Journal of Prevention, Assessment and Rehabilitation, 41*, 5311-5316.
- Korhan, O. (2012). Work-Related Musculoskeletal Discomfort in the Shoulder due to Computer Use- A Systems Approach, Dr. Isabel L. Nunes (Ed.). *Department of Industrial Engineering, Eastern Mediterranean University,*.
- Krajewski, J., Tarkowski, S., Cyprowski, M., Szarapinska-Kwaszewska, J., & Dudkiewicz, B. (2002). Occupational exposure to organic dust associated with municipal waste collection and management. *International journal of occupational medicine and environmental health, 15*(3), 289-301.
- Kubo, K., Kanehisa, H., & Fukunaga, T. (2002). Effects of resistance and stretching training programmes on the viscoelastic properties of human tendon

structures in vivo. *The Journal of Physiology, 538*(1), 219-226. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2001.012703

- Kuorinka, I., Jonsson, B., Kilbom, A., Vinterberg, H., Biering-Sørensen, F., Andersson, G.,
 & Jørgensen, K. (1987). Standardised Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. *Applied Ergonomics*, *18*(3), 233-237.
- Lavender, S. A., Conrad, K. M., Reichelt, P. A., Kohok, A. K., & Gacki-Smith, J. (2007). Designing ergonomic interventions for EMS workers—part II: lateral transfers. *Applied Ergonomics, 38*(2), 227-236.
- Leah, C. (2011). Exercises to reduce musculoskeletal discomfort for people doing a range of static and repetitive work. *Norwich, England: HSE Books*.
- Lee, H.-K., Myong, J.-P., Jeong, E.-H., Jeong, H.-S., & Koo, J.-W. (2007). Ergonomic workload evaluation and musculo-skeletal symptomatic features of street cleaners. *Journal of the Ergonomics Society of Korea, 26*(4), 147-152.
- Linton, S. J., Boersma, K., Jansson, M., Svärd, L., & Botvalde, M. (2005). The effects of cognitive-behavioral and physical therapy preventive interventions on pain-related sick leave: a randomized controlled trial. *The Clinical journal of pain, 21*(2), 109-119.
- Llndegård, A., Wahlström, J., Hagberg, M., Hansson, G.-Å., Jonsson, P., & Tornqvist, E. W. (2003). The impact of working technique on physical loads—an exposure profile among newspaper editors. *Ergonomics, 46*(6), 598-615.
- Losakul, P., Chanprasit, C., & Kaewthummanukul, T. (2007). Health Status and Health Promoting Behaviors among Street Sweepers, Songkhla Province. *Journal of Health Science, 16*(3), 400-408.
- Magnusson, P., & Renström, P. (2006). The European College of Sports Sciences Position statement: The role of stretching exercises in sports. *European Journal of Sport Science, 6*(2), 87-91.
- Mahmud, N., Kenny, D. T., Zein, R. M., & Hassan, S. N. (2011). Ergonomic training reduces musculoskeletal disorders among office workers: results from the 6month follow-up. *The Malaysian journal of medical sciences: MJMS, 18*(2), 16.

- Marras, W. S., & Karwowski, W. (2006). Fundamentals and assessment tools for occupational ergonomics: CRC Press.
- Mason, L., Moore, R. A., Derry, S., Edwards, J. E., & McQuay, H. J. (2004). *Systematic review of topical capsaicin for the treatment of chronic pain* (Vol. 328).
- Matlin, M. W. (2005). Cognition (6th ed.. Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley. [510 pages]- OR more recent edition.
- McAtamney, L., & Hignett, S. (2005). Rapid entire body assessment. Human.
- McClellan, R. O. (2000). Ambient airborne Particulate matter. Toxicology and standards. *Toxicology of the lung*, 289-341.
- Mehrdad, R., Majlessi-Nasr, M., Aminian, O., & Malekahmadi, S. S. F. (2008). Musculoskeletal disorders among municipal solid waste workers. *Acta Medica Iranica, 46*(3), 233-238.
- Mekhora, K., Liston, C., Nanthavanij, S., & Cole, J. H. (2000). The effect of ergonomic intervention on discomfort in computer users with tension neck syndrome. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics, 26*(3), 367-379.
- Meksawi, S., Tangtrakulwanich, B., & Chongsuvivatwong, V. (2012). Musculoskeletal problems and ergonomic risk assessment in rubber tappers: A communitybased study in southern Thailand. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics, 42*(1), 129-135.
- Methatip, A., & Yuktanandana, P. (2011). Effects of short break neck stretching on neck pain and surface EMG median frequency changes in office workers. *Bulletin of Chiang Mai Associated Medical Sciences, 44*(3), 177.
- Ministry of Urban Development Government of India. (2000). Solid Waste Management: chapter 11 street cleansing. A Manual on municipal solid waste management" between February, 1998 and January,2000,p.200-218.
- Miszko, T. A., Cress, M. E., Slade, J. M., Covey, C. J., Agrawal, S. K., & Doerr, C. E. (2003). Effect of strength and power training on physical function in communitydwelling older adults. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 58*(2), M171-M175.

Moussavi-Najarkola, S. A., & Mirzaei, R. (2012). Assessment of Musculoskeletal Loads of Electric Factory Workers by Rapid Entire Body Assessment. *Health Scope, 1*(2), 71-79. doi: 10.5812/jhs.6654

Nexgen Ergonomics. (2010). [Online]. Available from

www.nexgenergo.com/ergocenter/trends/trends2.html

- NIOSH. (2007). Ergonomic Guidelines for Manual Material Handling was prepared for publication by the Cal/OSHA Consultation Service, Research and Education Unit, Division of Occupational Safety and Health, California Department of Industrial Relations. DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 2007-131.
- NIOSH. (2010). A systematic review of the effectiveness of training & education for the protection of workers. Institute for Work & Health; National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health.
- Nku, C., Peters, E., Eshiet, A., Oku, O., & Osim, E. (2006). Lung function, oxygen saturation and symptoms among street sweepers in Calabar, Nigeria. *Nigerian journal of physiological sciences, 20*(1), 79-84.
- Norman, D. A. (2004). *Emotional design: Why we love (or hate) everyday things*: Basic books.

Occupational Health and Safety. (2000). Code of Practice for Manual Handling approved under section 55 of the Occupational Health and Safety Act 1985.

- Occupational Health and Safety Council of Ontario (OHSCO). (2007). Part 1:MSD Prevention Guideline for Ontario.
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). (2000). Ergonomics: The Study of Work OSHA Regional Office, visit the Ergonomics Page on OSHA's website at from <u>www.osha.gov</u>, or call 1 (800) 321-OSHA
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). (2008). Guidelines for Shipyards: Prevention of Musculoskeletal Injuries in Poultry Processing Occupational Safety and Health Administration United States Department of Labor, OSHA 3213.

- Occupational Safety Health Administration. (2004). Guidelines for poultry processing: ergonomics for the prevention of musculoskeletal disorders. *Arlington Heights: OSHA*.
- Odunaiya, N., Hamzat, T., & Ajayi, O. (2005). Full Length Research Article-The Effects of Static Stretch Duration on the Flexibility of Hamstring Muscles.
- OHCOW. (2012). Ergonomics and dental work by Occupational Health Clinics for Ontario Workers (OHCOW, 2012). Page 1-29 [Online]. Available from <u>http://ohcow.on.ca/resources/handbooks/ergonomics_dental/Ergonomics_An</u> <u>d_Dental_Work.pdf</u>.
- Otong, D. A. (1995). Psychiatric nursing: Biological and behavioral concepts. *Philadelphia: Saunders Co*, 192.
- Panti, S. (2007). Assessment the performance on elderly. *Manual report activities, Chiang Mai University.*
- Park, J. (2009). Ergonomics For Dental Hygienists. [Online]. Available from <u>www.prospinerehab.com</u>.
- Pintakham, K., & Siriwong, W. (2015). *Safe work practices for street sweepers: Booklet* Environmental and Occupational Health. College of Public Health Sciences. Chulalongkorn University
- Pintakham, K., Taneepanichskul, S., & Siriwong, W. (2014). Work related musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers in Chiang Rai municipality. Paper presented at the The 6th International Conference on Public Health among the Greater Mekong Sub-Regional Countries: Health Service Development for a Borderless Community: Human Resource Development for a District Health System., Khon Kaen, Thailand.
- Plews-Ogan, M., Owens, J. E., Goodman, M., Wolfe, P., & Schorling, J. (2005). BRIEF REPORT: A Pilot Study Evaluating Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction and Massage for the Management of Chronic Pain. *Journal of general internal medicine, 20*(12), 1136-1138.

- Podniece, Z., Heuvel, S., & Blatter, B. (2008). *Work-related musculoskeletal disorders:* prevention report: European Agency for Safety and Health at Work.
- Polnok, S. (2009). Assessment of musculoskeletal. Documentation instruction the basic concepts and principles of nursing courses 5012022, Faculty of Nursing: Naresuan University.
- Prendes, A. G., & & Resko, S. M. (2012). Cognitive-Behavioral Theory. [Online]. Available from <u>http://www.sagepub.com/upm-data/40689_2.pdf</u>
- Public Services Health & Safety Association. (2010). Musculoskeletal disorders: A Health & Safety Ontario Partner,Individual Fast Facts can be copied freely provided appropriate credit is given to PSHSA. from <u>www.pshsa.ca</u>
- Rahnama, N., Bambaeichi, E., & Ryasati, F. (2010). The Effect of Eight Weeks Corrective Exercise with Ergonomic Intervention on Musculoskeletal Disorders among Loabiran Industry Workers. *Journal of Isfahan Medical School, 28*(108).
- Reddy, P. (2013). 2nd International Conference and Exhibition on. *Occupational Health, 2013*.
- Reese, C. D., & Eidson, J. V. (2006). Handbook of OSHA construction safety and health: CRC Press.
- Robertson, M., Amick, B. C., DeRango, K., Rooney, T., Bazzani, L., Harrist, R., & Moore,
 A. (2009). The effects of an office ergonomics training and chair intervention
 on worker knowledge, behavior and musculoskeletal risk. *Applied Ergonomics,*40(1), 124-135.
- Robertson, M. M., & O'Neill, M. J. (2003). Reducing musculoskeletal discomfort: effects of an office ergonomics workplace and training intervention. *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics, 9*(4), 491-502.
- Ross, B. H. (2011). The Psychology of Learning and Motivation: Advances in Research and Theory (Vol. 54): Academic Press.
- Rovinelli, R. J., & Hambleton, R. K. (1976). On the Use of Content Specialists in the Assessment of Criterion-Referenced Test Item Validity.
- Rubini, E. C., Costa, A. L., & Gomes, P. S. (2007). The effects of stretching on strength performance. *Sports medicine*, *37*(3), 213-224.

- Ruwaard, J., Lange, A., Bouwman, M., Broeksteeg, J., & Schrieken, B. (2007). E-Mailed standardized cognitive behavioural treatment of work-related stress: A randomized controlled trial. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy, 36*(3), 179-192.
- Salimena, A. M. d. O., Coelho, A. d. C. P., Melo, M. C. S. C. d., Greco, R. M., & Almeida,M. I. G. d. (2012). The knowledge and attitudes of female street sweepersregarding gynecological care. *Texto & Contexto-Enfermagem, 21*(1), 43-51.
- Sanders, M. J., & Turcotte, C. A. (1997). Ergonomic strategies for dental professionals. Work: A Journal of Prevention, Assessment and Rehabilitation, 8(1), 55-72.
- Schacter, D. L., Gilbert, D. T., & Wegner, D. M. (2010). Psychology. (2nd ed., p. 600). New York: Worth Pub.
- Schilling, J. (2005). Street Sweeping–Report No. 1, State of the Practice. *Prepared for* Ramsey-Washington Metro Watershed District [Online]. Available from (<u>http://www</u>. rwmwd. org). North St. Paul, Minnesota.
- Seera, R. S. (2005). Development of a Street Sweeper Fleet Management System: University of Nevada, Las Vegas.
- Silverstein, B., & Clark, R. (2004). Interventions to reduce work-related musculoskeletal disorders. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology, 14*(1), 135-152. [Online]. Available from

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2003.09.023

- Silverstein B. & Evanoff B. (2006). Musculoskeletal disorders. In Levy BS, Wegman DH, Baron SL& Sokas RK., eds. Occupational and environmental health: Recognizing and preventing disease and injury. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams& Wilkins. Pp.488-516.
- Sisko, P. K., Videmsek, M., & Karpljuk, D. (2011). The effect of a corporate chair massage program on musculoskeletal discomfort and joint range of motion in office workers. *J Altern Complement Med,* 17(7), 617-622. doi: 10.1089/acm.2010.0400
- Social Security Office. (2011). Annual Statistical Supplement to the Social Security, Thailand.

- Spillman, B. C., & Long, S. K. (2009). Does high caregiver stress predict nursing home entry? *INQUIRY: The Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing, 46*(2), 140-161.
- Stambuli, P. (2012). Occupational respiratory health symptoms and associated factors among street sweepers in Ilala municipality. Muhimbili University of Health and Allied Sciences.
- Steinberg, U., Caffier, G., & Liebers, F. (2006). Assessment of manual material handling based on key indicators–German guidelines. Handbook of Standards in Ergonomics and Human Factors. Ed. by W. Karwowski. Lawrenz Erlbaum Associates. Mahwah, New Jersey, London, 319-338.
- Theerawanichtrakul, S., & Sithisarankul, P. (2014). Prevalence and related factors of musculoskeletal discomfort among road sweepers in Bangkok. *Thammasat Medical Journal*, *14*(1), 27-36.
- Torma-Krajewski, J., Steiner, L., Unger, R., & Wiehagen, W. (2011). Ergonomics and Risk Factor Awareness Training for Miners. *Retrieved, 23*, 2008-2111.
- Torres, A. R., Prince, M. J., Psych, M., Bebbington, P. E., Bhugra, D. K., Brugha, T. S., . . . Lewis, G. (2007). Treatment seeking by individuals with obsessive-compulsive disorder from the British Psychiatric Morbidity Survey of 2000. *Psychiatric Services, 58*(7), 977-982.
- Toulouse, G., St-Arnaud, L., Delisle, A., Duhalde, D., Lévesque, J., Marché-Paillé, A., . . . Salazar, E. P. (2012). Study of Interventions to Reduce Musculoskeletal Disorders and Psychological Health Problems in 911 Emergency Call Centres in the Municipal Public Security System.
- Townend, M. (2008). Clinical supervision in cognitive behavioural psychotherapy: development of a model for mental health nursing through grounded theory. *Journal of psychiatric and mental health nursing, 15*(4), 328-339.
- Tsuritani, I., Honda, R., Noborisaka, Y., Ishida, M., Ishizaki, M., & Yamada, Y. (2002). Impact of obesity on musculoskeletal pain and difficulty of daily movements in Japanese middle-aged women. *Maturitas, 42*(1), 23-30.

Tweedy, J. T. (2005). Healthcare hazard control and safety management: CRC Press.

- Ueno, S., Hisanaga, N., Jonai, H., Shibata, E., & Kamijima, M. (1999). Association between musculoskeletal pain in Japanese construction workers and job, age, alcohol consumption, and smoking. *Industrial health*, *37*(4), 449-456.
- Valachi, B., & Valachi, K. (2003). Mechanisms leading to musculoskeletal disorders in dentistry. *The Journal of the American Dental Association, 134*(10), 1344-1350.
- Walker, T., Wong, T., & Wootton, R. (1999). *Effectiveness of street sweeping for stormwater pollution control*: CRC for Catchment Hydrology.
- Warren, N. (2004). The Expanded Definition of Ergonomics. *In Sanders, M. Ergonomics* and the Management of Musculoskeletal DisordersSt. Louis, Butterworth/Heinemann. Chapter 8:151-159.
- Wilson, S. F., & Giddens, J. F. (2014). *Health assessment for nursing practice*: Elsevier Health Sciences.
- Window, J. J. (2006). The validity of using quick ergonomics assessment tools in the prediction of developing Workplace Musculoskeletal Disorders. Occupational Health & Safety Management, University of Adelaide Human. Factors & Ergonomics Society of Australia 42nd Annual Conference
- Yogesh, S. D., & Zodpey, S. P. (2007). Respiratory morbidity among street sweepers working at Hanumannagar Zone of Nagpur Municipal Corporation, Maharashtra. *Indian journal of public health, 52*(3), 147-149.



Appendix A – Interview forms

Questionnaire: Effectiveness of multidimensional ergonomic intervention (MEI) model to reduce occupational related musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers

Dear Participants

The researcher will be conducted this survey together with Chiangrai municipality to provide a program to reduce work-related musculoskeletal discomfort among street sweepers in Chiangrai municipality, Chiang Rai province, Thailand. The Chiangrai municipality providers know about this survey and support it. However, your participation in this study are voluntary and the information you give us will be confidential, which means your name will not be mentioned anywhere and information provided by you will be presented only in a summarized form.

Please select carefully the answer for each question and the possible responses. Choose and mark (\checkmark) the response option that best represents you opinion and knowledge, attitude, and practice. Please notify the interviewer if you any concern about of the questions or other problem.

Introduction of the questionnaire

The questionnaire is divided into 3 parts present as follows;

- Part I Socio-demographic characteristic and work factors
- Part II Musculoskeletal Discomfort Assessment (MSDA)
- Part III Awareness Safe Work Practice of Musculoskeletal Discomfort

Thank you for information

Part I: Socio-demographic characteristic and work factors

Guidance: Please select carefully the answer for each question and choose the
answer by marking (\checkmark) the response option that best represents.
1.1 Socio-demographic characteristic
1. Gender () 1. Male () 2. Female
2. Age Years
3. Education () 1. No education () 2. Primary school
() 3. Junior High School () 4. Senior High School
() 5. Vocational Certificate () 6. High Vocational Certificate
() 7. Bachelor degree
4. Marital Status () 1.Single () 2.Married
() 3. Widowed/ Divorced/Separated
5. How tall are you?
5. Now tall are you: Centimeter
6. How weight are you?Kilogram
7. History of illness () 1. No () 2. Yes (specify)
8. Do you take any medicine regularly?
() 1. No () 2.Yes (specify)
9. Do you take annual medical checkup?
() 1. No () 2.Yes (Abnormal symptoms)
10. How often do you exercise?
() 1. Never () 2. Work out at 1-2 times/week
() 3. Work out at 3-4 times/week () 4. Work out at \ge 5 times/week
11. Do you smoking? () 1. No () 2. Yes (specify) cigarettes a day

12. Do you drink alcohol? () 1. No () 2. Yes (specify)...... glasses a day

13. How often do you energy drinking? () 1. Never) 2. Drinking 1-2 times/week (() 3. Drinking 3-4 times/week () 4. Drinking \geq 5 times/week 14. How do you reduce musculoskeletal discomfort? (Answer more than one item) () 1.Let recover by themselves () 2. Bought drug release muscle on () 3. Use a topical treatment themselves () 4. Massage) 5. Hot packs and clod packs ((() 6. Stop working) 7. See the doctor in clinic () 8. See the doctor in hospital has the right to treatment) 9.0thers (1.2 work factors 15. How long have you worked here? years 16. How many hours a day do you work?hours/day 17. Period of time for working 1. In the morning...... 2. In the afternoon..... 18. How many minutes for sweeping as a continuous movement before take a break?minutes/times 19. Average walking distanceKilometers/ day 20. Do you change the broom? () 2. Yes (specify).....(month or years) () 1. No

21. Do you have equipment without boom and dust pan to use working on field?

() 1. No

() 2. Yes (specify).....

Use measurement tool

- 22 Length of broom..... Centimeter
- 23. Proportion of height between broom and street sweepers Centimeter
- 24. Weight of broom..... Kilograms
- 25. Weight of broom and dustpan Kilograms



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Part II: Musculoskeletal Discomfort Assessment (MSDA)

Guidance: The following questions ask how you feel about your body discomfort.

1. Please select carefully the answer for each question and choose the answer by marking (\checkmark) the response option that best represents.



	Have	e you had tro	uble at ar	ny time during	Ha	ve you had	trouble at any time
Body Region	the last months					during th	e last 7 days
Neck		No		Yes		No	Yes
Shoulders							
Right		No		Yes		No	Yes
Left		No		Yes		No	Yes
Upper Back		No		Yes		No	Yes
Elbows			SALAN	A SERVICE)		
Right		No		Yes		No	Yes
Left		No		Yes		No	Yes
Wrists/Hands		จุหาลง	กรณ์ม	หาวิทยาลั	ខ		
Right		No	NCDR	Yes		No	Yes
Left		No		Yes		No	Yes
Lower back		No		Yes		No	Yes
Hip/Thight							
Right		No		Yes		No	Yes
Left		No		Yes		No	Yes
Knees							
Right		No		Yes		No	Yes
Left		No		Yes		No	Yes
Ankles/Feet							
Right		No		Yes		No	Yes
Left		No		Yes		No	Yes

Part III: Awareness safe work practice of musculoskeletal discomfort (ASWP-MSD)

Guidance: Please answer by marking (\checkmark) the response option that best represents your opinion as follows;

		disagree	slightly	agree	strongly
No	Statement	1	agree	3	agree
			2		4
1	The broom handle should be between your chin				
	and eye level				
2	The appropriate the weights of the bamboo				
	handle approximately 900 gm-1 kg				
3	The broom handle should be no wider than chin				
4	The broom handle should be have a diameter				
	that allows for a comfortable grip or 3-4 cm				
	diameter				
5	Add a foam sleeve over the broom handle for a	5			
	better and more comfortable grip, it is can to				
	improve musculoskeletal discomfort				
6	Dustpan should be durable and lightweight				
7	The cause of musculoskeletal discomfort are	N.			
	repetitive movement by sweeping ,bending for				
	removing garbage and walking area to be	าลัย			
	responsible	ERSITY			
8	Sweeping may involve awkward positions of wrists,				
	and prolonged contact pressure on hands.				
9	The back and neck discomfort are often in an				
	awkward forward bent posture				
10	Safe work practice to reduce musculoskeletal				
	discomfort				
11	Maintain a neutral spine, body and shoulder				
	position during working				
12	Do not the hands movement more than shoulders				
	and keep your between shoulders for sweeping				
13	Keep elbows and arms close to body stabilize the				
	shoulder can to minimize musculoskeletal				
	discomfort				

		disagree	slightly	agree	strongly
No	Statement	1	agree	3	agre e
			2		4
14	Alternate right and left hands at the top of the				
	broom handle can to reduce musculoskeletal				
	discomfort				
15	Do not bend your back, If needed, bend your				
	knees and kneel down to get closer to the work				
16	Stretching exercises to reduce musculoskeletal				
	discomfort				
17	Do not stretching exercise if you muscle pain or				
	swelling				
18	Stretching exercises do not stretch to the point of	x Ø			
	pain				
19	Do stretching exercises about 20 minute and at				
	least 2-3 times a week				
20	Stretching exercises before working can to prevent				
	musculoskeletal discomfort	2			

<u>Note</u>

หาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

GRULALUNGKORN ÜNIVERSITY

Task				Ana	alyst	
Group A			Group B			
Posture/Range	Score	Total	Posture/Range	Score	Total: Le	ft and Right
Trunk			Upper Arms (Sh	oulders)	L	R
Upright	1		Flexion: 0-20° Extension: 0-20°	1	Arm Abdue	ted /
Flexion: 0-20° Extension: 0-20°	2	If back is twisted or	Flexion: 20-45° Extension: >20°	2	Rotated: +1	
Flexion: 20-60° Extension: >20°	3	tilted to side: +1	Flexion: 45-90°	3	Shoulder Ra	aised: +1
Flexion: >60°	4		Flexion: >90°	4	Arm Suppo	rted: -1
Neck			Lower Arms (Ell	bows)	L	R
Flexion: 0-20°	1	If neck is twisted or	Flexion: 60-100°	1		
Flexion: >20° Extension: >20°	2	tilted to side: +1	Flexion: <60° Flexion: >100°	2	No Adjustn	ients
Legs			Wrists	Wrists		R
Bilateral Wt Bearing; Walk; Sit	1	Knee(s) Flexion 30-	Flexion: 0-15° Extension: 0-15°	1		
Unilateral Wt Bearing; Unstable	2	60°: +1 Knee(s) Flexion >60°: +2	Flexion: >15° Extension: >15°	2	Wrist Devia Twisted: +	tted / I
Score from T	able A		Score from 7	Table B	L	R
Load / Force			Coupling		L	R
< 5 kg < 11 lb	0		Good	0		
5 - 10 kg 11 - 22 lb	1	Rapid Ruildup: +1	Fair	- 1	No Adjustr	ents
> 10 kg > 22 lb	2	Bundup. +1	Poor	2		
S [Table A + Load/Forc	core A e Score]		Unacceptable	3	Left	Right
Activity			[Table B + Couplin	Score B	L	R
One or more body parts static for longer than 1 m	are ninute	+1	Score C (from	Table C)	L	R
Repeat small range moti- more than 4 per minute	ons,	+1	Activit	y Score	L	R
Rapid large changes in posture or unstable base		+1	REBA Score [Score C + Activity Score]		L	R

Appendix B – Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA)

Table A	Г			Trunk		
		1	2	3	4	5
Neck = 1	Legs					
	1	1	2	2	3	4
	2	2	3	4	5	6
	3	3	4	5	6	7
	4	4	5	6	7	8
Neck = 2	Legs					
	1	1	3	4	5	6
	2	2	4	5	6	7
	3	3	5	6	7	8
	4	4	6	7	8	9
Neck = 3	Legs					
	1	3	4	5	6	7
	2	3	5	6	7	8
	3	5	6	7	8	9
	4	6	7	8	9	9

Table B				Uppe	r Arm	Convert 12	
	-	1	2	3	4	5	6
Lower	Wrist						
Arm = 1	1	1	1	3	4	6	7
	2	2	2	4	5	7	8
	3	2	3	5	5	8	8
Lower	Wrist						
Arm = 2	1	1	2	4	5	7	8
	2	2	3	5	6	8	9
	3	3	4	5	7	8	9

Table	сГ			v	/		Sco	re A					
No. of the second		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
Score	1	1	1	2	3	4	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
B	2	1	2	3	4	4	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
	3	1	2	3	4	4	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
	4	2	3	3	4	5	7	8	9	10	11	11	12
	5	3	4	4	5	6	8	9	10	10	11	12	12
	6	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	10	11	12	12
	7	4	5	6	7	8	9	9	10	11	11	12	12
	8	5	6	7	8	8	9	10	10	11	12	12	12
	9	6	6	7	8	9	10	10	10	11	12	12	12
	10	7	7	8	9	9	10	11	11	12	12	12	12
	11	7	7	8	9	9	10	11	11	12	12	12	12
	12	7	8	8	9	9	10	11	11	12	12	12	12

REBA Decision

REBA

REBA Score	Risk Level
1	Negligible
2 - 3	Low
4 - 7	Medium
8 - 10	High
11 - 15	Very High

Appendix C – Physical Exam Forms

Range of motion: To test a discomfort on movement

Guidance: The physical exam will be assessed muscles discomfort on movement by nurses present step by step as follows:

1. Neck



Scale	Flexion	Extension	Hyperextension	Lateral flexion
Discomfort				
No discomfort				

2. Hands, Shoulders and Scapulars



Scolo	Flexion		Exte	nsion	Hyperextension		
Scale	Right	Left	Right	SITLeft	Right	Left	
Discomfort							
No discomfort							



Scalo	Abdu	iction	Adduction		
Scale	Right	Left	Right	Left	
Discomfort					
No discomfort					



Scala	Flexion		Extension	
Scale	Right	Left	Right	Left
Discomfort				
No discomfort				



Scalo	Internal Rotation		External Rotation	
JLAIE	Right	Left	Right	Left
Discomfort		No. of Street,		
No discomfort	×.	X	}	



Scale	Circumduction		
Scale	Right	Left	
Discomfort			
No discomfort			

3. Wrists

Flexion 155 Extension Hyperextension

Scolo	Flexion		Extension		Hyperextension	
Scale	Right	Left	Right	Left	Right	Left
Discomfort						
No discomfort						



Radial Flexion // Ulna flexion

Scala	Radial Flexion		Ulnar Flexion	
Scale	Right	Left	Right	Left
Discomfort			2	
No discomfort				

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Chulalongkorn University

4. Fingers

Flexion



C

Hyperextension

Extension

Scale	Flexion		Extension		Hyperextension	
JCale	Right	Left	Right	Left	Right	Left
Discomfort						
No						
discomfort						



Scalo	Abduction		
JLale	Right	Left	
Discomfort			
No discomfort			

5. Hips

Flexion

Scalo	Flexion		Extension	
JCale	Right	Left	Right	Left
Discomfort	115			
No discomfort	///			



จุฬาลงกรณ	Circumduction		
SCALE	Right	SITLeft	
Discomfort			
No discomfort			

6. Knees



Scolo	Flexion		Extension	
JCale	Right	Left	Right	Left
Discomfort				
No discomfort				



Scolo	Dorsal Flexion		Plantar Flexion		
Scale	Right	Left	Right	Left	
Discomfort					
No discomfort					
E.J					



Scala	Inversion		Eversion	
JCale	Right	Left	Right	Left
Discomfort				
No discomfort	All All			



Scala	Flex	ion	Exter	nsion
SCALE	Right	Left	Right	Left
Discomfort				
No discomfort				

Test of muscle strength

Guidance: The physical exam will be assessed muscles strength by nurses present step by step as follows:

Activity	Resistance	No Resistance
1. Test trapezium muscle		
C. R		
2. Test shoulders muscle(Abduction)		
3.Test shoulders muscle(Adduction)		
4. Test triceps muscle	ยาลัย	
Rorn Un	VERSITY	
5.Testbiceps muscle		
Real Contraction		
6. Test brachioradialis muscle		
- A A		

Activity	Resistance	No Resistance
7. Test supinationmuscle		
S-		
8. Test pronation muscle		
9. Test wrist muscle		
TRA		
10. Test fingers muscle		
La tel son		
11.Test hand grip of fingers		
The second		
12. Test hips muscle	แววัย	
REAL REAL	VERSITY	
13. Test knees muscle		
A Called		
14. Test feet muscle		
State State		

Appendix D – Physical Performance form

	Arr	n cur	l test (du	mbbell): Up	oper bod	y strengt	:h	
Name	Gender	Age	Baseline	After	Follow	Follow	Follow	Follow
				intervention	up	up	up	up
					1 st	2 nd	3 th	4 th
			6	11/20				
			- Internet					
			//		0			
			2/18		a l			
			J.	V (Iseee Gaara				
			J.					
			8					
			2		167			
			1700-100	ດໂມຍດວີທ				
			80 IGINII	- 515 66 91 1 6 91 6	1612			
		GH	ULALONG	KORN UNIV	ERSITY			

<u>Note</u>

Appendix D

Physical Performance form

30-Second chair stand: Lower body Strength														
Name	Gender	Age	Baseline	After intervention	Follow up 1 st	Follow up 2 nd	Follow up 3 th	Follow up 4 th						
				1111										
		CH	W TANT	i korn Uni	เสีย IERSITY									

<u>Note</u>

• •	•••	• •	••	••	 	• •	•••	•	•••	• •	 	 • •	 • •	 ••	 •	• •	 •		 • •	•••	• •	• •	 •	••	 • •	 •	•••	•••	• •	• •	 	• •		 	• •	 • •	 	 	•	
• •	••	• •	••		 	•••		•	•••	••	 	 •	 • •	 	 •	• •	 •	••	 • •		• •	• •	 •	••	 ••	 •	•••		• •		 	•••	•••	 	• •	 ••	 	 	•	

Appendix E – Validity and Reliability

สรุปผลกาคตตรวจสอบความเที่ยงตรง)Validityของผู้ทรงคุณวุฒิ (

รายนามกรรมการผู้เชิ่งยวชาญใตการตรวจสอบความเที่ยวตรงของเครื่องมือในการศึกษาวิจัย .1ดร พิมาน ธีระรัตนสุนทร.

อาจารย์ประจำหลักสูตรอาชีวอนามัยและความปลอดภัย สำนักวิชาสหเวชศาสตร์และ สาธารณสุขศาสตร์

มหาวิทยาลัยวลัยลักษณ์

.2รศ ดีรพัฒน์ บุญจนาวิโรจน์ .คร .

อาจารย์ประจำภาควิชาพลศึกษา คณะครุศาสตร์ มหาวิทยาลัยราชภัฏเชียงราย

.3คร วิศรุต บุตรากาศ.

หัวหน้าสาขาวิชากายภาพบำบัด สำนักวิชาวิทยาศาสตร์สุขภาพ มหาวิทยาลัยแม่ฟ้าหลวง ผลการตรวจสอบความเที่ยงตรง)Validityของแบบสอบถาม (ดังนี้

.1แบบประเมินอาการไม่สุขสบายของกล้ามเนื้อและกระดูก

.2แบบประเมินความตระหนักในการป้องกันอาการไม่สุขสบายของกล้ามเนื้อและกระดูกจากการ ทำงาน

ແບບสอบถาม	ค่า IOC
ตำแหน่งที่มีอาการไม่สุขสบายของกล้ามเนื้อและกระดูก	1.00
ความตระหนักในการป้องกันอาการไม่สุขสบายของกล้ามเนื้อและกระดูกจาก	0.81
การทำงาน	

สรุปผลการแสดงความคิดเห็นของกรรมการผู้เชี่ยวชาญ

.1สอบถามถึงตำแหน่งที่มีอาการไม่สุขสบายของกล้ามเนื้อและกระดูก

ง ส่ ข้อที	ผู้เชี่ย	เวชาญูค	นที่ 1	ผู้เชี่ย	วชาญค	นที่ 2	ผู้เชี่ย	วชาญค	นที่ 3	ຽວນ	ค่า IOC	แปล
0011	1-	0	+1	1-	0	+1	1-	0	+1	คะแนน		ผล
1			1			1			1	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
2			~			~			~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
3			>			~	1		~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
4			1			1	2 0		~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
5			1			~	N	A	~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
6			1	7		~		N II I	~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
7			~			~)]]	~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
8			~		16	~	4	ja .	~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
9			~			~	N N	2	~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้

9 จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

=<u>9</u> = 1.00 <u>แปลผล</u> ใช้ใค้

9
.2แบบประเมินความตระหนักในการป้องกันอาการไม่สุขสบายของกล้ามเนื้อและกระดูกจากการ ทำงาน

1.1อุปกรณ์ที่เหมาะสมในการทำงาน

1.2ท่าทางที่เหมาะสมและปลอดภัยในการทำงาน

การยืดเหยียดกล้ามเนื้อเพื่อลดอาการ ไม่สุขสบายของกล้ามเนื่อและกระดูก 1.3

ข้อมี	ผู้เชี่ยวชาญคนที่ 1			ผู้เชี่ยวชาญคนที่ 2			ผู้เชี่ยวชาญคนที่ 3			รวม	ค่า IOC	แปลผล
งยท	1-	0	+1	1-	0	+1	1-	0	+1	คะแนน		
1			~			~			~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
2			~			~			~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
3			~			~			~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
4		~			~	ZIII/	12		~	1	0.33	ปรับปรุง
5			~	4		~		A B	~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
6			~	2		~		0	~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
7		~				~		~		1	0.33	ปรับปรุง
8		~			~	Ref	8		~	1	0.33	ปรับปรุง
9			~		113	~			~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
10		~			1 de	~	N QEE		~	2	0.66	ใช้ได้
11			~	Q	- Sal	~	and the second	6	~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
12			~	SA SA		~		A.	~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
13			~	สารา	ลงกร	~	าวิท	~		2	0.66	ใช้ได้
14			~			~		EDEI	~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
15			~	HULM	~	Konn	U.I.I.	LITON	~	2	0.66	ใช้ได้
16			~			~			~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
17			~			~		~		2	0.66	ใช้ได้
18			~			~	1		~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
19			~			~			~	3	1.00	ใช้ได้
20			~		~				~	2	0.66	ใช้ได้

 $IOC = \underline{1.00 + 1.00 + 1.00 + 0.33 + 1.00 + 1.00 + 0.33 + 0.33 + 1.00 + 0.66 + 1.00 + 1.00 + 0.66 + 0.00 + 0.66 + 0.00 +$

20

= <u>16.29</u> = 0.81 <u>แปลผล</u> ใช้ได้ 20 Appendix F Booklet for participants



คู่มือ

ดวามปลอดภัยในการทำงานสำหรับพนักงานกวาด ถนน

<

- สันก่า
- 1. ขใงมิไญ้งขใ ปีขอไม้ไ
- วิทธาลีอวิทธาล์เล็ดรลับธารณ์สุขางที่ปละตรณ์บทปวิทธาล้อ 2. ตล์.ตร. วัฒลิทธิ์ ดีรีวงส์
- วิทธาสัตวิทธาลำลัดรล้างารณลุ่ท จุฬาละกรณ์บบาวิทธาสัต 2. บารบบูลีบะพรบ
 - เข้าหน้มงในสำอารถี่สัมสุขสน มีองส์โอโรถีสัมและสิ้งแวดสีอบ เบลียโลนตรเลื่องราย

ที่ปรึกษา

- มีนท. รุ่งสัมธิ์ รูปนี้ทปนิสลาล ผสบบริวัทราสัตวิทราสาสตรสารประสสุขางที่ไละตะสบบปวิทราสัต
- 1. สมัติร.เหมมันิ1 สไมะรับ
- นโลมิเมล์มนครั้นสรเสียงรไล
- 4 ขางสำวรริญา เมืองขามสำ ญัติการอย่างยองสารปรณสุทเละสิ่งแวดสอบ เบย์ขาลิขตรเพื่อเราะ



โดยที่ไป หน้อมของและของน้ำเป็นผู้ห้อมของผู้สามหรัฐและหมไม่มุงสาย องแล้มหนึ่งและอะดูล เนื่อเขางและเราและเรริงรู้สามหนึ่งและสามของหน้อ อ่งสวมข้องแล้วโหลเรกับหน่วงน้ำอเรลเรกับหน้องบ้านเปลี่ไม่แนะเจน งหน้าใช้เรือดอบนไม่มุงสายสายออสใหน้ึงและรดูล แล้วทับไปผู้ต่ออรายชระจะ อเวล์อยุภาพรอดหลา

สำนั้นว่าจังหนึ่งสามาร์ สำหรับหนึ่งหน่างสามาร์ สามาร์ เป็นใหม่ในรถิงกระบบสี่มังให้มือเจ้ญหา มากระเรื่องสำหรับปลายไม่สุขสบาร รอบสภัณชี้อเธอระดูมิได้อย่ายนารสมเองชี่ออสภัย

ผู้สำนัก แล้วเป็นออกเพิ่งกัญสัตรมันที่ จะเป็นประโยนปนการ ทำเวน ของหนึ่งเหนองกลอนน ที่จะมีปมีมีสุดภายกระบบในสำความ ปลอด สังปนการ ทำเหนะความไม่สุขมายของกลภัณนใจและกระกูก เนื่องกละสำคังการสีมุกภาพ นี้มีและเลือประสิทส์กาปนการทำเหนด์ไป

> aigton Tuaiái Swáná Asolá vy diensv











การฮึดเหซีฮดกล้าบเนื้อหล้า	การฮึดเหซีฮดกล้ามเนื้อข้อมือและมือ
* 1)1 ² 1 fara-ñe. (16) f):	* 1)1 1 111958-2211 1)225-2211 1)225178-121
* 111 2 voövadiroinadi-usiali	* มไม้ 2 องไม้จะออมไ มไอ้อิชาใจ-รวม
א מומ 3 טֿטּטּגאווע פּאַראָטע איז גערע פּאַראָן איז גערע פּאַראָע פּאַראָע פּאַראָע פּאַראָע פּאַראָע פּאַראָע גערע גערע גערע גערע גערע גערע גערע גער	* 115 3 2015-4126- ftind
ມາສາຊ ພໍຂ 10ງັນສ໌ ທັນນ 5 ສ ົ້ນ 14	ມນຫມ່ມ ທ່ະ 10 ງັນນັ ນຳນາ 5 ສະນິ
การซึดเทซียดกล้ามเนื้อขา น่อง และเท้า	การฮืดเพฮียดกล้ามเนื้อที่ชา น่อง และเท้า
* ז'וז יו שווש און	* ນຳນຶ່ 5 ຄຸ້ນເນີຍະ ແຕ້ເຄີນ
* ນຳສິ່ 2 ຂອກາງເປັນໄປຄ້ານແລ້ງແລ້ວ ຄົນປລາຍແກ້ນເຕັນແລ້ນເລີວແອ້ວຄຳວ ນຳລະລົນຄຳອະກວງ	* n11 ² 6 21-02111 ² 7-1251211
י ווֹוֹז 3 פֿעתישטאונע פּאַגעער אין	* 1)1 ⁷ 21185110005-115516)1
3malų mie 107mž mm 5 kš 16	bunda mit 107mi nun 5 85 17

ເວກສາຮອ້າງອົງ

สมรมองได้รอบให้ขึ้นสิงผิวใบหลือผลีขึ้นสืบ เอลิสารณิโรสิอนสูตรีสา 54.000 ณิโรยมิไส้ตร้นหรับ ที่ 23 นุษส์เพี้ยโ

http://www.usfoty-utou.com/uf20/?mmc=lonowledge&file=Readlonowledge&id=21 u58.co547.ws. 2543.Also818asi.Asynum v:818541582828988810815 Afte-582828818asi.pul5usl8802528818asi.

2 ຢີເບັ້ນສ່ວງອຸປລິດສິລັນໃນລີເວນນີ້ວ່ານ ລ້ວຍລີວັດີສີລີເວນເລືອດຜູ້ທີ່ສ່ວດແຮ່ວວງນ ສິລະນະວ່ານຮ່ວງປະ. 2551. ນະວ່ານຳລີເວບ້ອ້ານປ່ອງລີສີມທສິເວນນີ້ວ່ານທີ່ຜູ້ນີ້ຜູ້ນີ້ທີ່ ອ້ອງລີເວບ້ອຍເຫັດອຸລສີມາເນື້ອງນີ້ດ້ວງເລື່ອງວ່ານີ້ວ່ານີ້. ສີເວນນີ້ວ່ານະເຮືອງລີເຫ ລັດໄປເພື່ອ ສີໃຫຍ່ເອົາລີລີ.

California Department of Indumial Relations, (2005) Working Safer and Easier: for Junitors, Custodians, and Housekeepers. Division of Occupational Safety and Health, California Department of Industrial Relations Code Section 11 096. http://www.dr.ca.gov/dode/pubeeder.asp







VITA

	Name	Mrs. Kanjanar Pintakham						
	Date of birth	10th December 1976						
	Education	1. Diploma in Nursing Science equivalent to						
		Bachelor of Science in Nursing,						
		Boromarajonani College of Nursing Phayao,						
		Praboromarajchanok Institute Ministry of Public Health.						
		2. Bachelor of Nursing Science, Chiang Mai University.						
		3. Master of Science in Environmental Public Health,						
		Chiang Rai Rajabhat University, Thailand						
	Certification	Infection Control Nurses (ICN)						
		Health Impact Assessment (HIA)						
		Occupational Health Nurses						
	Position and a	affiliation Lecturer, School of Health Science,						
		HULALONGK Chaing Rai Rajabhat University, Thailand						
	E-mail addres	s Number.vespa@hotmail.com						